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1 Proceedings began at 9:31 a.m.

2   VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Good morning, today is

3 Thursday, September 7, 2023.  This is the Florida

4 Gaming Control Commission's meeting today.  And if

5 you would like please rise and join us for the

6 Pledge of Allegiance, which will be given by

7 Commissioner Drago.

8  (Pledge of Allegiance)

9   VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you,

10 Commissioner Drago.  We are going to move into the

11 approval of meeting minutes for two months that are

12 1.1 and 1.2, June 8, 2023, and July 11, 2023.

13  Could I please get a motion to approve both

14 items.

15  COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  I make a motion.

16  VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Is there a second?

17  COMMISSIONER REPP:  I'll second.

18  VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  All those in

19 favor say aye.

20  (Aye response)

21   VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  The items pass.

22 We're going to take a few things out of order

23 today, so just to give you a heads-up first there

24 is an attorney/client meet session at the end of

25 the proceedings today after public comments.
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1     So we'll take a five-minute recess once public

2  comment concludes for -- and our attorney/client

3  session.  Second, if you all don't mind, we're

4  going to take the LBR up under the executive

5  director's section.  We're going to take the LBR

6  just to highlight it upfront, because I know some

7  members in the audience will be interested in it.

8     So with that, Mr. Trombetta.

9     MR. TROMBETTA:  Thank you, Vice Chair Brown.

10     I'd like to start by first kind of commending

11  Governor DeSantis for the Framework for Freedom

12  Budget that was passed last year.  I think the

13  Gaming Commission is in a much better spot because

14  of the resources that have been provided to the

15  commission and specifically to our law enforcement

16  unit.

17     I think it's really made a difference in our

18  ability to address some of the illegal gambling

19  activities around the state.  And really our first

20  LBR that, you know, was supported by -- by -- you

21  know, by both the governor and the legislature

22  really put us on a -- on a good foot going forward.

23  We're now in the process of recommending our second

24  budget request.  There are meeting materials that

25  have been provided to you all.

8



Page 5
1     Under Chapter 16 the commission has to

2  authorize and approve this budget request.  My

3  staff will then get it moving and try to do our

4  best to once again get the -- get our -- our

5  partners to support it.

6     So if you'd like -- and I'll take your

7  direction.  I can go through item by item.  I also

8  have Lisa Mustain here with me who's ready to

9  answer any -- any questions that I may not be able

10  to answer, but really -- really if there's anything

11  you'd like -- however you'd like to do this, I'm

12  happy to help.

13     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Mr. Trombetta.

14  Why don't we just go item by item and,

15  Commissioners, feel free to interject if you have

16  any questions while he goes through the items.

17  Thank you.

18     MR. TROMBETTA:  So just in summary our -- our

19  current budget request is kind of broken up into

20  three areas.  The first is kind of standalone

21  request to address the FGCC's licensing and

22  document managing system.

23     So beginning in July when the Gaming

24  Commission gained its authority, we via Type II

25  transfer moved PMW from DBPR into Gaming

9
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1  Commission.  As part of that we are still operating

2  on the licensing system that is still in use by

3  DBPR and that was used by the Division of PMW prior

4  to 2001.

5     So our -- our first Item 1 is a request for

6  $9.8 million to solicit a vendor to identify and

7  build out a new licensing system for our own team.

8     Now, most of this money is in non-reoccurring

9  expense.  It will be part of the initial bid to --

10  to get a vendor to do that and then there will be a

11  lesser amount that will be reoccurring.  The full

12  Excel document containing, you know, the breakout

13  of this is -- has been included in the meeting

14  materials.

15     In total our total request this year is just

16  over 15 million and again about 10 million of it is

17  in this first item.

18     Any questions on this one?

19     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  And first

20  before I turn to the commissioners, a lot of work

21  has been done in getting to this point.  I've had

22  thorough reviews with your staff as well as you on

23  these items and it's very impressive the amount of

24  work that's been involved -- that's gone into it

25  months on months.  So with that, thank you very

10
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1  much.

2     Commissioners.

3     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Question if I may,

4  Director Trombetta, in arriving at the number,

5  you've already preliminarily identified who the

6  vendors are in arriving at that calculation for the

7  licensing system and are those recent investigate

8  -- research?

9     MR. TROMBETTA:  The answer is no, but let me

10  talk to Susan Whitmire who's our -- our chief

11  information officer -- or is here to kind of

12  provide a little more information.  I will get the

13  number.

14     MS. WHITMIRE:  Good morning.  This is actually

15  Phase 3.  We have gone through Phase 1, which was

16  requirements gathering.  This year we'll spend

17  procurement and then the third year will be

18  actually developing the system.

19     We did a market scan without being vendor

20  specific, because we're trying to stay in line with

21  procurement law.  We don't want to preclude anybody

22  from bidding.

23     So we did go out there with Guntner's (ph)

24  help to see what was available and there are many

25  vendors that offer licensing systems, some specific

11
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1  to Gaming enforcement and some less specific.

2     We did budgetary estimates on one that we did

3  not believe would be a bidder so that we would not

4  preclude anybody, but we did go out and there are

5  plenty of vendors available, including Tyler's

6  industry, which does the DBPR system.  They have a

7  new tool also available, so we're pretty sure that

8  we'll find a vendor that can meet our needs.

9     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  When you go through

10  that process, you will compare multiple vendors,

11  both for efficiency or accuracy getting the job

12  done as well as (inaudible) so forth?

13     MS. WHITMIRE:  Correct.  So this year, like I

14  said, the second phase, which is the procurement

15  vehicle that we're going to be building working

16  with administration.  IP is working on a statement

17  of work, and we will have a procurement document

18  that lets us select the best vendor based upon a

19  number of factors.  We'll build the scoring

20  criteria.  It's not going to just be lowest bids,

21  who can meet our needs best.

22     One thing I want to say is that as we enter

23  into a procurement there are very strict

24  procurement rules.  And as people are aware of it,

25  they'll start contacting all of us to know

12
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1  information.  So it's very important that we follow

2  the guidance from Division of Administration and

3  that we do not discuss with potential vendors

4  anything that could preclude them from bidding.  So

5  we will be under that procurement law that

6  basically makes us silent, but that's for their

7  protection as well.

8     So Lisa Mustain and her team will be providing

9  us guidance in writing on what is allowed to be

10  discussed and who we should be speaking to and who

11  is our single point of contact.

12     But, yes, the bid and the process of

13  procurement will include a subjective quantitative,

14  qualitative meets our needs kind of assessment.

15     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Thank you.

16     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you for that

17  clarification too for the record.  Any other

18  questions on that item?

19     Mr. Drago.

20     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  FTEs, can you just tell

21  us what those are for, why we need to add three

22  FTEs for this.

23     MS. WHITMIRE:  Absolutely.  So we've asked for

24  a document management administrator, a database

25  administrator, and an application administrator.

13
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1     We have a team of 11 people.  I've done a very

2  good job of hiring utility players, people that can

3  fill multiple roles, but these are very specialized

4  roles that we do not currently have staffed.

5     A database administrator is necessary to do

6  all the back-end work for an application -- an

7  application administrator.  Whatever solution we'll

8  have will have configuration and maintenance that

9  has to have -- happen.  We don't have those skills

10  in-house.

11     And then the document management

12  administrator, DBPR has a large team for this.

13  We're just asking for one position to help us

14  manage the document management solution.  We don't

15  know what it's going to be so we don't know how big

16  of an ask it should be, but at least having someone

17  that specializes in document management, because

18  it's a specialized field in IT.

19     These are skills that don't necessarily -- can

20  generically get from just anybody.  We all have a

21  little bit of experience with it, but when you're

22  talking it being your licensing system, you really

23  need to have people to hit the major functions.

24  And so document management, database

25  administration, and the actual application

14



Page 11
1  management are three areas we felt that we needed

2  additional staffing in.

3     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Do you anticipate hiring

4  them before we purchase the system so they can

5  participate in the procurement of --

6     MS. WHITMIRE:  So they'll be next year's.

7  They won't be this -- this year's.  They'll be next

8  year hire, so they'll be at the same time that

9  we're actually doing the implementation, so we

10  won't be able to hire skills prior to.

11     My staff has an exposure to all these areas so

12  we should be okay to do the evaluation, but we will

13  need them when we hit the ground running with

14  implementation next year.

15     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Thank you.

16     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you for those

17  answers, also just the timing of when all of this

18  will begin, because obviously it will start before

19  Fiscal year 24/25.

20     MS. WHITMIRE:  So the plan is to have the tool

21  -- the procurement tool developed and on the street

22  in the third quarter with the awarding and all of

23  the process that gets it ready in the fourth

24  quarter, so that we begin as soon as funding is

25  made available by the legislature July 1st.
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1     And the plan is to -- since we are really

2  talking about a small implementation with lots of

3  data but, you know, not many professions, a year's

4  time to be able to procurement by -- or do the

5  implementation, so by the end of fiscal year we

6  hope to have a working operable system.

7     There are a lot of risks and unknowns,

8  including how much data we have at DBPR, which we

9  are continuing to work with them to identify how

10  much.  But it seems doable based upon other

11  agencies that have implementation plan as well.  So

12  the plan would be by the end of Fiscal Year 24/25

13  that we have an operable system.

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Any other questions,

15  Commissioners?

16     Mr. Trombetta, if you could just highlight

17  some of the major items as you go along.

18     MR. TROMBETTA:  Let me just touch on the next

19  one, so Item 2 also relates to the Gaming

20  Commission's separation from -- from DBPR.  So Item

21  2 is the emails (inaudible).  Essentially we have

22  several terabytes of data stored with the vendor

23  that is in any contract with DBPR.  This ask is for

24  money to move that data out of that vendor's system

25  environment and into our own so we have control

16
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1  over it.

2     Right now we're in a situation where if people

3  have emails and other information stored with the

4  vendor, we are relying on DBPR to access that

5  information.  So this impacts both our own

6  employees trying to access old data as well as any

7  public records request.  We will be then relying on

8  DBPR to respond to public records requests on our

9  behalf, which is not ideal based on the information

10  we have.

11     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioner.

12     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  If I may, are you aware

13  of the type of expenses, one might call it a

14  punitive exit fee, on the part of a vendor saying

15  farewell to a longstanding client.

16     My question is one of the cost in relation to

17  the benefit and the specific question is:  How

18  frequent do we access emails?  It's my

19  understanding you're referring predominantly to

20  emails greater than one year old; is that true?

21     MR. TROMBETTA:  Thank you,

22  Commissioner A'Quila.  I'm going to try to answer

23  and then I'm going to probably turn it over to --

24     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  With that said:  How

25  many instances does this come up?  So my question

17
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1  because of what can be attached to emails to be

2  able to kind of filter it and say, okay, this --

3  this we can get rid of at this period of time, this

4  we can get rid of at this period of time, the

5  amount of workhours, manhours to do that would

6  potentially surpass this cost.

7     And then, Ms. Whitmire, do you have anything

8  to add just on that question?

9     MS. WHITMIRE:  So just in last month we had

10  six public records request that we had to submit to

11  DBPR for -- for the records retention -- or for

12  records retrieval.

13     The retention requirements for email is

14  extremely complicated.  It's one that I've been

15  dealing with.  In my 37 years, we've had many

16  discussions in many different agencies.

17     Because agencies use it as their document

18  management solution, there's not a clear-cut answer

19  to it.  Some documents within it are -- are

20  required to be held forever, some are easily

21  disposable.  The thing is is that you just --

22  there's no way to know unless you look at every

23  single email.

24     We continue to work with other vendors to see

25  if there's another exit strategy.  Unfortunately
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1  everything has been not successful yet, but it is

2  one of those things as soon as we don't have it,

3  we'll need it, and so this was something that we

4  identified last year.  And so we did try to do it

5  with last year's money, but it's one of those

6  things where -- since it's got all our data sent

7  back and forth, it's really hard to say we can only

8  retain it for one year.

9     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  So I think if I can

10  summarize what was said, six requests for records?

11     MS. WHITMIRE:  Last month.

12     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Last month.  In one

13  month?

14     MS. WHITMIRE:  Yes.

15     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Last month.  And is

16  that indicative of an average month?

17     MS. WHITMIRE:  So it's early on to -- to know,

18  because we haven't been on our own for that long.

19  It's going to be high and low.  We probably will

20  get close to 50 to a hundred a year, just

21  estimates, but we don't have enough of a track

22  record to know.

23     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  For the passage of

24  time, though, with each passing month won't those

25  requests be more contemporary nature and -- and

20
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1  with that said did I hear -- do I understand you

2  correctly with regard to emails nobody has to file

3  the statute of limitations on the information in

4  the email is --

5     MS. WHITMIRE:  No, no.  They -- there is a

6  retention policy on email.  It's the contents of

7  the email that makes it cloudy and most agencies

8  have opted for -- and even when we were doing

9  enterprise emails, the state opted for forever

10  retention, because it's -- it's really cloudy.

11     Because some of those documents within your

12  email system are potentially saved forever, and so

13  while there is a definition for email retention,

14  like I said it's complicated by other retention

15  policies.

16     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  So we would not be

17  saying goodbye to this information -- it would not

18  be lost.  The $721,000 that is being requested is a

19  matter of circumventing the need to go through DBPR

20  and is the -- can you highlight what the process

21  is, what makes it difficult going through DBPR to

22  obtain this information?

23     MS. WHITMIRE:  Yes, sir.

24     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Because I think what

25  we're talking about is there's a repository of

21
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1  information somewhere that's not on our network or

2  Cloud for lack of a better term, but is on another

3  state agency's network.  I assume it's a friendly

4  agency.

5     MS. WHITMIRE:  So there's complicating factors

6  in that we don't own -- we don't own where it's

7  stored and so we have no control over the decisions

8  made about our data about the length of retention,

9  about if they change solution.  So tomorrow if they

10  decide to go to a different vendor, they migrate

11  their data off, we could end up potentially being

12  responsible for the whole repository.

13     The process for current public records is that

14  I get to take it in, we do our side, we then submit

15  the -- a ticket to be DBPR and they pull the data,

16  and we are held to their time frames and their

17  estimates for time and cost.  And then they submit

18  the data back to us through file transfer and then

19  to the client that requests the public record.

20     They can delay the process like I say because

21  it's outside our process.  We have no idea how long

22  it will take.  They've been very good so far in

23  getting our data to us, but like I said we have no

24  control over the repository and their plans for it,

25  and it is a bifurcated process that does slow down

22
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1  the need for prompt public records.

2     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Would you say that if

3  you were to submit a request for (inaudible) today

4  that it might be filled within days typically?

5     MS. WHITMIRE:  Depends on how big the request

6  is and how far it goes back and how many people.

7  It is a very -- every public records request is

8  different.  And depending on the scope of the

9  request, it could be very large, it could be very

10  small, it could be very time consuming.  There

11  really isn't a single answer for that.

12     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  We're talking about

13  moving how many terabytes of data?

14     MS. WHITMIRE:  69 terabytes and that's a

15  definitive amount.  It's not going to grow.  We're

16  no longer building into the repository.  That is

17  just our historical data prior to July 1.

18     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  In your experience in

19  30-plus years moving data, is their price per

20  terabyte reasonable?

21     MS. WHITMIRE:  So since they are the owner of

22  the data, the price they set is the -- their

23  reasonable amount.  We did not prepare for it and

24  the vendor that was helping us and -- we were

25  astounded by the price.  It's about $10,000 a

23
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1  terabyte.  I -- it's their data.  It's their

2  system.  I don't know what is reasonable

3  comparatively, but it was a lot more than we had

4  planned for.

5     MR. TROMBETTA:  I'm sorry, Vice Chair, if I

6  may.

7     And, Ms. Whitmire, is it true that the number

8  -- just for the record here the number that we're

9  requesting here is based on -- have we received an

10  invoice from them or where did we get this number?

11     MS. WHITMIRE:  So we actually were hoping to

12  do it last year.  We did a full email migration, so

13  we actually had a quote to move it and so we --

14  that put a little bit of buffer, because we know

15  their prices are going to go up, because no price

16  ever goes down, but that is the actual cost that

17  they quoted us.

18     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  There is no competitive

19  alternative that is both -- that could work in the

20  situation, because they -- when they're in control

21  of the data; correct?

22     MS. WHITMIRE:  We continue to look for

23  alternatives, but so far that is the case.  And

24  we're not the only agency in -- in this situation.

25     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Those are all my

24
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1  questions.

2     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you,

3  Commissioner A'Quila.

4     Any other questions on the line item?

5     MR. TROMBETTA:  Item 3, and I will start

6  skipping around, but I just want to touch on Item 3

7  as well.  It's a $546,000 for a customer service

8  ticketing system.

9     Ms. Whitmire, would you mind just addressing

10  this one as well, please.

11     MS. WHITMIRE:  Yes.  This issue was submitted

12  last year and it was removed, because we were

13  hoping for an enterprise solution for the State of

14  Florida.  Since that didn't happen, we resubmitted

15  it this year.

16     This is for an IT ticketing system that would

17  integrate with things like our inventory system.

18  Right now we're using a product called Smartsheet.

19  It is a Excel spreadsheet on steroids.  It serves

20  our needs presently as best as it can, but we -- as

21  we grow and as we do things the new tool will help

22  us do change control and asset management, and so

23  really it is a foundational piece to any IT

24  department.

25     We live and breathe by tickets.  If it didn't
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1  go in the ticketing system, it doesn't happen.  So

2  this would be to procure our own solution, which

3  would be a software that's a customer service Cloud

4  base and we hope not to actually own anything other

5  than in the Cloud.

6     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  You're very thorough.  Any

7  questions on this?

8     MR. TROMBETTA:  Thank you, Commissioner Brown.

9     So the next items deal with request for

10  additional staff and (inaudible) IT ask.  And then

11  the next two items are requests for more vehicles.

12     The thought process here would be one

13  vehicle -- one additional vehicle up here to kind

14  of help -- do dropoffs, (inaudible) now that we

15  have an admin team, so this vehicle is for the

16  admin.

17     The second vehicle would be a vehicle

18  specifically for the IT team down in South Florida.

19  So our IT needs in South Florida are to support an

20  office in Fort Lauderdale, plus we have eight

21  satellite offices at each of those slot facilities

22  (inaudible).

23     So we wanted to get a vehicle that would be

24  able to handle transportation of equipment,

25  potentially maintaining tools and other devices

26



Page 23
1  that we use as our help desk guys go out to the

2  field and have to regularly service the offices in

3  other areas.

4     Issue 8 is outside legal counsel.  So this was

5  another -- another kind of highlight.  We have

6  recommended $500,000 and recurring budget authority

7  to be used for outside legal counsel.  This is

8  something that most agencies have, that the

9  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering had when we were

10  in DBPR and (inaudible) transfer didn't come with

11  us -- sorry, my mic has not been on.

12     And this would be essentially providing our --

13  the FGCC the ability to hire outside counsel to

14  help us in any type of legal dispute.

15     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  I'm not just going to say

16  this because I'm a lawyer, but I'm very excited

17  about this.  I know how stressed our attorneys are

18  and taxed with their workload and it's a necessity

19  to continue to hear this.  I'm very excited that

20  this is included.

21     MR. TROMBETTA:  Next is a new -- new item for

22  marking promotion.  So we've asked and recommended

23  for $55,000, which is kind of the start to help

24  get -- get our name out there.  I know one of the

25  questions that I receive often is sort of how --
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1  just -- just get -- get the word out there.

2     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  So have you -- I know

3  it's a little bit more granular than in this

4  presentation, but you'll approximate the marketing

5  and promotion are we talking about print, are we

6  talking about press releases, is there a

7  percentage, or pretty much at this point it's too

8  early stage and I'll accept that, that's --

9     MR. TROMBETTA:  It is a little bit too early.

10  We -- we tried to come up with a number that could

11  kind of get us going.  Our initial thought process

12  is that this could potentially be used for some

13  type of like a little bit of online advertising,

14  specifically targeted online advertising

15  potentially build awards and promotional materials

16  that we can provide to stakeholders.

17     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I might suggest for

18  consideration of -- or -- whether it be the

19  committee or position -- the term marketing and

20  promotion might be not the best term here, one

21  might, you know, call it public education, public

22  relations, so forth.

23     As we all know there is an incredible amount

24  of misinformation with regard to the understanding

25  of what constitutes illegal gambling and so forth
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1  areas where we need it and it's to offset some of

2  the ask on the law enforcement side, so that's sort

3  of the next item I had, but it will lead into our

4  law enforcement ask.

5     So the -- sort of the way I view our -- our

6  total budget request we have sort of three main

7  items.  The IT requests will identify with our

8  licensing, kind of getting our -- further

9  separating from DBPR, the general counsel, you

10  know, outside legal support, and then our continued

11  support for law enforcement.

12     During our -- our first year in operation, I

13  think our law enforcement team has done a fantastic

14  job with the support in, you know, both the

15  Governor's Office and the legislature in

16  identifying issues, finding ways to help other

17  stakeholders in the state, and building our own

18  team.

19     You know, Director Herold has done a fantastic

20  job in building our team.  We're still in the

21  process.  We still have lots of vacancies.  But

22  even though we haven't, you know, filled like our

23  central office yet, we've identified that we have a

24  shortcoming in our analyst and intelligence side.

25     So the big ask for our law enforcement team is
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1  that we've asked for two sworn officers that will

2  be directly under -- in the -- on the org chart.  I

3  think on the org chart there's -- on the left side,

4  there's the sworn law enforcement officers that all

5  report to -- to Dan and Carl and then on the right

6  side is sort of our analyst tree.  So we've asked

7  for two new officers on the law enforcement side

8  and then we're asking for several analysts on the

9  analyst side.

10     Ms. Mustain, do you mind providing a little

11  more information about -- about this item.

12     MS. MUSTAIN:  Thank you.  Good morning.  We're

13  asking for six additional law enforcement positions

14  for the analyst side and it basically provides

15  analysts to receive compliance, serve issues, and

16  investigate them.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioners,

18  Commissioner A'Quila.

19     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  The analysts also does

20  the preliminary investigation; is that correct?

21     MS. MUSTAIN:  Can I ask Carl Herold to answer,

22  please.

23     MR. HEROLD:  What exactly was the question?

24  I'm sorry.

25     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  In those positions for
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1  analysts, those analysts they complete -- do they

2  do just the preliminary investigation, the whole

3  investigation, what -- what -- can you define what

4  investigation means?

5     MR. HEROLD:  Analysts what they do is they

6  prepare all the background information, connections

7  between involved parties where bank accounts are,

8  resources, and those types of things, and those are

9  all jumping off points for the investigators to

10  move along with.

11     Now, in this particular ask, we've asked for

12  two analysts to have kind of a specialty in online

13  activities and possibly online gambling and those

14  kind of things.

15     So it kind of rounds out our analyst ask where

16  we've got kind of the typical bread and butter

17  analyst and now we're asking for a couple --

18  because we see that there's an upcoming problem

19  with this, so we need to have some analysts that

20  can get us a little deeper into this particular

21  issue.

22     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  So at least one of

23  those analysts would be one with financial crime

24  experience, understand the more electronic version

25  of illegal activity versus the -- let me take
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1  something out of thin air --

2     MR. HEROLD:  The run of the mill stuff.

3     (Simultaneous speaking)

4     MR. HEROLD:  The two that we've asked for we

5  do want them to be specifically into the online and

6  kind of -- the online betting environment apps and

7  those kind of things like that.  So you said one,

8  my goal is actually have both of those be that type

9  of analyst.

10     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  We recognize those are

11  probably higher skilled, higher compensation

12  positions and also very highly sought after in this

13  marketplace --

14     MR. HEROLD:  They are very much a specialty

15  and you have to pay the specialty price to attract

16  those types of individuals.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioner Repp.

18     COMMISSIONER REPP:  To clarify within when he

19  says white collar crimes, we're talking about

20  people with financial -- complex financial frauds

21  kind of financial background as well as -- I mean,

22  the online fraud, for internet fraud, can be

23  different and suffer from (inaudible) white color

24  crimes?

25     MR. HEROLD:  Right.  And these, you know, the
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1  goal is not for them to be particularly white

2  collar crime types of analysts, more so on the

3  online gambling and those kind of activities like

4  that.

5     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  So it's more of an --

6  more preliminary, early stage digital not full if I

7  can use the term forensic accounting or that

8  nature?

9     MR. HEROLD:  You're exactly right, but mostly

10  because to be a court-certified forensic auditor

11  requires a lot of experience that I don't think we

12  can capture at the price point that either we're

13  hoping to get for -- at -- you know, at this

14  particular time --

15     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  That answers the

16  question.  Thank you.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioner Drago.

18     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  I just have one -- one

19  question, Director.  The analyst supervisor, that's

20  a non-sworn or that's a sworn position.

21     MR. HEROLD:  That will be a non-sworn.

22  There's no need for a sworn position there.

23

24

25

   COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Thank you.

   VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.

   MR.TROMBETTA:  Then the final items are

35



36



37



38



39



Page 36
1  workaround based on the number of instances,

2  whether it be five or six or whatever and there's

3  somewhat uncertainty with regard to record

4  retention as it pertains to both volume and

5  (inaudible) costs.

6     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yeah, let me just provide --

7  and not to -- you know, that's -- let me just try

8  to provide a little more context maybe.

9     So right now there is an appropriation for

10  continued IT support services that the Gaming

11  Commission receives that is to be used for

12  continued IT support services provided by DBPR.  We

13  are expected to enter into an MOU on how those

14  funds will be used.  We were able to do it last

15  year and currently we're working through the

16  process this year.

17     DBPR has been a good partner throughout this

18  process and we've been able to kind of work through

19  some of the issues as they come up.  I think this

20  is one that we -- we can continue to try to work

21  with them on.

22     I think my concern is in the long run that --

23  and, you know, I think it was kind of identified

24  earlier that this year too is that we don't --

25  we're not going to have control of what they do
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1  with it long term, which, you know -- so I agree

2  with you.  This is an exorbitant cost.

3     I mean, it seems this is -- to me coming in,

4  you know, as someone that isn't necessarily in the

5  IT field, you always hear about these problems with

6  vendors that they -- be careful what vendors you

7  use for data, because once they have your data

8  they're going to -- they're going to, you know, not

9  let you out and that to me is what this is, 69

10  terabytes it's hard to imagine, that's really

11  $10,000 per terabyte to transfer this data out.

12     I just don't know what -- I don't know if

13  there's a good long-term solution, because the --

14  there's a risk in public records responses that

15  we're going to be -- we're going to call -- we're

16  going to fall further and further down the line of

17  importance frankly for these other agencies.

18  Right.

19     As time goes on, they right now are being good

20  partners.  The administration, the people that are

21  running the agency were there when the Gaming

22  Commission was created, they were aware of what was

23  supposed to happen via Type 2 transfer and

24  everybody's kind of working to that end.

25     I'm concerned, you know, not necessarily the
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1  next year, but, you know, five, ten years down the

2  road, we're still going to be responding to public

3  records requests for data that will be captured in

4  this time period and having to -- it's just -- it's

5  not that ideal situation.

6     I mean, I think you understand that, it's just

7  whether or not the cost is worth separating and,

8  you know, frankly -- I'm not trying to convince you

9  that it is, I'm just trying to give you more

10  information.

11     Ms. Whitmire, are you able to provide any

12  other context or any other --

13     MS. WHITMIRE:  Not really.  I mean, we

14  continue to look for alternatives.  We continue to

15  meet with other vendors to see if there are other

16  migration strategies.  We haven't been successful

17  yet, but we can continue but it -- the long term

18  being able to get this data.  And the farther it

19  gets out of the current situation and the older the

20  data gets, I only think it's going to get more

21  expensive to get it if we need it a year from now,

22  two years from now.

23     You know, trying to be in control of our

24  destiny and how we serve our consumers is key, but

25  IT will do whatever the business wants.  And we can
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1  continue the relationship or otherwise continue to

2  research.  And even after -- if you approve it or

3  don't approve it, we're going to continue to see if

4  we can find alternatives.

5     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioner Drago.

6     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  I certainly understand

7  Commissioner A'Quila's concerns.  It's just mind

8  boggling how expensive it is.  And I know everybody

9  gets it and it's an issue we have to deal with.

10     I also have a concern about public records and

11  providing that information and not relying on

12  another agency for something that we have to do.

13  That -- that does concern me.  It's not that that

14  means you can pay any price in the world to do it,

15  but I think it -- it is probably going to get more

16  expensive as time goes on.  Nothing goes down as

17  you said before, so it's just going to get more and

18  more costly.

19     My concern is do we bite the bullet and do it

20  now or wait and do it at another time when maybe --

21  maybe we're not able to do it financially from the

22  state's perspective.

23     So Commissioner A'Quila is, you know, right

24  on.  I understand his concerns and I know his

25  experience with these things is valuable.  I also
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1  look at the other side, but I am concerned about

2  not being responsible for things like public

3  records on our own, having to rely on somebody else

4  to do it.  Not that DBPR won't do it, but of course

5  they've got their own things to do.

6     And there -- we need to be responsive to the

7  public, and public records in my mind is very, very

8  important regardless of the legalities involved it.

9  It's very important that we service the -- the

10  people of this state in a timely manner -- manner

11  with anything that has to do with public records.

12     And I'd hate for our staff to be put in a

13  position where they're like, well, we're trying,

14  we're trying, but, you know, we have to rely on

15  somebody else.  That can get -- that can get very

16  tiresome for the staff and it also can be very

17  tiresome for -- for the public who's trying to get

18  this information.

19     So it -- it's not an easy solution and as --

20  as the commissioner said, he's outlined it

21  perfectly all the issues of course that we're all,

22  you know, thinking about, but it is -- it is not

23  easy, but I realize that sometimes you just -- you

24  just got to bite the bullet and move on.

25     You know, if there's other things we can do or
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1  if there's other avenues to pursue, if there's --

2  you know, to try to lessen the cost, I'm certainly

3  for that.  I just don't know that that's there.  I

4  don't -- I don't know that we're just kicking the

5  can down the road again and we're running out of

6  time in terms of the budget and that type of thing.

7  That's all I have to say.

8     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioner Drago, I agree

9  with -- with your statement too, particularly about

10  public records.  There's clearly a need that is

11  without a doubt and we get the most cost effective

12  measure.  If we go ahead and approve the budget as

13  proposed, it sounds like you're going to continue

14  to try to find alternatives regardless that will be

15  as cost effective.

16     Is that correct?

17     MS. WHITMIRE:  Correct.  So we would -- we're

18  going to continue to see if there's alternatives.

19  And if we find an alternative and we don't spend

20  the $690,000, great.  We already looked at several

21  solutions that we thought might be options and they

22  turned out to be equally terrible solutions.

23     So we continue to work with our vendor

24  community and hope that they come up with something

25  before we actually go to session, but so far it has

45



Page 42
1  not been a successful search.

2     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  That's fair.

3     Mr. Trombetta, want -- you wanted to add

4  something?

5     MR. TROMBETTA:  I'm sorry, no -- well, just

6  again for just clarity on the record here.

7     The issue isn't -- and I don't know if maybe I

8  got confused or -- my issue isn't with DBPR, the

9  issue is with the vendor that DBPR has a contract

10  with.

11     So just -- you know, DBPR isn't necessarily

12  the problem, but they do potentially present risks

13  just the way public records could be handled, but

14  the real problem is the vendor that is storing this

15  data, not DBPR itself and that's...

16     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Anything further to add?

17     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  No.  I -- DBPR has to

18  retain records.  Their records are mixed with our

19  records.  So these records I imagine DBPR is going

20  to take care of those records.  Again when I look

21  at the cost, I can almost fund a full-time position

22  just to deal with requests (inaudible) needed that

23  would be more economical than the solution of the

24  vendors, that's another way of explaining...

25     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  So the options -- again we
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1  are somewhat time pressed with the budget, so I am

2  in support of the budget as proposed with the

3  caveat of your concerns but also with the

4  acknowledgment that Ms. Whitmire and her team are

5  going to continue to look for -- for cost effective

6  measures on the item delineated.

7     But if there's any other comments before we

8  get to the motion, then please -- we're ready to

9  take it up.

10     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  I make a motion to accept

11  the budget.

12     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Is there a second?

13     COMMISSIONER REPP:  I'll second.

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Any further discussion?

15     All those in favor say aye.

16     (Commissioners responded aye, but for

17  Commissioner A'Quila.)

18     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  It passes unanimously.

19  Thank you.  Thank you again for all of your work on

20  this.

21     We are going to move on now to Item 2.1,

22  Discussion of amended application for cardroom

23  license.

24     (Pause)

25     MS. POUNCEY:  Jamie Pouncey, cardroom holder
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1  administrator for Item 2.1.

2     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Pull your mic a little bit

3  closer.

4     MS. POUNCEY:  Item 2.1 is Dania Entertainment

5  Center.  They have submitted Case Number

6  2023-047080, a request to add additional card

7  tables.

8     Dania possesses a current 2023 cardroom

9  license and they have 22 tables operating.  They're

10  requesting to add three additional tables.  They've

11  paid the licensing fee associated with those tables

12  and the division recommends the approval.

13     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Ms. Pouncey.

14  Pretty straightforward.  Is there any discussion,

15  if not I'll take a motion to approve.

16     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I'll make a motion to

17  approve.

18     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  Is there a

19  second?  All those in favor say aye.

20     (Aye response)

21     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Ms. Pouncey.

22     We are going to take up Item 3.1, Discussion

23  of initial application for cardroom license.

24     Can staff provide just a really brief overview

25  and then I'd like to have the applicant speak if

48



Page 45
1  they so choose.

2     MS. POUNCEY:  Ocala Breeders' Sales Company

3  has submitted Case Number 2023-042076, an initial

4  cardroom license application.  Ocala Breeders'

5  Sales possesses a Quarter Horse permit.

6     They held an operating license for the

7  pari-mutuel wagering year -- Fiscal Year 2020/2021.

8  They were issued a pari-mutuel license for the

9  23/24 fiscal year.  Ocala has submitted the initial

10  application for their cardroom license, paid the

11  $34,000 licensing fee to operate 34 tables.

12     In order to issue Ocala Bets cardroom license,

13  the Commission has confirmed Ocala Bets is the

14  licensed permit holder.  They hold an operating

15  license for the conduct of pari-mutuel wagering for

16  the 2020/2021 fiscal year.  They paid the thousand

17  dollars per table licensing fee.

18     The authorized cardroom will be operated at

19  the same facility in which the permit holder's

20  authorized under its valid permit to conduct

21  pari-mutuel wagering activities, and we have

22  confirmed that they have submitted their written

23  internal controls for approval and that Ocala Bets

24  has provided proof of authorization of the cardroom

25  by the governing body where the cardroom will be
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1  operated.

2     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Ms. Pouncey.

3     Mr. Trombetta.

4     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yeah, thank you.  So just a

5  little bit more background, some events that have

6  happened in the last 48 hours.

7     So there was a deficiency identified in the

8  application related to internal controls on Tuesday

9  of this week.  We sent an email to that effect and

10  the applicant responded almost immediately.  So but

11  -- because the response happened yesterday, the

12  documents addressing that deficiency have not been

13  included into the meeting materials.

14     So we are in a position where the Commission

15  has as of this week identified a deficiency in the

16  internal controls that was then resolved.  There's

17  a subsequent document provided by the applicant as

18  well relating to the authorization by I think the

19  City of Ocala for the cardroom activity at the

20  location.  That has been provided to us.

21     I think the -- we're still in a situation

22  where because of the timing of this, I don't know

23  if the -- the Commission is in a spot to make a

24  decision on this today and I think it might --

25  if -- if the Commission so desires to provide a
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1  little more notice to the public, we could notice a

2  meeting for the soonest time possible, which would

3  be seven days.  We could do it virtually next week

4  so that there would be no notice issue at all.  It

5  would essentially cure the notice issue that was

6  created by our email on Tuesday.

7     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  And I know this applicant

8  provided -- started this process early in January.

9  And just to have a deficiency come up the day

10  before the agenda is to, you know, unfortunately

11  the detriment of the applicant.

12     Is it a substantive deficiency that

13  necessitates further notice to the public?  I'm

14  just a little confused.  The public is aware of

15  this.  It will be part of the full record as well.

16     MR. TROMBETTA:  You know, so my role as

17  executive director is -- is not necessarily to

18  provide -- I know, I am barred, I am an attorney,

19  but I don't have an answer to that legal question.

20  It's a legal opinion.

21     My recommendation is that to do this in the

22  cleanest way that will leave the Commission in the

23  best -- you know, my job is to protect the

24  Commission, is to suggest that we -- we move this

25  for a week and take it up next Friday at a virtual
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1  meeting so that the -- all the documentation is out

2  there and there's no question, because -- because,

3  you know, frankly Vice Chair Brown, I don't know

4  the answer to that question, but I know that if we

5  do delay a decision on this for a week, that issue

6  is not a problem for sure.

7     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  I know Commissioner A'Quila

8  has a question, but I did want to give the

9  applicant just to get his -- if he's okay with it

10  as well.  Again he cleared the deficiency as soon

11  as he was given notice the day before the agenda.

12     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yeah.  And, again, the -- the

13  notice going out -- the email going out from my

14  staff on Tuesday was again something that I'm going

15  to try to fix going forward.  It shouldn't happen

16  this way.  I apologize for that.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Unfortunate highlight, but

18  again it's using his best efforts to get

19  information to us as soon as possible, you have to

20  hear from the applicant to make sure he's okay with

21  that posture of delaying for a week, but,

22  Commissioner D'Aquila.

23     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I think the suggestion

24  is a good one -- well, of course, it's an

25  unfortunate situation, but I think the
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1  commissioners should have an opportunity to see the

2  information and I think I'll speak as one

3  commissioner is not prepared to do -- to

4  participate in a special meeting next week if

5  necessary.

6     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioner Drago.

7     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Yeah.  I do want to make

8  sure we do it the right way.  I mean, that's the

9  most important thing, fair to everybody involved,

10  especially the applicant.  But also in terms of

11  rescheduling or scheduling the meetings to handle

12  that, can we do that in a way that we also work

13  with the applicant to make sure it's okay for --

14  for them to be able to be at this follow-up meeting

15  or whatever it may be, since we're going to be

16  moving it around and it's going to inconvenience

17  them I'm sure to some extent?

18     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yes, Commissioner Drago.  The

19  applicant is here today, so I think if you do want

20  to hear from them, I think they would be available

21  -- I don't know if they want to talk, but they are

22  here.

23     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  If the applicant does want

24  to talk, please feel free to come up to the mic.

25  If not, you can just wave your hand and -- we're a
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1  friendly group here, though.  Don't be scared to

2  come up.  Thank you.

3     MR. VENTURA:  Welcome, Commissioners.  My name

4  is Tom Ventura.  I'm the president of Ocala

5  Breeders' Sales Company.  And we have submitted

6  this application, you know, several months ago.  I

7  understand if there's an issue making a decision

8  today.  I'll be available to make it work.  We want

9  to get it right the first time.

10     We've -- we've been very responsive as has --

11  the division has been very helpful in getting this

12  off the ground.  We've been in business for almost

13  40 years.  We've had a pari-mutuel permit and we're

14  adding the cardroom to our facility and we're, you

15  know, at the end stages of our renovation.  If we

16  can get this decision within a week, it won't

17  hinder us horribly and I'll be available as needed.

18     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you very much for

19  that comment.

20     Commissioners, any questions?  We'll try to do

21  it as seamlessly.  Let's just -- if we can have the

22  notice legally requiring seven days.

23     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yes, ma'am.  We could

24  technically -- I think my staff will get the

25  noticed published -- or, you know, submitted to the
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1     In addition to submitting the application, a

2  thoroughbred permit holder may request a minor

3  amendment to their license.  Gulfstream Park has

4  satisfied all the requirements and is requesting

5  amendment to less than 49 percent of total

6  performances from the current year's initial

7  license.  It is the recommendation that this

8  request be approved.

9     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.

10     Commissioners, any questions for Ms. Pouncey,

11  if not can we get a motion?

12     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I make a motion to

13  approve.

14     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Second.

15     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

16     (Aye response)

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Ms. Pouncey.

18     We're going to take up Items 5.1 through 5.5

19  together as a whole since they are all tax credit

20  exemptions.  I believe they're the same entity.

21     MS. SWAIN:  Good morning.  Tracey Swain,

22  revenue program administrator for pari-mutuel

23  wagering.  These are all tax credits from the

24  individual facilities to transfer a portion of

25  their exemption credits to Daytona Beach Kennel
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1  Club.  They've met all requirements that are

2  outlined in 550.09511(b) and the staff

3  recommendation that all of the tax credits be

4  approved for transfer.

5     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Ms. Swain.

6     Any questions on any of the Items 5.1 through

7  5.5?  If not, can I get a motion to approve those?

8     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Very thorough writeup.

9  Thank you, and I make a motion to approve.

10     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Second.

11     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor of the

12  motion to approve 5.1 through 5.5, say aye.

13     (Aye response)

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  We're taking up

15  a discussion of the consent orders, Item 6.1

16  through 6.5.  We are going to go through them

17  individually, so if we could start with 6.1,

18  please.

19     MS. ALVARADO:  6.1 is FGCC versus Daytona

20  Beach Kennel Club, Case Number 2023-021983.  This

21  case there was a filed administrative complaint

22  alleging that respondent violated Rule 75-11.012(8)

23  by allowing an employee to access the count room

24  during the count when they were not on the

25  authorized list.  They did have one prior violation
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1  in 2021.  You also had a $750 consent order

2  attached in the meeting materials.  Therefore the

3  division would ask that the Commission issue an

4  order adopting this consent order.

5     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Ms. Alvarado.  I

6  think that's a fair negotiation as well.

7     Is there a motion to approve the item?

8     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Can I ask one question?

9     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Certainly.

10     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  So the -- the prior

11  violation -- they were fined $500 in the prior

12  violation and it's being moved up by $250 to $750

13  this time?

14     MS. ALVARADO:  Right.  The prior one also had

15  two counts in it, so I think they did 250 per

16  violation and so we're doing 750 for one.

17     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  I have a question on

18  another one that's similar to this that you know

19  it's coming.

20     MS. ALVARADO:  Yes.

21     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Any other questions?  Can I

22  get a motion to approve 6.1?

23     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  So moved.

24     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Second.

25     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.
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1  You were provided a settlement and consent order

2  that had a written warning.  Respondent had no

3  prior violation in this case.  Therefore, the

4  division would ask that the Commission adopt this

5  consent order.

6     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Ms. Alvarado.

7  Just a question now that HISA have taken over

8  these -- in this three days, their oversight.  Once

9  this consent order is issued, do we give them

10  notice of it for their recordkeeping on the

11  trainer?

12     MS. ALVARADO:  This particular one had an

13  attorney, their -- a final order that the consent

14  order was adopted in this case.

15     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  I guess we'll save the HISA

16  comments and questions under executive director,

17  because I do (inaudible) we're proceeding with

18  them, but if not, are there any questions on this,

19  if not make a motion.

20     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  So moved.

21     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Is there a second?

22     COMMISSIONER REPP:  Second.

23     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

24     (Aye response)

25     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  6.4, please.
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1     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  It passes.

2     6.5, please.

3     MS. ALVARADO:  This is FGCC versus

4  St. Petersburg Kennel Club in Case Number

5  2023-029445.  This case was a violation of Rule

6  75-11.012(8) as well as Rule -- well, two

7  violations of 75.11.012(8) by allowing an employee

8  to access the count room during the count when they

9  were not on the authorized list as well as -- I'm

10  sorry.

11     So there's two counts in this case.  There was

12  also one prior violation which had a $250 fine.

13  You were also provided a settlement, which had a

14  $750 fine in this case.  Therefore, the Commission

15  would ask -- the division would ask the Commission

16  to adopt this consent order.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Are there any questions?

18     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  I have one.

19     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Sure.

20     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  So this is the one I

21  wanted to get to, because there's two similar cases

22  and they kind of flip-flop on how they're fined,

23  one was -- so is this -- is this -- does this one

24  we're dealing with today, the current one, two

25  counts?

62



63



Page 60
1  cash advances.  Therefore, subject to a permanent

2  exclusion from all pari-mutuel and slot machine

3  facilities pursuant to 550.0251(6) and 551.112.

4     The respondent was served and failed to

5  respond to the administrative complaint.

6  Therefore, the division would ask that the

7  Commission find that the respondent was properly

8  served, failed to respond within 21 days, that the

9  facts in the administrative complaint are accepted

10  as the facts in the case and concluding that

11  respondent will be added to the permanent exclusion

12  list.

13     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  Again when she

14  says -- when you say respondent, it's respondents

15  even though there are two separate -- the same.

16     If there are no questions, can we get a motion

17  on 7.1 and 7.4?

18     COMMISSIONER REPP:  I'd like to make a motion

19  to adopt.

20     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Is there a second?

21     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I'll second.

22     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

23     (Aye response)

24     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  7.1 and 7.4 are

25  approved.  Moving on to 7.2.
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1     MS. ALVARADO:  7.2 is FGCC versus

2  Mario Collado in Case Number 2023-025629.  This

3  case was a one-count administrative complaint that

4  was filed against respondent who was excluded from

5  Magic City Casino on April 24, 2023, for disorderly

6  -- acting in a disorderly manner towards the

7  cardroom employees.  He's subject to permanent

8  exclusion pursuant to Sections 550.0251(6) and

9  551.112.

10     The respondent was properly served via USPS

11  certified mail and failed to respond.  Therefore

12  the division would ask that the Commission find the

13  respondent was properly served, he failed to

14  respond within 21 days, that the facts in the

15  administrative complaint are accepted as the facts

16  in this case, and concluding that respondent be

17  added to the permanent exclusion list.

18     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.

19     Can I get a motion to approve 7.2?

20     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I make a motion to

21  approve 7.2.

22     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Second.

23     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

24     (Aye response)

25     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  7.3, please.
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1     MS. ALVARADO:  7.3 is Julian Reyes in Case

2  Number 2023-026490.  In the case materials you

3  provided a two-count administrative complaint

4  alleging that respondent was convicted of a felony

5  offense and failed to disclose this felony offense

6  to the Commission within 48 hours.

7     You were also provided the USPS tracking as

8  well as the receipt that it was properly served.

9  The respondent failed to respond.  Therefore, the

10  division would ask that the Commission enter an

11  order finding that the respondent was properly

12  served, failed to respond within 21 days, that the

13  facts in the administrative complaint are accepted

14  as facts in this case, and that the respondent's

15  cardroom employee occupational license will be

16  revoked.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Are there any questions on

18  this?  Can we get a motion to approve 7.3.

19     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Make a motion to approve

20  staff recommendation.

21     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Second.

22     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

23     (Aye response)

24     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  7.5.

25     MS. ALVARADO:  7.5 is FGCC versus Moreno --
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1  Carlos Moreno Villegas.  In this case you were

2  provided a two-count administrative complaint

3  alleging that respondent was terminated as a poker

4  dealer and excluded for one year in November 2022

5  for engaging in theft of various chips while

6  working as a poker dealer.

7     He is subject to exclusion and revocation of

8  his cardroom license.  You were also provided a

9  USPS tracking.  The respondent failed to respond in

10  this case.  Therefore, the division would ask the

11  Commission to enter an order finding that the

12  respondent was properly served, he failed to

13  respond within 21 days, that the facts in the

14  administrative complaint are accepted as the facts

15  in this case, and that the respondent will be added

16  to the permanent exclusion list as well have his

17  slot machine license revoked.

18     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  Are there any

19  questions on this item?  If not, can we get a

20  motion to approve the staff recommendation.

21     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Make a motion to

22  approve.

23     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Is there a second?

24     COMMISSIONER REPP:  Second.

25     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.
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1     (Aye response)

2     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  We are on to 8.1, Order to

3  vacate final order.

4     MS. ALVARADO:  This is Jonathan Ferber, which

5  is Case Number 2023-043586.  Here the division is

6  seeking to vacate the final order that was issued

7  on the May 5th meeting permanently excluding

8  respondent from pari-mutuel and slot machine

9  facilities in the state.

10     The administrative complaint was served via

11  publication.  We have since received notification

12  that the respondent is no longer living at that

13  address and did not have notice of the case.

14  Therefore, we ask that we vacate this final order

15  and reissue the administrative complaint at the

16  correct address.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Sounds appropriate.  Is

18  there a motion to approve?

19     COMMISSIONER REPP:  Motion to approve.

20     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Second.

21     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

22     (Aye response)

23     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  We're on to

24  recommended orders, Number 9.1 through 9.4.

25     MS. ALVARADO:  9.1 is Steven Frazier, Case
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1     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I will second that

2  motion.

3     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

4     (Aye response)

5     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.

6     MS. ALVARADO:  If I could combine 9.2 and 9.3.

7     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  That would be great.

8     MS. ALVARADO:  Those are Garrett Anderson

9  2022-048147 and Gilfredo Gonzalez 2022-061179.  A

10  recommended order has not been issued in either

11  case.  Therefore, the division would ask that we

12  could table this for the October meeting once we

13  get the recommendation.

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  I was wondering why there

15  were no materials.  We can go ahead -- we do not

16  need a motion to -- we can just bar it to the next

17  agenda.

18     9.4, please.

19     MS. ALVARADO:  9.4 is Dixa Harish Patel in

20  Case Number 2023-005829.  This case comes before

21  you following a recommended order that was issued

22  by the hearing officer.  An informal hearing was

23  conducted on June 15, 2023, regarding an

24  administrative complaint seeking to exclude the

25  respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot machine
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1  facilities in the state for capping a bet.

2     The hearing officer issued a recommended order

3  on September 5th recommending that the respondent

4  be added to the permanent exclusion list for all

5  pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities.

6     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  I read this --

7  it was very interesting the rationale for capping

8  her bet and that the reasons thereof.  I appreciate

9  you spending some time on this at the time of the

10  applicant -- or the petitioner.

11     Can we please get a motion to approve the

12  proposed recommended order.

13     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  So moved.

14     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Second.

15     (Aye response)

16     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  We are going to

17  go into the discussion of license denials.  And my

18  understanding is we have -- the first one that

19  we're going to take up, we have the petitioner --

20  pardon me, or the applicant.  I guess you would

21  call applicant.  She is on the line right now.

22     Can I just confirm Ms. -- and I'm going to

23  have to ask Ms. Alvarado if you can please

24  pronounce her name, if you can.  You've been doing

25  great.
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1     MS. ALVARADO:  You want to try, Steve?

2     MR. WOODS:  I'll try.  Alekseenka-Repass.

3     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Your mic's down a little

4  bit.

5     MR. WOODS:  Alekseenka-Repass.

6     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Before we get to her if you

7  could summarize the recommendation.

8     MR. WOODS:  The recommendation is that the

9  Commission authorize the issuance of a notice of

10  intent to deny.

11     This is a case in which -- this was a mail

12  fraud offense in 2010.  The details of this

13  essentially were that she was -- she was working as

14  an administrative assistant and receiving kickbacks

15  and these were fraudulent reports that she put in

16  the mail.  So this was a scheme to defraud and that

17  scheme to defraud was -- and the mail was used to

18  implement it and those are the two elements of that

19  offense.

20     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  And I know

21  there's more details in the file as well as other

22  different incidents.

23     But with that, Ms...

24     MR. WOODS:  Ms. Alekseenka-Repass.

25     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  You did really well.
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1     Are you on the line?  Can we confirm that you

2  are on the line?

3     Let's just take a brief three-minute break

4  here.  The time is 10:47.  We will reconvene at

5  11:00 a.m. --

6     MS. ALEKSEENKA-REPASS:  I'm here.

7     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  There you are.  Okay.

8  Thank you for --

9     MS. ALEKSEENKA-REPASS:  I guess I have to

10  press Star 6.

11     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  I'm sorry, ma'am.  Can you

12  please confirm who you are on the line.

13     MS. ALEKSEENKA-REPASS:  Yes.  I'm here.  This

14  is Inna Alekseenka-Repass.

15     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  You have the floor, ma'am.

16     MS. ALEKSEENKA-REPASS:  I was calling in.  My

17  license was denied, so I wanted to be on this call

18  when it was discussed.  I'm not really sure of the

19  formalities of what I was going to say, because I

20  didn't even really know that it was going to be

21  held -- heard today with the denial of the

22  licenses.

23     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  We are having trouble

24  hearing you.  The attorney is also having some

25  trouble hearing you.  Can you just speak again
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1  passes.  Thank you for your participation.

2     On to 10.2, please.

3     MR. WOODS:  Yes, ma'am.  10.2 is Ignacio Dario

4  Gonzalez.  This is Case Number 2023-025819.  This

5  is a case in which the offense is a petit theft out

6  of 2014.  This initially was not disclosed.  The

7  recommendation is that the Commission authorize the

8  issuance of a notice of intent to deny.

9     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  Again this is

10  slot applicant -- application; is that correct?

11     MR. WOODS:  The application is for, I'm sorry,

12  a slot, cardroom, pari-mutuel individual

13  combination license, yes.

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  It involves petit theft,

15  but with that if there are no discussion, can we

16  please get a motion to approve the notice of intent

17  to deny.

18     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Make a motion to

19  approve.

20     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Is there a second?

21     COMMISSIONER REPP:  Second.

22     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

23     (Aye response)

24     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Motion passes.  Thank you.

25     10.3.
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1     MR. WOODS:  Yes, ma'am.  10.3 is Lorie Denise

2  Whitfield.  This is Case Number 2023-031184.

3     Ms. Whitfield applied for a cardroom employee

4  occupational license.  The offense in this case was

5  counterfeiting prescriptions.  Essentially she

6  stated that she had this addiction to Ambien and on

7  eight separate occasions she admitted to having

8  stolen the prescriptions.  And she said she did

9  this in order to make sure she wouldn't run out and

10  be without the -- be without the drug.

11     The recommendation is that the Commission

12  authorize the issuance of a notice of intent to

13  deny.

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  And, again,

15  this is another theft situation and it was right

16  to -- the consistency of our voting record here.

17  So if there are no questions, can we please get a

18  motion of the notice of intent to deny this item.

19     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  So moved.

20     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Second?

21     COMMISSIONER REPP:  Second.

22     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Any discussion?  All those

23  in favor say aye.

24     (Aye response)

25     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  Item 10.4,
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1  two separate counts fleeing and eluding, both

2  occurred on the same day, one was the aggravated

3  fleeing and eluding and one was the fleeing and

4  eluding where you merely disregard an order to

5  stop.

6     The aggravating fleeing and eluding was the

7  one that he did at a high speed chase at one point

8  up to a hundred miles an hour.  He actually had to

9  be stopped with Stop Sticks that deflated his

10  tires.

11     The recommendation is that the Commission

12  authorize the issuance of a notice of intent to

13  deny.

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, and I appreciate

15  the great details too.

16     Commissioners, any questions?  None.  We're

17  ready for a motion to approve the staff rec.

18     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I'll make a motion to

19  approve.

20     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Is there a second?

21     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Second.

22     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

23     (Aye response)

24     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  On to 10.6.

25     MR. WOODS:  Yes, ma'am.  10.6, this is
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1  Meshika Latrice Anderson.  This is Case Number

2  2023-038380.  She applied for a slot machine,

3  pari-mutuel combination occupational license.

4  There were several disqualifying offenses, not all

5  of which were reported initially.

6     There was a child abuse conviction that was

7  not recorded and on top of that in 1993 there's a

8  cocaine possession with intent.  This is a felony,

9  second degree felony, and there's also petit theft

10  in addition to the child abuse charges.

11     The recommendation is that the Commission

12  authorize the issuance of a notice of intent to

13  deny.

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.

15     Any questions on this item, if not -- all

16  right, for a motion.

17     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  So moved.

18     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Is there a second?

19     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Second.

20     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

21     (Aye response)

22     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  The last one,

23  10.7.

24     MR. WOODS:  Yes, ma'am.  10.7 is

25  Cherri Christine Behnke Samson.  This is Case
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1  Number 2023-045367.  She applied for a slot

2  machine, cardroom, pari-mutuel combination

3  occupational license.

4     The charge is an unlawful use of a building.

5  This came out of Indiana.  Essentially this is a

6  case -- the unlawful use of a building was that the

7  building was used either to manufacture or deliver

8  a controlled substance, which in this case was

9  cocaine.

10     And the recommendation is that the Commission

11  authorize the issuance of a notice of intent to

12  deny.

13     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  And there is an

14  additional theft charge, smaller crimes, that I

15  don't think reached a felony in other states in

16  Georgia; is that correct?

17     MR. WOODS:  The -- there were additional

18  crimes.  There was a plea of nolo contendere,

19  resisting without violence, adjudication withheld,

20  that was 2010.

21     There's also a 2004 possession of controlled

22  substance, disposition unknown according to the FBI

23  data, and there is a DUI for which adjudication was

24  withheld, and she was sentenced to 12 months

25  probation.
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1     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.

2     Commissioners, any questions on this item?

3  All right.  Can we get a motion on the last item,

4  10.7?

5     COMMISSIONER REPP:  Motion to approve the

6  recommendation.

7     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Second.

8     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All those in favor say aye.

9     (Aye response)

10     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you and thank you,

11  guys, for your time today and for the work that was

12  involved in these items.

13     We are on to Item 11, which is a presentation

14  on rulemaking.  Ms. Stinson.

15     MS. STINSON:  Good morning.  This presentation

16  on rulemaking is just going to be a broad overview

17  of the rulemaking process and how the Commission is

18  going to -- is going to participate or can

19  participate and how the Commission has participated

20  in the past.

21     In an effort to make this as -- in an effort

22  to make this not dry, I'm going to talk about

23  things that we've already done as a Commission,

24  because otherwise it's just rulemaking and I think

25  I'm the only one here that's interested in what 120
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1  says on that subject.

2     So Step 1 is initiating rule development.

3  This is where commissioners direct staff to

4  initiate rulemaking on a particular topic for a

5  particular rule, and we have done that in multiple

6  instances already.

7     The Commission has directed staff to initiate

8  rulemaking on the most recently slot machine

9  gaming, particularly cashless wagering.  We've also

10  done it on public comment, licensure applications,

11  and cleaning up the Greyhound rules.

12     So after the initiation of rule development,

13  Step 2 is when we file a notice of rule

14  development, and this alerts the public that we are

15  going to start the rulemaking process.  This is a

16  notice that's filed in the Florida Administrative

17  Register and it includes the rule number and the

18  rule title.

19     The purpose and effect of what we're doing,

20  what our objective is, the subject area that's

21  going to be addressed, and the rulemaking authority

22  and the law implemented, which is important because

23  we cannot promulgate rules that we don't have the

24  statutory authority to implement.  So unless the

25  legislature says that we can adopt a rule, we
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1  cannot do that.  We have to go by what the

2  legislature wants us to do.

3     And after the notice of rule development,

4  there is a workshop that can be held.  This is

5  something that doesn't always happen.  We saw that

6  with our public comment rule.  The public comment

7  rule was very basic straightforward.  It set forth

8  what we were going to be doing as a Commission in

9  terms of how the public can make comments on our

10  Commission meetings.  And this -- so there was no

11  workshop that was requested by the public.

12     The public can request a workshop or like we

13  did in the slot machine gaming and cashless

14  wagering instance is when we file a notice of rule

15  development, we can also at the same time file a

16  notice of workshop, which is what we did.  We're

17  going to be having the workshop on slot machine

18  gaming and cashless wagering on September 21st down

19  in Fort Lauderdale, and that puts the public on

20  notice that we are seeking their comments on this

21  rule.

22     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  If I may if you don't mind

23  stopping (inaudible).  That September 21st, first

24  it will be noticed not just in the FAR, it will

25  also be noticed on our website and it will also be
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1  noticed in newspapers or publication --

2     MS. STINSON:  So the requirement in 120 is

3  that it be noticed in the FAR 14 days in advance.

4  I know that we are planning to also put that

5  information on our website, but at this time it's

6  been noticed in the FAR.

7     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Then can -- will the public

8  be able to participate virtually or telephonically?

9  I know it's an area of interest commissioners have

10  expressed as well, but -- so I was wondering if

11  there was additional means to participate in that

12  (inaudible).

13     MS. STINSON:  At this time I don't have the --

14  that answer.  I know that in the notice it was --

15  the address was given and the participation was in

16  person.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Sorry for interrupting.  Go

18  ahead.

19     MS. STINSON:  So after the workshop like the

20  one we're going to be holding on the 21st -- well,

21  let's step back for a second.

22     So if a member of the public requests a

23  workshop, the Commission can do two different

24  things.  They can decide to hold a workshop or they

25  can issue a statement saying that they don't think
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1  that a workshop is necessary.

2     If that happens that doesn't mean that that

3  issue goes away potentially, it's just a --

4  there -- a judge can find later on that the

5  Commission did need to hold a workshop.  So we

6  would need to be very thoughtful in that

7  decision-making process.  Not that we aren't in

8  normal times, but it's very tricky if you deny

9  someone an opportunity for a workshop and that

10  could hold things up later.

11     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Are we legally required to

12  record and transcribe workshops and rulemake -- I

13  think rulemaking, but workshops or both?

14     MS. STINSON:  So there -- there are statutory

15  requirements sent out in Chapter 120 for how a

16  workshop has to be conducted and the requirements

17  for that.

18     And so after a workshop, we take the public's

19  comments into consideration and the Commission

20  issues a notice of proposed rule, and this is

21  something that the Commission can delegate.

22     And this -- but at the Commission meeting the

23  public comment rule was reviewed by the

24  commissioners and public comment rule was -- the

25  Commission moved to adopt public comment rule and
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1  that is -- that's a very important part of the

2  rulemaking process, because that notice of proposed

3  rule that has been sent out is the rule that is --

4  we are moving to adopt.  At this point that is the

5  actual literal rule test that we want to use to

6  regulate this industry.

7     So the Commission approves the rule text for

8  the public comment rule and then after that there

9  are certain things that are required to be put in

10  the notice, the rule number and rule title, summary

11  of the rule, the summary of the statement of

12  estimated regulatory costs, if that's required by

13  statute, and then again the rulemaking authority

14  and the rule implemented.

15     Additionally there is also a statement

16  required regarding how someone can request a

17  hearing and then the contact information and the

18  full rule text.

19     So after the notice of proposed rule is

20  issued, is noticed in the FAR, we have to file

21  information with JAPC, which is the Joint

22  Administrative Procedures Committee.  Any time when

23  you're talking about rulemaking in Chapter 120 and

24  you see the term committee, that is what JAPC, or

25  the Joint Administrative Rule -- Procedures
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1  Committee is and they -- they are there to check

2  and make sure that we're doing it.  They're a

3  secondary check basically that's built in per

4  statute.

5     And after JAPC says everything's okay, they

6  certify the rule, and then rule adoption happens.

7  And this is something where the Commission has put

8  the proposed rule text out for public to see and

9  then the -- there's comments, there's all of this

10  procedure that goes on.  People, JAPC, reviews the

11  rule and then the Commission decides if they're

12  going to adopt the rule.

13     And so this is another thing that cannot be

14  delegated.  The Commission -- the agency has to

15  move to adopt the rule.  There's certain time line

16  requirements.  There's certain rules set out in

17  Chapter 1-1 that have to be followed in terms of

18  the rule time line and what paperwork we file and

19  how we file that.

20     But that -- after the rule is filed for

21  adoption, the -- there -- so for instance in the

22  public comment rule, September 5th we filed the

23  public comment rule for adoption.  And so 20 days

24  after that rule is filed with the Department of

25  State, it will become effective.  So on
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1  September 25th we will have our public comment

2  rule -- that's its effective date.

3     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Do you want --

4     MS. STINSON:  Oh, no, you're -- thank you.

5     So like I said there's certain things that

6  cannot be delegated that are Commission specific

7  actions.  These are delegate -- these are the

8  proposed rule stage and the filing of the rule for

9  adoption or approving the rule for adoption.

10     Those are really where the Commission is vital

11  to the process and takes all the comments and

12  everything that the public has made into

13  consideration at those two points.

14     As far as current rulemaking activities, I've

15  kind of already gone over that, so I don't want to

16  waste time unless somebody wants to hear that

17  again, but that's basically a very broad overview

18  of the rulemaking process.

19     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Ms. Stinson, for

20  the overview.

21     Does anybody have any questions for her?

22     Thank you.  Thank you very much.  Appreciate

23  it.

24     We are moving on to discussion of policies and

25  procedures.  We have two that are being proposed,

88



Page 85
1  12.1 and 12.2.

2     MR. TROMBETTA:  Thank you, Vice Chair Brown.

3     So, yeah, as you mentioned we have two

4  policies.  I'm going to ask Lisa to help me again

5  on this, but we do -- the first policy is our

6  travel policy.  It covers sort of the process of

7  how travel should be initiated and approved.  It

8  also lays out some of the guidelines on what's an

9  acceptable expense, the cost -- the allowance for

10  per diem.

11     And we modeled a lot of this based on DMS kind

12  of standard travel language, but at this point we

13  don't have our own policy.  So this is, you know,

14  again one of our policies that will be used a lot.

15     Lisa, anything to add?

16     MS. MUSTAIN:  No, sir.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.

18     Commissioner D'Aquila.

19     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  With regard to the

20  dollar amounts, are those from the State,

21  specifically per diem, room rate numbers and so

22  forth?

23     MS. MUSTAIN:  That's specified by statute.

24     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  In writing policies

25  today considering the inflationary times that we
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1  live in and so forth, is it more commonplace to

2  write them referring to the published state rate so

3  to speak, similar to how the Internal Revenue

4  Service refers to the IFR rate for determining an

5  arm's length interest rate, so forth?

6     MS. MUSTAIN:  It could be managed that way,

7  yes.

8     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Just a suggestion for,

9  you know, eliminating more administrative work in

10  the future, confusion, with regard to the dollar

11  amounts.  Someone made a comment earlier today that

12  we could expect the rate to go up compared to

13  (inaudible) a year ago.  I'm really dating myself

14  with these comments.  For those of us that lived

15  the early '80s, I think you know what I'm talking

16  about.

17     MS. MUSTAIN:  Yes.  So the intent was to put

18  the memorandum in so that employees could see the

19  actual memorandum that the comptroller put out, so

20  that was the intent to add them into the policy,

21  but we can slowly take a look at changing that

22  method.

23     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you,

24  Commissioner A'Quila.  I think that does make sense

25  and maybe, you know, say it in parentheses --
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1  because I know at the end of the policy it says the

2  date that it's implemented, maybe parentheses what

3  the current rate is at the time, but I think your

4  suggestion is probably more (inaudible).

5     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Might lead to less

6  confusion.  I have a second question, if I may.

7     The second question pertains to with regard to

8  airline usage, travel.  Today so many things --

9  there are all kinds of new fees.  We have discount

10  carriers that we encourage employees to use, but

11  they charge various different rates, something as

12  simple as a carry-on item or a mandatory purchase

13  of a seat and so forth.  I believe when I read the

14  policy, it's silent in the methods.  Could we

15  address that considering the frequency of which

16  they're popping up?

17     MR. TROMBETTA:  So, Commissioner D'Aquila, I

18  think we could specifically address that if you'd

19  like.  You know, when we discuss these policies

20  the -- the overarching principle is as, you know,

21  good stewards of state resources, we should just

22  use the most economical travel options.

23     So if -- you know, I laugh at some of the fees

24  that some of the airlines are charging now, but I

25  think, you know, instead of -- the decision was
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1  instead of kind of addressing it, just say -- you

2  know, just -- just be cognizant and use the

3  cheapest method as possible.

4     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I bring it up again

5  from -- we're all interested in minimizing

6  administrative costs and the inconvenience of our

7  loyal state employees.  And I've had direct

8  experience where these have led to numerous emails

9  back and forth trying to understand when in

10  actuality (inaudible) the transaction was that even

11  with the seat chart or the carry-on charge,

12  (inaudible) substantially less.

13     But I think absent our -- an organization such

14  as ours absent, you know, more thorough guidance,

15  it leads to back and forth overriding the

16  utilization of judgment, that's all.  It could be

17  clarified by an added sentence perhaps.

18     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Mr. Trombetta.

19     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yes, ma'am.

20     So just for clarity, would you like us to do

21  that to address the issue of -- just adding

22  something to address this issue?

23     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  I will leave it to my

24  fellow commissioners.  If you think it's worthwhile

25  or am I just being an accountant?
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1     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  No.

2     Commissioner Drago -- we've all experienced it

3  I'm sure.

4     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  We're glad you're an

5  accountant, because I'm learning a lot just sitting

6  here listening to you.

7     So do we have a choice in that was going to be

8  my -- or is this DMS rules that we have to follow

9  and they decide or it's statutorily decided what

10  fees can be paid and whatnot and so forth or can we

11  make those decisions within the agency?

12     MS. MUSTAIN:  Commissioner, I think it depends

13  on -- on the travel and the -- it doesn't

14  specifically say in the statute how many bags of

15  luggage you can bring.  This -- this particular

16  policy is trying to give us guidance on.

17     It depends on your situation.  If there is a

18  traveler that has -- is going to an event that may

19  be carrying boxes of items, then of course the

20  state will reimburse.  But if it's a person going

21  to a conference and they want to take three bags of

22  clothing, then that would not be an acceptable use

23  of state funds.

24     So it's -- it's use your best judgment and to

25  say again what Executive Director Trombetta
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1  provided was you always have to travel in the best

2  most economical method available for the state.

3     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Mr. Marshman.

4     MR. MARSHMAN:  Good morning.  There is a

5  statutory provision that allows the agency head to

6  set a threshold for airline travel.

7     So to put a final point on what Ms. Mustain

8  and Mr. Trombetta is stating, it is well within

9  your authority to set a range or flexible metric,

10  to Commissioner A'Quila's point, that can be used

11  to take into account discounts airlines, big name

12  airlines, however you'd like us to phrase it.  So

13  we absolutely can do that and add it specifically

14  into our policy.

15     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioners.

16     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  So, yes, so I think

17  that's -- that's a very good idea then,

18  Commissioner, to look into that, because it does

19  come up.  And as Commissioner A'Quila said, you get

20  the lowest rate by hundreds of dollars perhaps, but

21  you have to pay another $20 for this bag or $20 to

22  pick a seat so you don't have to sit on the wing I

23  guess or something, I don't know.

24     But you -- it's still going to be a hundred

25  dollars or more -- less than the other carriers,
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1  it's just that they put all these other fees in

2  there and it appears perhaps to somebody that the

3  traveler is just adding all these luxuries onto it,

4  but in fact it's not.

5     So I'm glad to hear that we can -- from within

6  our agency we can decide how to -- how to regulate

7  that and of course make sure that we're -- we're

8  doing it at the lowest price possible.

9     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Ms. Mustain, would it be

10  appropriate if we just take -- do we necessarily

11  have to approve 12.1 today?  12.2 seems a lot more

12  straightforward, but 12.1 if commissioners could

13  give you some feedback and then come back next

14  month or whenever?

15     MS. MUSTAIN:  Yes, that'd be fine.

16     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  That would be better.

17  Commissioners, if you have some further comments

18  that you want to provide, get with Ms. Mustain and

19  we'll see it again, at least I hope.

20     THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Thank you.

21     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.

22     Do we have any questions on 12.2?  Okay.  Can

23  we get a motion to approve that policy?

24     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Make a motion to

25  approve 12.2.
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1     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Is there a second?

2     COMMISSIONER REPP:  I'll second.

3     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you,

4  Commissioner Repp.  All those in favor say aye.

5     (Aye response)

6     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  All right.  It passes.  Are

7  we going to be putting -- we put those policies on

8  our internal employee website, so that's -- yeah.

9  Wonderful.  Thank you.  I know you send it out,

10  but -- okay.  Great.  Thank you.

11     We're going back to executive director's

12  update.  Thank you.

13     MR. TROMBETTA:  Thank you.  So I have a few

14  things -- some of it's already been covered, but

15  just might as well cover it again.

16     So as Ms. Stinson just said, we have a

17  workshop scheduled for September 21st in South

18  Florida to address cashless wagering.  Obviously we

19  chose South Florida, because that's where the slot

20  facilities are.

21     So the goal there is to have a meeting, get

22  some feedback from them on sort of what they are

23  seeking in more detail than just cashless, and then

24  kind of take that feedback and start putting

25  together some type of draft rule and proceed in the
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1  rulemaking process.

2     The question came up about virtual attendance.

3  I think the notice does not include that, but

4  obviously you guys are welcome to attend.  It might

5  be a good opportunity to just get down there and

6  get some of the feedback that's in the room and I

7  will work with my staff to see if we can kind of

8  work on the virtual thing maybe for future meetings

9  if it's not possible for this one.

10     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Sounds good.  Is there a

11  way that we can videotape it so that we -- folks

12  can go back and --

13     MR. TROMBETTA:  There will be a transcript.

14  There will be a court reporter, you know, providing

15  a transcript.  I believe you could tape record it,

16  but let me -- I don't know the answer, so let me

17  look into that if I can.  I'll try to explore that.

18     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  I think that will be

19  helpful.

20     MR. TROMBETTA:  Second, this also came up in

21  the rule presentation, our public comment rule has

22  been -- we moved for adoption and it will become

23  effective September 25th.

24     So I think it's a good example of just how

25  long rulemaking can take, you know, this is -- this
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1  was a rule that did not have a workshop, it didn't

2  have a hearing, and it still took several months to

3  get adopted and no -- not because of any delay

4  caused by us either.  There's just -- there's time

5  periods that we have to wait in order to get things

6  moving, but the good news is that we are going to

7  have our public comment rule in effect prior to our

8  next meeting.

9     Several of -- I just want to provide sort of

10  an update on our report portal.  So as you all are

11  aware we have a portal where citizens can report

12  problems they're having with regulated facilities

13  as well as any type of illegal activity.

14     I've gone through some of the stats.  We've

15  been doing this for over a year now.  We have over

16  2,400 reports of some type of -- they're not all

17  illegal activity.  It's a mix again of everything

18  and everything is illegal stuff, you know, hey,

19  there's an illegal slot facility at this address

20  or, hey -- you know, my -- my significant other is

21  losing all of our money at these places.

22     There's stuff about problems people are having

23  at pari-mutuel facilities, not that it's happening

24  all over the place, but just, you know, how does

25  this work.  We're getting questions too, is this
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1  legal, can I run a poker game, you know, the

2  questions are all over the place.

3     Our team does a good job of filtering them and

4  I'm in the process of hiring a full time -- we're

5  going to publish and try to get a full-time

6  position to help respond to that.

7     The number of complaints has dramatically

8  increased as a few things have happened, so as

9  Director Herold and our law enforcement team have

10  got up and running and as our -- our external

11  affairs department has been kicked in gear.

12     So one of the stats that jumped out was in

13  April there was 125 new incidents reported, in May

14  there was 525.  So between April and May we had our

15  operation -- our law enforcement conducting

16  operation in -- around the state made a lot of

17  news, so word got out there and since that time,

18  the average has been about 250 a month.

19     So -- so we've gone from, you know, just over

20  a hundred to averaging about 250 a month and, you

21  know, it obviously jumped right away, came back

22  down, and then it's kind of leveled out at about

23  250.

24     Overall we're doing -- you know, I think I'm

25  pretty happy with our first year just getting our
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1  message out.  You know, one of the things we're

2  working on is improving our communication with the

3  public and our messaging and just having a greater,

4  you know -- Commissioner A'Quila, I think you

5  mentioned the misinformation, you know, tackling

6  that.

7     Because a lot of the questions we get on that

8  why is this illegal, is this game legal, or is this

9  slot machine legal, so we're trying to work on that

10  and trying to address some of that and respond to

11  these complaints.

12     Just so you're aware, we do handle all of

13  them.  We have -- right now it's getting split

14  between -- you know, if it's an issue with the

15  regulated facilities, it kind of goes to Joe's

16  shop.  If it's an issue on law enforcement side, it

17  goes through Carl's shop, Joe Dillmore and

18  Carl Herold, sorry.

19     So we are doing a good job responding to that,

20  but if you have any questions on that I wanted to

21  start there.

22     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioner A'Quila.

23     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Yes.  Of this 250

24  average, can you, just a rough estimate, what the

25  percentage of the nature of the complaints is, for
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1  example is it arcades, is it sports gambling, what

2  might it be?

3     MR. TROMBETTA:  So we're working on our

4  internal kind of data retention and what -- what

5  data we can pull from this information.  What I can

6  tell you is that when we have -- of the 2,400, I

7  think about 1,900 of them deal with some type of

8  illegal activity.  I don't know the percentage in

9  my head, but that should give you an idea of kind

10  of the spread just in total.  So I don't -- it

11  would be interesting to look back since May what

12  the percentage is, but the total number of that

13  2,400, about 1,900...

14     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  When we use the term

15  illegal activity, do we mean illegal slot machines

16  or --

17     MR. TROMBETTA:  Not necessarily.  So we're

18  also getting complaints about other types of

19  illegal activity from -- from poker games at bars

20  to potentially online -- some type of online

21  activity.

22     It's really -- you know, the gamut of what is

23  illegal gambling has surpassed kind of my initial

24  expectation of what we're going to get.  It's all

25  over the place.
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1     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Second question is --

2  pertains to where are we with regard to press

3  releases that we as an Agency Commission

4  (inaudible) more specifically addresses some of the

5  (inaudible) in free press out there

6  pertaining to --

7     MR. TROMBETTA:  Well, so we are able to do it.

8  We kind of make a decision on whether or not it's

9  -- I work with our communication team on whether or

10  not a press release is sort of going to be worth it

11  at the time, so we have issued a few.

12     The most common ways that we do it is when we

13  work with other law enforcement agencies that are

14  conducting some type of activity and we know that

15  we're going to get some type of ask, but we are

16  able to do it.

17     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  My last question.

18  First of all, we've done a very thorough listing

19  numerous FAQs.  Thank you all for participating in

20  that.  It's something this Commission has asked for

21  since the very beginning and I think it's very

22  helpful, but then what happens is we've got so

23  many -- it's the user interface with regard to the

24  public as we get more complaints and so forth.

25     I would like to know that you're looking at
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1  whether the term be (inaudible) return from tech

2  area, whether it be a white paper or a basic

3  overview, nonlegal opinion overview of what is an

4  arcade game, what is historical horse racing, what

5  is a regulated game perhaps, you know, one page or

6  something of that sort that might take some

7  pressure off the complaints or make it easier for

8  our team, whether they be in South Florida, or

9  wherever, that they can go to our site and get a

10  technically correct written, but it's not enough to

11  issue a legal opinion, if I explained that

12  correctly.

13     MR. TROMBETTA:  You are, and the concept has

14  come up and it's something that I do want to

15  explore.  The difficulty for state agencies in

16  doing this is -- is sort of what (inaudible), but

17  the -- the risk of having an unadopted rule.

18     The agency has to be very careful in how they

19  state the law and I think it would be hard to

20  have -- you know, it's essentially where's the line

21  and how do we balance the need for information and

22  like you -- like you just said a technical

23  explanation without misstating or, you know,

24  misinterpreting Florida law in a way that could

25  lead to some type of rule challenge.
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1     You know, if any agency misstates or modifies

2  or contravenes the language in the statute, they

3  are subject to potential unadopted rule challenges,

4  which is something we -- you know, we don't -- we

5  want to avoid that where we can, but I do

6  understand your -- your ask and something that I

7  think would be helpful.

8     So we're -- we're trying to find ways, whether

9  it's through additional FAQs or some type of

10  supplemental -- actually like you said one page, I

11  don't know if opinion is the right word but some

12  type of document that kind of goes into a little

13  bit more detail about what an item is.

14     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Would disclosures,

15  limitations, so forth I -- the volume of questions

16  that I've received or read about out there and now

17  that as you've heard earlier law enforcement folks

18  are actively involved in investigations and so

19  forth, you know, the public's interest is

20  increasing.  You've just proven that point.

21     And the quest for information and getting

22  around the confusion is growing by the day, so we

23  have an opportunity to do something about it

24  otherwise we are going to be overwhelmed.  There

25  are a lot of people out there that are just
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1  unclear.  That's the nature of my question.

2     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  Thank you,

3  Mr. Trombetta.

4     The analyst position that your -- to sort

5  through the complaint portal, I just want to make

6  sure that -- is that going to be -- I think our --

7  having our external affairs director kind of make

8  sure that all of the responses are kind of

9  consistent.

10     He's out there.  You know, I think it would be

11  great to have that person filter through him, so

12  that Mr. Carr can coordinate with whether it's the

13  regulatory side or the law enforcement side to make

14  sure the message is -- is clear if -- you know,

15  seeing the material that he's produced so far, it's

16  great.

17     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yeah, absolutely.  It's a

18  great idea and I think we can actually do that.

19     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioner Drago.

20     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  I'm glad to hear that

21  you're going to have another employee that's going

22  to deal with this, because it will become

23  overwhelming I think at some point.  The better job

24  all of you do, the more interest and the more

25  complaints you get and the more proactive you are
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1  the more people respond to that.

2     My concern is that we're always ensuring that

3  we have a procedure whereby we respond to people

4  making these reports in a timely matter, that we

5  don't just take it and maybe -- maybe they hear

6  from us, maybe they don't.  If nothing comes, then

7  we don't respond and they think we're ignoring

8  them.  That would be the most devastating thing to

9  the reporting process we could do.

10     So I'm hoping that we have some system or

11  procedure or a way of dealing with those so that

12  we -- we always respond in a certain amount of

13  time, even if it's just we got your message and

14  we're looking into it, we're responding, you know,

15  however long we designate.

16     But I think it's just really important that we

17  -- that people know that we are taking a complaint

18  and whether it goes anywhere or not, they get a

19  response in the end as well.  Because that will

20  crush the reporting process if people -- the word

21  gets out don't bother reporting anything because

22  they don't even answer you so -- and that could

23  happen easily in large agencies where they start

24  getting swamped with calls and so forth.

25     So that's my concern and I hope that we're
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1  tracking that, you know, that we got a report on

2  such-and-such a day, we responded on such-and-such

3  a day, it was closed out on such-and-such a day so

4  that we can track that and we can also look at that

5  every year in terms of how fast -- our objectives

6  to how fast we are responding to people and whether

7  or not we're improving in that or falling behind in

8  that.

9     So I think a tracking of that is really

10  critical to be able to analyze, because I will also

11  tell you a lot of things -- one thing we need more

12  people to address these -- these reports because we

13  can't handle them quick enough or -- or we -- or

14  we're mishandling the reports and therefore not

15  getting back to people or we're just ignoring

16  people.

17     So have we got something like that in the

18  works, are we doing that now, or, you know, what do

19  you think about that?

20     MR. TROMBETTA:  Commissioner Drago, we are.

21  We -- we have a system in place in which we -- when

22  we get a report, it gets essentially imported into

23  document.  And then any time anybody that's on my

24  team does something related to that report, whether

25  it's immediate response -- we usually will respond
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1  right away we've received your report type thing,

2  and then there will be additional follow-up, that

3  will all be logged.

4     So we do have a process of doing that and it

5  is something, I agree with you, that's important

6  that we have to stay on top of.  I'm hoping too

7  that when we bring this person in they can kind of

8  look at the whole thing and any input they have

9  on -- on the process in general, you know, that

10  they can have some input on that.

11     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Do we have a set time

12  that -- that our staff responds?  Do we have a goal

13  or objective that our staff will respond and so

14  many days or hours or whatever it is?

15     Because my fear is that language is out there

16  and people don't get -- don't get to it, they get

17  busy, they don't respond for two weeks or whatever

18  and that's the message -- that's the message that

19  reportee gets -- reporter is getting that they

20  don't really care.

21     MR. TROMBETTA:  I can look into that.  Let me

22  -- maybe I can get a stat on it too about like the

23  average time.  Let me try to look into that and get

24  back to you.

25     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Yeah.  I mean, I think
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1  that -- you know, I think staff needs to understand

2  it has to be responded in a certain amount of time.

3  I think that's critical and that it's not just put

4  somewhere and they get to it when they get to it.

5     These are -- the initial response needs to be

6  done in a certain amount of time and then the

7  conclusion -- we need to reach a conclusion in a

8  certain amount of time.

9     If we don't and there's a reason for it, like

10  it turned into Carl's long-term investigation,

11  we're not going to get done for months, we address

12  it that way, but I think that it's -- it's

13  important that everybody understands that there is

14  a timeliness issue that we need to follow.

15     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yes, sir.

16     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you,

17  Commissioner Drago.  I think having that external

18  affairs oversight too will keep that process in

19  line and on track.  And again having a consistent

20  message with the public interface and agency, I

21  think that's why it's so critical having that

22  external affairs involved in this process.

23     MR. HEROLD:  Chair, do you mind -- do you mind

24  if I just add a little more info just to

25  Commissioner Drago's question about the response.
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1     MR. MARSHMAN:  Morning again.  HISA and HIWU

2  copies me on all their communications to the

3  Commission, so I've had firsthand experience

4  reviewing the communications.

5     It's fair to say we get weekly communications

6  if not almost daily from HISA and HIWU.  They

7  provide us all the detail, they provide any

8  clarification from previous communications.  We

9  didn't even ask for it.

10     So they've been, I think, more than complying

11  with their requirement to share information with us

12  both before and after certain information is made

13  publicly available.  So I think it's fair to say

14  they're upholding their end of the bargain and

15  treating us as an interested party according to

16  their rules.

17     Mr. Dillmore's shop has been keeping more

18  specific track of some of the cases, so I'd like to

19  ask him to provide any additional details there.

20     MR. DILLMORE:  I would concur with

21  Mr. Marshman's assessment.  We have been getting

22  notifications very quickly.  In fact I think the

23  most interesting thing is typically we have drug

24  positive under the Florida law previously.  We

25  would just have that jockey -- or that horse, I'm
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1  sorry.  It was -- then tested positive for -- in

2  Florida, now we're getting drug positives from any

3  jurisdiction in the state as soon as they happen.

4  So it's been a quite interesting development and

5  one that we can't necessarily anticipate from the

6  get-go.  But it's been actually more information

7  than we were getting previously and quicker.

8     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  My question was on the

9  number pertaining to Florida prior -- in the past

10  we only received Florida.  Is there -- are we able

11  to draw a comparison to the number of positives

12  that might be coming up as conducted by HISA and

13  their lab, which I believe is located out of state,

14  and historic what we were accustomed to seeing in

15  the state of Florida?

16     MR. DILLMORE:  Yes.  It's certainly early to

17  tell, but we are getting drug positive in Florida.

18  It is kind of our slower part of the race season,

19  so we only have a handful so far of the drug

20  positives identified since HIWU and HISA regulation

21  went into place.  I think it's a little too early

22  to draw a real strong conclusion on that.

23     COMMISSIONER A'QUILA:  Thank you.

24     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  And I just want

25  to give our court -- I know we're at two-hour mark.
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1  We're wrapping up before public comments.  We'll be

2  taking a break shortly.

3     But on the HISA note, HIWU, when there's a

4  drug positive, what are we doing in terms of our

5  licensing?  Are they revoking -- is the federal

6  preemption revoking their license throughout the

7  multistate jurisdictions that they hold licenses

8  and then how are we involved at all?

9     MR. DILLMORE:  So typically their suspensions

10  are -- with the HISA registration that they have to

11  have current with HISA once you enter a race.  So

12  right now those individuals or trainers or jockeys,

13  depending on the violation, would be restricted at

14  the track level from being able to enter into a

15  contest.

16     At this time --

17     Mr. Marshman, you may explore this.

18     -- we don't necessarily have something in line

19  with a license -- that we coincide with a license

20  suspension in Florida, but it's kind of monitored

21  at the race entry level participation.

22     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  And communicated to the

23  tracks?

24     MR. DILLMORE:  Yes.  Racing secretary who

25  enters contestants or jockeys into the race would
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1  have to check their registration and if any

2  violation, the tracks are notified as well as us if

3  any violations of HISA or HIWU and it's also

4  incumbent on them to keep their stats up is to

5  review the HISA registrant into each individual

6  race.

7     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Their state license, what

8  ultimately happens if they have -- if they're

9  suspended or there's a final order of -- that would

10  revoke them?

11     MR. MARSHMAN:  If I may on that point.  We're

12  currently exploring our options on how we can

13  initiate discipline against a Florida licensee that

14  also has the HISA -- HIWU, HISA registration that

15  Mr. Dillmore is currently talking about.

16     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Are we going -- as a

17  Commission are we going to get a report on that at

18  any point or --

19     MR. MARSHMAN:  A report on what information

20  exactly?

21     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Well, that's what the -- if

22  there's any state regulatory implications for

23  licensees that have been suspended or revoked, are

24  we going to be informed as a Commission?

25     MR. MARSHMAN:  I think once the information
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1  that we have is publicly available, we can compile

2  that and share that with the Commission as it

3  relates to registrants of HISA that also are

4  licensed in the state of Florida.

5     But again to your point, Vice Chair Brown,

6  with preemption that is going to be a hurdle for us

7  to initiate discipline action if the whole concept

8  of discipline has been preempted to the federally

9  created nonprofit corporation HISA.

10     So perhaps in our upcoming legislative session

11  we can propose something to address this issue, but

12  for now we're currently exploring what we can do in

13  the meantime.

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  I want to thank

15  Mr. Dillmore, Ms. Stinson for -- along with my

16  colleague, Commissioner A'Quila, and Mr. Trombetta

17  up at a conference, but particularly, Mr. Dillmore,

18  Ms. Stinson, this was -- this was a hot topic, hot

19  item, and your help and insight was just exemplary.

20  Thank you.

21     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yeah, thank you.  Yeah, on

22  that note we are in the process of putting together

23  legislative proposals.  The plan is to work

24  individually with each of you to get feedback

25  before kind of getting anything out there.  One of
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1  a central location up here in Tallahassee.  It's

2  one of the locations that we're looking at -- or

3  sorry.

4     We're looking at multiple locations.  This is

5  the first one that we're finally done.  The lease

6  is signed and we're all there, so that's a big step

7  in our tools to kind of combat the illegal slot

8  machine problem around the state.

9     And then -- well, any question on that before

10  my final -- okay.  The final thing I have on my

11  agenda essentially meeting dates, so first the time

12  for the virtual meeting Friday.  Is there a

13  specific time that would work best for you?

14     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Whatever -- 9:30 is

15  consistent if it's okay, 9:30, with you all.

16     MR. TROMBETTA:  Perfect.

17     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  And just to confirm, that's

18  September 15, 9:30?

19     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yes, ma'am, September 15.

20     And then beyond that, we have previously

21  identified dates in October.  I think we did

22  August, September, October previously.  So I'd like

23  to discuss potentially November, December if you

24  are available to do that.

25     We checked -- the PSC room is not available
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1     MR. TROMBETTA:  This room is not available on

2  the 2nd, on November 2nd, but we can find --

3     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Yeah, it's not committee

4  week.  Then did you want December?

5     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yeah.  Well, while we're here,

6  I mean, if you guys -- if it helps the first

7  Thursday in December is the 7th.

8     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  That's good, yep.  Does

9  that work?

10     COMMISSIONER DRAGO:  Yes.

11     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  That's great.  Another

12  committee week, so that's helpful too.  This room

13  will probably be available, but downtown probably

14  won't.

15     Is that all?

16     MR. TROMBETTA:  Yeah, that's all for now

17  unless do you have -- unless there's anything else

18  I can help you with.

19     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Commissioners, any

20  questions of Mr. Trombetta before we move to public

21  comment?

22     I did want to thank the FDLE agent who's in

23  the back providing security here and I appreciate

24  your attendance at our meeting.  Thank you so much.

25     With that if there's anybody from the public
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1  that would like to speak, now is a great time to

2  come right up to the podium.

3     Seeing no public comments, this meeting is

4  going to be adjourned and we are going to be taking

5  a 10-minute break to get ready for our

6  attorney/client privilege session.

7     Is this appropriate, Mr. Trombetta,

8  Mr. Marshman?

9     MR. MARSHMAN:  Yes, ma'am.

10     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  10-minute break, but this

11  meeting is adjourned.  Thank you so much.

12     MR. TROMBETTA:  Just for purposes of the

13  record, I don't think adjourned is the right word.

14     MR. MARSHMAN:  I recommend that we state it as

15  a recess.

16     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  It's a recess for the

17  meeting, but it will be attorney/client meeting in

18  10 minutes only.

19     (Recessed at 11:44 a.m. to 11:59 a.m.)

20     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Good afternoon.  We are

21  reconvening this meeting today on September 7th.

22  The time is 11:59 and we will now go ahead and

23  discuss Agenda Item 15.

24     Mr. Marshman.

25     MR. MARSHMAN:  For the record this is
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1  Ross Marshman.  I desire the Commission's advice

2  concerning litigation in connection with Case

3  Number 2023-000965, Case Style FGCC versus

4  Washington County Kennel Club, Incorporated.

5     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you.  In connection

6  with the performance of our duty to regulate the

7  operation of cardrooms pursuant to Section

8  849.086(4) Florida Statutes, it is necessary that

9  the Florida Gaming Control Commission close this

10  meeting to discuss with our counsel information

11  that is confidential and exempt.

12     Specifically we will be discussing strategy

13  related to pending litigation related to the

14  aforementioned case number.  The closed meeting

15  will be approximately 30 minutes, if not less.  Did

16  I say that...

17     MR. MARSHMAN:  Sure.

18     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  To comply with Section

19  16.716 and 286.011(8)(c) Florida Statutes, there

20  will be a written record of this declaration of the

21  necessity of closure that will be filed with the

22  official records Custodian of the Commission.

23     I will now -- I have asked already that the

24  Florida Channel discontinue the live for the next

25  30 minutes, because this is a closed meeting not
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1 for benefit of the public and it is only with our

2 staff and the Commission.

3   MR. MARSHMAN:  I would also like to note for

4 the record that those in attendance match the list

5 of people that were going to be attending this

6 meeting that was made publicly available on our

7 website.  So we can list those individuals, but

8 it's also for the record.  I don't see anyone here

9 that was not otherwise listed in the public notice.

10   VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Thank you, Mr. Marshman and

11 Ms. Trombetta.  Shall we proceed?

Pursuant to Sections 16.716 and 286.011(8), Florida Statutes. 
This portion of the transcript is confidential and exempt.
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4     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  So we're recessing for five

5  seconds.

6     MR. MARSHMAN:  To state publicly on the

7  record.

8     Just think about it as you're in a transcript.

9  We can read your text in the big black box and then

10  suddenly the lights are going to be flipped back

11  on, you're going to say, hey, my estimate

12  originally was incorrect, so now I'm going to need

13  this additional time.  We're now going back into

14  the shade, so to speak, and then the record goes

15  black again.

16     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  We are going to recess this

17  attorney/client meeting for the purposes of

18  restating that we underestimated a 30-minute window

19  that was allocated.

20     MR. MARSHMAN:  Again, I would now suggest that

21  you state the new estimate on how long you think

22  the remainder of the session will last.

23     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  So now I'm going to restate

24  the new amount of the estimated session with the

25  new -- the extended of the new session of the

148



Page 145
1 attorney/client.

2  MR. MARSHMAN:  The continuation.

3   VICE CHAIR BROWN:  That would be another 45

4 minutes, no less than 45 minutes -- no more than --

5 I haven't eaten, I'm sorry.  No more than 45

6 minutes.  I'm on.  So now we are going to reconvene

7 the attorney/client meeting --

8  MR. MARSHMAN:  But I would like to note out of

9 an abundance of caution who the participants are in

10 this continued closed door meeting for the

11 attorney/client session.

12   VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Yes, for no more than 45

13 minutes.

14   MR. MARSHMAN:  With that in mind,

15 Commissioner Repp is still present,

16 Commissioner A'Quila is still present,

17 Commissioner Brown is still present,

18 Commissioner Drago is still present,

19 Attorney Elizabeth Stinson, Attorney Elina

20 Valentine, Attorney Ross Marshman, also present

21 Executive Director Trombetta, Director Dillmore,

22 Attorney Woods, Attorney Alvarado, they're all

23 still present along with Attorney Campbell, and

24 Attorney Amerdan and Ms. Stacy Martin (ph) and

25 Madam Court Reporter.
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Pursuant to Sections 16.716 and 286.011(8), Florida Statutes. 
This portion of the transcript is confidential and exempt.
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25     VICE CHAIR BROWN:  Seeing nothing further,
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1  this attorney/client meeting is now terminated at

2  1:01.

3     I'm now going to go back onto the record and

4  note that the attorney/client meeting has concluded

5  at 1:01.  All of the participants in the room have

6  not changed since the attorney/client meeting

7  was -- occurred and this hereby concludes the

8  public meeting.

9     (The proceedings concluded at 1:03 p.m.

10   (Proceedings concluded at 1:03 p.m.)
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MUTUAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT 

THIS MUTUAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of 
13th day of June 2023, by and among the Horseracing Integrity and Safety Authority, Inc., a Del-
aware non-profit corporation, 401 West Main Street, Unit 222, Lexington, Kentucky 40507 (the 
“Authority”), the Horseracing Integrity & Welfare Unit, a division of Drug Free Sport, LLC (“Drug 
Free Sport”), a Delaware limited liability company, 4801 Main Street, Suite 350, Kansas City, 
Missouri 64112 (the “Agency”), and the Florida Gaming Control Commission, an agency of the 
Florida State government, 4070 Esplanade Way, Tallahassee, FL 32399 (the “Commission”). As 
used herein, the “Parties” shall mean the Authority, the Agency, and the Commission, collectively; 
and a “Party” shall mean the Authority, the Agency or the Commission, individually. 

WHEREAS, the Authority is a private, independent, self-regulatory, non-profit corporation 
recognized by the Horseracing Integrity and Safety Act of 2020, as amended (the “Act”) for the 
purpose of developing and implementing a horseracing anti-doping and medication control pro-
gram and a racetrack safety program for covered horses, covered persons, and covered horseraces; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 15 USC § 3054(e)(1), the Authority entered into an agreement with 
Drug Free Sport to create an entity to act as the anti-doping and medication control enforcement 
agency for the Authority under the Act; 

WHEREAS, Drug Free Sport created the Agency to act as the anti-doping and medication 
control enforcement agency under the Act and to develop and enforce an independent and uniform 
thoroughbred anti-doping and medication control program (“ADMC Program”); 

WHEREAS, the Commission is the independent agency of state government vested with ju-
risdiction to regulate the conduct of horse racing and pari-mutuel wagering on horse racing and 
related activities within the State of Florida (the “State”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 3054(e)(2)(A)(i), the Authority may enter into an agree-
ment with a state racing commission for services consistent with the enforcement of the racetrack 
safety program (the “Racetrack Safety Program”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 3060, the Authority may to enter into an agreement with 
a state racing commission to implement, within the jurisdiction of racing commission, a compo-
nent of the Racetrack Safety Program; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 3054(e)(2)(A)(ii), the Agency may enter into an agree-
ment with a state racing commission for services consistent with the enforcement of the ADMC 
Program; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 3060, the Authority, with the concurrence of the 
Agency, may enter into an agreement with a state racing commission to implement, within the 
jurisdiction of racing commission, a component of the ADMC Program; 
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WHEREAS, the Authority has determined that the Commission is able to implement certain 
areas of the Racetrack Safety Program in accordance with the rules, standards, and requirements 
established by the Act and the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Agency have determined that the Commission is able to im-
plement certain areas of the ADMC Program in accordance with the rules, standards, and require-
ments established by the Act, the Authority, and the Agency. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants herein contained and other good and 
valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

I. Racetrack Safety Program

1. Purpose and Definitions. The terms used in Section I., “Racetrack Safety Program,” shall mean
the same as they are defined in Horseracing and Integrity and Safety Act of 2020, as amended, as
codified in 15 U.S.C. §§ 3051-3060, and the Authority’s Racetrack Safety (“Safety”) Rules, 87 Fed.
Reg. 435-459 (Jan. 5, 2022). The Authority and the Commission hereby enter into this Agree-
ment, described in 15 U.S.C. § 3054(e)(2)(A)(i), to delineate the guidelines under which the Parties
will cooperate to enforce specified portions of the Racetrack Safety Program.

2. Medical Director.  The Authority shall appoint and employ a Medical Director for the State who
shall carry out the duties and responsibilities set forth in Safety Rule 2132.

3. Safety Director. The Commission has no obligation to implement the requirements set forth in
Safety Rule 2131 because the Racetracks in the State of Florida have assumed this obligation,
including the appointment of a Safety Director.

4. Stewards.  The Commission names and appoints its current stewards as the stewards for the State
of Florida under Safety Rule 2133. The Commission reserves the right to hire additional stewards,
if needed, who will also serve as stewards for purposes of Safety Rule 2133. Any steward hired
by the Commission after the effective date of this Agreement shall have the same authority as
those stewards that were named and appointed previously. The Commission will ensure that all
stewards meet the requirements of Safety Rule 2133(a)-(c), as well as enforce the safety regula-
tions set forth in Safety Rules 2200 through 2293. The Authority agrees to provide training and
guidance to the stewards, at the Authority’s expense, on the enforcement of Safety Rules 2200
through 2293. The Authority agrees that any steward hired by the Commission after the effective
date of this Agreement will not need to be approved by the Authority and that this Agreement will
not need to be amended in that regard. The Commission steward and stewards appointed by Race-
tracks, subject to approval of the Racetrack Safety Committee, make up a board of three. The
enforcement of Safety Rules 2200 through 2293 by the stewards shall constitute action by the Au-
thority.

5. Regulatory Veterinarian. The Commission names and appoints its current veterinarian as the
Regulatory Veterinarian for the State of Florida under Safety Rule 2134. The Commission reserves
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the right to hire additional veterinarians, if needed, who will also serve as Regulatory Veterinarians 
for purposes of Safety Rule 2134. Any veterinarian hired by the Commission after the effective 
date of this Agreement shall be deemed a Regulatory Veterinarian under Safety Rule 2134. The 
Authority agrees that any veterinarian hired by the Commission after the effective date of this 
Agreement does not require approval by the Authority and does not necessitate an amendment to 
this Agreement in that regard. The Commission shall ensure that all Regulatory Veterinarians meet 
the requirements of Safety Rule 2134(a)(1)-(5), as well as carry out only the specific duties enu-
merated in Safety Rule 2135(a) (1), (5) and (11). In accordance with Safety Rule 2135(b), the 
Association Veterinarian will perform the specific duties outlined in Safety Rule 2135(a) (2)-(4), 
and (6)-(10). 

6. Emergency Warning Systems. Once the Authority, or the Racetrack Safety and Welfare Commit-
tee, approves a Racetrack’s emergency warning system, as described in Safety Rule 2153(d), the
Commission agrees to use its best efforts to ensure that the Racetrack maintains the approved
emergency warning system. Furthermore, the Commission agrees to use its best efforts to ensure
that the Racetrack tests its approved emergency warning system as described in Safety Rule
2153(d)(2). The Commission shall provide periodic reports concerning a Racetrack’s maintenance
and testing of its approved emergency warning system as directed by and on forms prescribed by
the Authority.

7. Uniform National Trainers Test. The Authority agrees to develop and provide the Commission
with a uniform National Trainers Test (“test”) as described in Safety Rule 2181. The Commission
agrees to use its best efforts to encourage Racetracks to administer the test and make successful
passage of the test a condition for entry of a Covered Horse.

8. Training Opportunities. The Commission agrees to provide reasonable notice of training oppor-
tunities made available by the Authority or industry organizations to all Florida licensed Racetrack
employees who have roles in racetrack safety or direct contact with Covered Horses.

9. Jockey Drug and Alcohol Testing. Once the Authority, or the Racetrack Safety Committee,
approves a Racetrack’s jockey drug and alcohol testing program (“testing program”), as described
in Safety Rule 2191, the Commission shall use its best efforts to ensure that the Racetrack abides
by the terms of the approved testing program. The Commission shall provide periodic reports
concerning Racetrack’s compliance with the testing program as directed by and on forms pre-
scribed by the Authority.

10. Concussion Management. Once the Authority, or the Racetrack Safety Committee, approves a
Racetrack’s concussion management program (“concussion program”), as described in Safety
Rule 2192, the Commission agrees to use its best efforts to ensure that the Racetrack abides by the
terms of the approved concussion program. The Commission shall provide periodic reports con-
cerning Racetrack’s compliance with the concussion program as directed by and on forms pre-
scribed by the Authority.
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11. Racetrack Safety Program Scope of Work. The scope of work and reporting obligations for the
Racetrack Safety Program under this Agreement are set forth in training provided by the Authority
regarding the Safety Rule 2000 Series and any additional policies and procedures implemented
by the Authority which are consistent with the Act and any regulations approved by the Federal
Trade Commission pursuant to the Act (“HISA Policies”). Copies of HISA Policies shall be com-
municated to the Commission in a manner that allows for timely implementation by the Commis-
sion in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph I.13 below, which may involve regulatory
changes that are subject to review by appropriate administrative or legislative bodies. The Com-
mission and the Authority shall work together to achieve an agreement on the Commission’s role
in implementing and administering any and all Authority policies that are not promulgated as
regulations approved by the Federal Trade Commission. The Commission agrees to provide per-
formance metrics in reasonable detail, upon request by the Authority, and on forms prescribed by
the Authority. The Parties agree to meet and confer on a regular basis, and at least quarterly, to
discuss and collaborate on the effective and efficient implementation and administration of the
Racetrack Safety Program and the duties and responsibilities set forth in this Section.

12. Indemnification. The Authority expressly agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Commission
and its agents or employees from and against any and all claims, loss, damages, injury, liability
and costs, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs, resulting from,
arising out of, or in any way connected with the Racetrack Safety Program Scope of Work as
defined in this Agreement, except to the extent that such liability, loss, expense, attorneys’ fees,
or claims for injury or damages are caused by, or result from, the willful misconduct of the Com-
mission or its employees or agents. Any enforcement actions related to the Racetrack Safety Pro-
gram Scope of Work shall be the responsibility of and shall be defended by the Authority. Any
appeals or challenges to actions taken by Commission agents or employees when enforcing the
Act or federal rules or regulations promulgated pursuant to the Act shall proceed pursuant to the
enforcement rules promulgated pursuant to the Act and shall be defended by the Authority. Not-
withstanding anything set forth in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall not be
construed to waive any immunity under applicable state law, including, but not limited to, sover-
eign or qualified immunity, possessed by the Commission and its agents or employees.

13. Authority Protocols Policies, Procedures, and Forms. The Authority shall provide the Commission
with a copy of all existing amended and new training materials, policies, procedures, and forms.
These documents shall be provided to the Commission’s Executive Director Louis A. Trombetta,
or his successor, with copies to Director of Pari-Mutuel Wagering Joe Dillmore, by email within
72 hours of implementation. The Commission shall be afforded a reasonable time to implement
any such changes once notice of a new policy, protocol, or procedure is provided to the Commis-
sion by the Authority.

14. Reimbursement for Investigations. The Authority agrees to reimburse the Commission for any
actual costs or expenses incurred in connection with any Authority investigation conducted in the
State pursuant to the Racetrack Safety portion of this Agreement, which were incurred over and
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above typical duties that would have been performed in the course of their Commission employ-
ment. This reimbursement is contemplated for at least the following potential costs: the cost of 
using Commission employees as investigators or as witnesses at a hearing or trial (including wit-
ness preparation and testimony), as well as the travel, copying, and other resources utilized or 
expensed in performing these tasks. The Commission agrees to invoice the Authority quarterly 
for such costs and expenses. The Authority agrees to fully pay such invoices within 30 days.  

II. ADMC Program

1. Purpose and Definitions. The terms used in Section II., “ADMC Program,” shall mean the same
as they are defined in Horseracing and Integrity and Safety Act of 2020 (as amended), as codified
in 15 U.S.C. §§ 3051-3060, and the Authority’s Anti-Doping and Medication Control (ADMC)
Rules, 88 Fed. Reg. 5070-5201 (Jan. 26, 2023), which were approved by the Federal Trade Com-
mission on March 27, 2023. The Agency and the Commission hereby enter into this Agreement,
described in 15 U.S.C. § 3054(e)(2)(A)(ii), to delineate the guidelines under which the Parties
will cooperate to enforce specified portions of the ADMC Program.

2. Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel.

(a) The Commission agrees that its personnel currently collecting post-race samples for Covered
Horses in the State of Florida, including, but not limited to, its employees and/or contractors,
will collect certain samples in the State of Florida (the “Agency Samples”) for, and under the
authority of, the Agency in accordance with ADMC Rule Series 3000, (“Equine Anti-Doping
and Controlled Medication Protocol”), ADMC Rules 3131–3140 (collectively referred to as
“Testing and Investigations”), and ADMC Rule Series 5000, (“Equine Testing and Investiga-
tion Standards”) (such personnel are hereinafter referred to as the “Agency-Authorized Col-
lection Personnel.”) The term “Agency Sample” includes Post-Race Samples collected from
Covered Horses on Race Day and may include Samples collected from claimed horses, pro-
vided that such Sample collection is part of the ordinary Post-Race Sample collection on Race
Day.  The term “Agency Sample” does not include TCO2 Samples, Post-Work Samples, Out-
of-Competition Samples, or Samples collected from a claimed horse at the request of the
claimant pursuant to ADMC Rule 3060, unless such Samples are collected as part of the
ordinary Post-Race Sample collection on Race Day.

(b) The Commission understands that Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel shall acquire
and maintain certification from the Agency, as required by the ADMC Rules, in order to be
permitted to conduct collections of Agency Samples. To ensure that Agency-Authorized Col-
lection Personnel timely acquire and maintain Agency certification, the Agency agrees to
provide training opportunities for Commission personnel no later than ten (10) business days
of the date of hire or date of recertification, unless the Parties mutually agree to a later date,
of Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel. Pursuant to ADMC Rule 5450, the Agency will
authorize these Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel to conduct sample collections for
the ADMC Program.
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(c) As directed in training provided by the Agency, the Commission agrees to provide infor-
mation relating to the compliance of its Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel with the
ADMC Rule Series 3000, “Equine Anti-Doping and Controlled Medication Protocol,”
ADMC Rule Series 5000, “Equine Testing and Investigation Standards,” and any additional
policies and procedures implemented by the Agency which are consistent with the Act and
the ADMC Rules (the “HIWU Policies”) upon request by the Agency and on forms to be
specified by the Agency.

3. Background Checks. The Commission agrees to provide the Agency with: (a) a certification that
all Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel have satisfactorily completed a Level I background
check no earlier than one (1) year prior to May 22, 2023, the effective date of the ADMC Program
(the “Program Effective Date”); and (b) a conflict of interest statement completed by each
Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel in a form specified by the Agency. The Commission
understands that the requirements of subsections (a) and (b) above are a condition of certification
of Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel by the Agency.

4. Testing Liaison. The Commission names and appoints Glenda Ricks, the Chief of Operations for
the Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, as the HIWU Testing Liaison of the State (the
“HIWU Testing Liaison”). The Agency and the Commission agree that the Testing Liaison shall
be the point-of-contact with the Agency for: (a) the scheduling of the collection of Agency Sam-
ples by Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel; (b) any problems or issues that arise during col-
lections of Agency Samples by Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel; and (c) the delivery of
any notice required under ADMC Rule Series 3000, (“Equine Anti-Doping and Controlled Med-
ication Protocol”) to individuals present at Racetracks or Training Facilities in the State. The
Commission shall provide the Agency with the HIWU Testing Liaison’s contact information and
shall promptly inform the Agency when that information changes. Any person named to replace
the individual named as HIWU Testing Liaison shall be confirmed in written notice to the Agency.

5. Direction and Control of Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel. The Commission agrees that
Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel will perform the Agency Sample collections in accord-
ance with the Agency’s policies, procedures and instructions. With the exception of scheduling
Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel and monitoring Agency-Authorized Collection Person-
nel when they are carrying out responsibilities in accordance with the ADMC Program, the Com-
mission agrees that it will not, in any way, be involved in the collection of Agency Samples, in-
cluding, but not limited to, instructing or directing such Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel
on the Covered Horses that should be selected for testing at a given Covered Horserace unless
authorized by the Agency to do so provided such instructions or directions comply with Commis-
sion human resources policies or the State of Florida labor laws. The Commission agrees that only
Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel will be involved in the collection of Agency Samples,
including giving directions and instructions to other Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel with
respect to how to conduct any portion of an Agency Sample collection.
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6. Limitation on Testing. The Commission understands that under the Act, no testing of Covered
Horses under the ADMC Program will occur in the State after the Program Effective Date, unless
it is at the direction of the Agency or has been authorized in advance and in writing by the Agency.
No testing of Covered Horses will occur under the ADMC Program prior to the Program Effective
Date.

7. State Investigative Personnel. The Commission agrees that Commission personnel currently con-
ducting investigations in the State of Florida, including, but not limited to, its employees and/or
contractors will conduct investigations in the State for, and at the direction of, the Agency
(“Agency Investigations”) pursuant to ADMC Rule Series 3000, (“Equine Anti-Doping and Con-
trolled Medication Protocol”), ADMC Rules 3131-3140 (“Testing and Investigations”), and Rule
Series 5000, (“Equine Testing and Investigation Standards”), including the regulations under Rule
ADMC 5700 (“Standards for Investigations”) (such Commission personnel are hereinafter re-
ferred to as the “State Investigative Personnel.”)  After training by the Agency, State Investigative
Personnel will be authorized by the Agency to conduct investigations for, and at the direction of,
the Agency and as such, shall be deemed designees under Rule 8400 (“Investigatory Powers.”)

8. Investigations Liaison. The Commission names and appoints Brad Jones, Chief of Investigations
for the Commission as Investigations Liaison of the State (the “Investigations Liaison”). The
Agency and the Commission agree that the Investigations Liaison shall be the point-of-contact
with the Agency for the scheduling of any investigatory work requested by the Agency pursuant
to Paragraph I.7 above. In connection with Agency Investigations, the Investigations Liaison shall
be deemed designees of the Authority pursuant to Rule 8400 (“Investigatory Powers”). The Com-
mission shall provide the Agency with the Investigation Liaison’s contact information and shall
promptly inform the Agency when that information changes. Any person named to replace the
individual named as Investigations Liaison shall be confirmed in written notice to the Agency.

9. Direction and Control of State Investigative Personnel. The Commission agrees that State Inves-
tigative Personnel will perform investigative work requested by the Agency in accordance with
the Agency’s policies, procedures and instructions.  The Commission agrees that it will not be, in
any way, involved in decision-making in connection with these Agency Investigations, including,
but not limited to, instructing or directing the State Investigative Personnel on which Covered
Persons and/or Covered Horses should be investigated regarding potential violations that fall un-
der the jurisdiction of the Agency. Likewise, the Agency agrees that is will not, in any way, be
involved in decision-making in connection with investigations of any matter that falls outside of
the Agency’s jurisdiction. While investigating violations of the ADMC Rules, the Commission
and Agency both agree to work collaboratively to increase the likelihood that investigations result
in successful prosecutions. The Commission will not limit or instruct State Investigative Personnel
regarding when or where to conduct an Agency Investigation provided such instructions or direc-
tions comply with Commission human resources policies or the State of Florida labor laws. Like-
wise, the Agency will not limit or obstruct State Investigative Personnel in connection with in-
vestigations of any matter that falls outside of the Agency’s jurisdiction. Nothing in this Paragraph
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is intended to abrogate the Commission’s authority to investigate any matter that falls under the 
Commission’s jurisdiction. 

10. Limitation on Investigations. Subject to the collaboration described in Paragraph II.9 above, the
Commission understands that, under the Act, the Commission shall not conduct any investigation
pertaining to the ADMC Program, including, but not limited to, any interviews or searches of any
kind, unless it is at the request and in coordination with of the Agency. No Agency Investigations
will occur pursuant to this Agreement prior to the Program Effective Date. This does not abrogate
the Commission’s authority to investigate a matter related to a Covered Horse or Covered Person
that falls outside of the jurisdiction of the Agency.

11. Access to Racetracks. The Commission agrees that any individual who presents a credential or
letter of authorization issued by the Agency shall be permitted access to any portion of any par-
ticipating Racetrack that the Commission controls access to in the State at which Covered Horses
compete, and such access shall include all areas of the Racetracks, including, but not limited to,
the backside. This access does not extend to areas adjacent to Racetracks that do not involve any
activities connected to Covered Horses, including, but not limited to, slot machine gaming areas
and/or cardrooms. The Agency agrees to provide to the Commission an example credential or
letter of authorization to facilitate enforcement of this Paragraph. The Agency agrees that all in-
dividuals will prominently display their credentials or promptly display their letter of authoriza-
tion upon request while on Racetrack grounds.  Any changes to such credential or letter of author-
ization shall be communicated by the Agency to the Commission.

12. Regulatory Veterinarian. The Commission names and appoints its current veterinarian as the Reg-
ulatory Veterinarian for the State of Florida. The Commission reserves the right to hire additional
veterinarians, if needed, who will also serve as Regulatory Veterinarians for purposes of the
ADMC Program. Any veterinarian hired by the Commission after the effective date of this Agree-
ment shall be deemed a Regulatory Veterinarian, and the Commission will notify the Agency of
the hiring of such individual within ten (10) business days of his or her start date with the Com-
mission The Parties agree that the Regulatory Veterinarians shall carry out the duties and respon-
sibilities of the Regulatory Veterinarians set forth in the ADMC Program as directed in training
provided by the Agency, including, but not limited to, the duties and responsibilities set forth in
ADMC Rule Series 3000 (“Equine Anti-Doping and Controlled Medication Protocol”) and
ADMC Rule Series 5000 (“Equine Testing and Investigation Standards”), provided that such
duties are directly related to the Post-Race sample collection process described above in Para-
graph II.2.a above. Any person named to replace a Regulatory Veterinarian herein shall possess
the qualifications set forth in Safety Rule 2134(a), and such replacement requires the prior written
approval of the Agency. This paragraph is not designed to limit any Racetrack’s efforts as de-
scribed below in Paragraph III.1 below.

13. Sample Testing. The Commission agrees that Agency Samples will be sent to, and analyzed by,
a Laboratory selected by the Agency for the 2023 calendar year. The Commission also under-
stands that the Agency has the authority to direct further analysis on all Agency Samples at its
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discretion. Nothing in this Agreement prohibits or otherwise prevents the Agency from utilizing 
the University of Florida Racing Lab (“UF Lab”) for sample testing in any calendar year following 
the 2023 calendar year, provided the UF Lab is approved as described in the ADMC Rules and 
has successfully completed contract negotiations with the Authority and the Agency. Likewise, 
nothing in this Agreement prohibits or otherwise prevents the Commission from designating the 
UF Lab in any calendar year following the 2023 calendar year as the State-Appointed Testing 
Laboratory, provided the UF Lab is approved as described in the ADMC Rules and has success-
fully completed contract negotiations with the Authority and the Agency. 

14. Training Opportunities. The Commission and the Agency agree to cooperate in organizing local
training opportunities for all Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel and State Investigations
Personnel. The Commission further agrees that the Agency may request and review information
pertaining to the training opportunities available to Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel and
State Investigations Personnel.

15. Arbitration Procedures. The Commission understands that, under the Act, any anti-doping rule or
controlled medication rule violations alleged to have occurred in the State will be processed pur-
suant to ADMC Rule Series 7000, “Arbitration Procedures,” and that, under these regulations,
alleged anti-doping rule violations will be heard by the Arbitral Body and alleged controlled med-
ication rule violations will be heard by the Internal Adjudication Panel. The Commission agrees
that its employees, consultants and other agents (including, but not limited to, Agency-Authorized
Collection Personnel and State Investigative Personnel) will cooperate with any process or pro-
ceeding conducted pursuant to the Arbitration Procedures, including, but not limited to, providing
documents and testimony in connection with the case or matter.

16. ADMC Program Scope of Work. The scope of work and reporting obligations for the ADMC
Program (“State Requirements”) under this Agreement are those set forth in the ADMC Rule
Series 3000, (“Equine Anti- Doping and Controlled Medication Protocol”), ADMC Rule Series
5000, (“Equine Testing and Investigation Standards”), and any HIWU Policies. Copies of HIWU
Policies shall be communicated to the Commission in a manner that allows for timely implemen-
tation by the Commission in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph II.21 below. State Re-
quirements are set forth in Exhibit A to this Agreement.

17. Information Sharing.

(a) The Commission agrees that it will provide the Agency, on a timely basis, with any infor-
mation, documentation, or evidence that it receives or discovers relating to possible viola-
tions of the ADMC Program.

(b) The Agency agrees that it will provide the Commission, on a timely basis, with any infor-
mation, documentation, or evidence that it receives or discovers relating to possible viola-
tions of the State’s laws, regulations, or rules, which are not preempted by the Act.
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(c) In addition to any notifications required by the Act to be made by the Agency to the Commis-
sion, the Agency will make its best efforts to notify the Commission of negative tests from
Agency Samples that are A Samples for a specific Race Day within 3 business days of the
Agency’s receipt of those results from a laboratory accredited by the Agency. This notifica-
tion will be made by email to Chief of Operations for the Commission, Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering, Glenda Ricks (Glenda.Ricks@fgcc.fl.gov) or her successor. This notifi-
cation shall not be made for a specific Race Day until all of the results for that day have been
received by the Agency.

18. Confidentiality.

(a) The Commission agrees that the content of any notices, including Equine Anti-Doping
(“EAD”) Notices under ADMC Rule 3245 and Equine Controlled Medication (“ECM”) No-
tices under ADMC Rule 3345, received by it from the Agency pursuant to the ADMC Rule
Series 3000, “Equine Anti-Doping and Controlled Medication Protocol,” (the “Confidential
Information”) shall not be publicly disclosed by the Commission or its officers, directors,
employees, or agents unless and until (a) that information has been publicly disclosed by the
Agency pursuant to the requirements of the Act, or (b) the Agency has given written consent
for the information to be disclosed. In addition, the Commission agrees not to disclose the
Confidential Information to any person other than to such of its officers, directors, employ-
ees, or agents who have a need to know and who agree to be bound by the confidentiality
provisions hereof. The Commission agrees that it shall be responsible for any knowing and
intentional breach of this Agreement by its officers, directors, employees, or agents. The
Agency agrees that any such notices shall bear a watermark or other marking agreed upon
by the Parties clearly denoting the confidential nature of the document.

(b) Upon receipt of any request for the disclosure of documents relating to the ADMC Program,
the Commission agrees to provide the Authority and/or the Agency with appropriate notifi-
cation and opportunity to challenge the disclosure of such records. Any challenge to the
Commission’s withholding of confidential information shall be indemnified and defended
by the Authority as described below in Paragraph II.20 below.

(c) By agreeing to the provisions of this Paragraph II.18, the Commission will be considered an
Interested Party under the ADMC Rules and be eligible to receive information as set forth in
the ADMC Rules.

19. Performance of Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel or State Investigative Personnel. If at
any time during the term of this Agreement, the Agency, with good cause, believes that any
individual Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel or State Investigative Personnel is not
satisfying the requirements set forth in this Agreement, it shall notify the Commission of the rea-
sons for its good faith basis in writing, with specificity and particularity. The Commission agrees
to take any necessary action to promptly correct the non-compliant conduct or prevent any future
non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Agency. If the individual at issue continues to be non-
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compliant, or if the initial conduct was so egregious as to warrant removal (as determined by the 
Agency in its reasonable discretion), then the Agency may revoke the individual’s certification 
and, if such revocation occurs, the Commission will not assign said individual to perform further 
services under this Agreement. Any action by the Agency under this Paragraph shall in no way 
affect the employment status of any individual and shall in no way impair the Commission’s right 
to continue to employ such individual. The Agency acknowledges that Agency-Authorized Col-
lection Personnel and State Investigative Personnel are not employees of the Agency.  

20. Indemnification. The Authority expressly agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Commission
and its employees or agents from and against any and all claims, loss, damages, injury, liability
and costs, including, but not limited to, challenge to the Commission’s withholding of confidential
information as described in Paragraph II.18.b above, reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs,
resulting from, or arising out of, defending against requests for confidential information as de-
scribed in Paragraph II.18.b above the ADMC Program Scope of Work as defined in Paragraph
II.16 above, except to the extent that such liability, loss, expense, attorneys’ fees, or claims for
injury or damages are caused by, or result from, the breach of this Agreement by, or the negli-
gence, willful misconduct, or intentional acts or omissions of, the Commission or its employees
or agents.  Any enforcement actions related to the ADMC Program Scope of Work will be the
responsibility of, and will be defended by, the Authority and the Agency. Any appeals or chal-
lenges to actions taken by Commission employees or agents when enforcing the Act or federal
rules or regulations promulgated pursuant to the Act will proceed pursuant to the enforcement
rules of the Act and will be defended by the Authority and the Agency. Notwithstanding anything
set forth in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall not be construed to waive any
immunity under applicable state law, including, but not limited to, sovereign immunity, possessed
by the Commission and its agents, contractors, or employees.

21. HIWU Regulations, Policies, Procedures, and Forms. The Agency shall provide the Commission
with a copy of all existing, amended, and new training materials, policies, procedures, and forms.
This notification shall be provided to the Commission’s Executive Director Louis A. Trombetta,
or his successor, with copies to Director of Pari-Mutuel Wagering Joe Dillmore, by email within
24 hours of implementation. The Commission shall be afforded a reasonable time to implement
any such changes once notice of a new policy, protocol, or procedure is provided to the Commis-
sion by the Agency.

22. Reimbursement for Investigations. The Agency agrees to reimburse the Commission for any ac-
tual costs or expenses incurred in connection with any Agency Investigation in the State conducted
pursuant to Paragraphs II. 7-10 and 15 above. This reimbursement is contemplated for at least the
following potential costs: the cost of using Commission employees for investigations or as wit-
nesses at a hearing or trial (including witness preparation and testimony), and the cost of travel,
copying, and other expenses necessarily incurred in service of this Agreement. The Commission
agrees to invoice the Agency quarterly for such costs and expenses. The Agency agrees to fully
pay such invoices within thirty (30) days of receipt by the Agency.
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III. Testing Credit 

1. 2023 Credit. The Commission will receive a credit to its 2023 assessment which was sent to the 
Commission by the Authority on December 28, 2022. The credit will be applied to the amount 
paid to the Authority for that calendar year in connection with the funding required to be paid to 
the Authority under the Act (the “State Testing Credit”). The State Testing Credit is an estimated 
amount for costs, including the costs of Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel required for 
Race Day testing, including Post-Race, as well as additional testing of all Claimed Horses as 
described in this Agreement. These estimated costs include travel, per diem, and other direct and 
additional costs associated with the collections conducted by Agency-Authorized Personnel as 
described in this Agreement. The Parties agree that, for the 2023 calendar year, the Commission 
will generate a portion of the overall State Testing Credit in the amount of $742,500.00.1 If the 
costs of Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel required for Race Day testing, including Post-
Race as well as additional testing of all Claimed Horses as described in this Agreement exceed 
$742,500.00 at the end of 2023, the Commission will generate an additional credit for 2024 in the 
amount of the excess costs. 

2. Future Application of State Testing Credit. In each subsequent year of this Agreement, the Agency 
will provide the State with the annual State Testing Credit by the November 1 of the previous year 
(e.g., November 1, 2023 for 2024). 

3. Notification of Racing Dates. The Commission agrees that, by October 1 of each calendar year, it 
shall provide the Agency with a list of the Covered Horserace days to be held in Florida through 
June 30 of the subsequent calendar year, including dates, locations, and number of races each day. 
Upon issuing the pari-mutuel operating license on March 15 of each calendar year, the Commis-
sion will notify the Agency of the remaining Covered Horserace days from July 1 to December 31 
of each calendar year. The Commission also agrees to provide the Agency with prompt notice of 
any changes to Covered Horserace days. 

IV. General Provisions 

1. Term and Termination. This Agreement shall be effective when signed by all Parties to the Agree-
ment. The Parties acknowledge that the Federal Trade Commission has approved the regulations 
comprising the Racetrack Safety Program and the ADMC Program. If, after the effective date of 
this Agreement, any portion of the Racetrack Safety Program or the ADMC Program is legally 
invalidated by a court of competent jurisdiction, the Commission will no longer have an obligation 
to carry out any duties specified in this Agreement related to the invalidated portion of either 
program.  If the Horseracing Integrity and Safety Act is found to be unconstitutional or void and 
unenforceable for any reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, this Agreement shall terminate 
and be of no force or effect.  This Agreement will terminate on December 31, 2023, unless the 
Parties agree to extend the term of the Agreement.  

 
1 Provided Racetracks conduct certain testing as described in the Revised Florida HISA Financial 2023 Assessment, 
dated December 28, 2022 (on file with the Commission), the potential State Testing Credit is $1,300,000.00.  
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(a) This Agreement may be terminated by any Party upon one hundred and twenty ( 120) days
written notice.

(b) This Agreement may be terminated by the Agency upon sixty (60) days written notice if the
Agency has determined, in good faith, that the Commission, Agency-Authorized Collection
Personnel, or State Investigative Personnel have failed to substantially comply with the re-
quirements of ADMC Rule Series 3000, (“Equine Anti-Doping and Controlled Medication
Protocol,”) ADMC Rule Series 5000, (“Equine Testing and Investigation Standards”) or any
HIWU Policy. Any written notice provided pursuant to this subparagraph shall include the
basis for the Agency’s determination.

(c) If any Party defaults in a material obligation under this Agreement and continues in default
for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice of default is given to it by another Party,
the other Party may terminate and cancel this Agreement, immediately upon written notice
of termination given to the defaulting Party. The written notice of default shall include spe-
cific actions or omissions that comprise the defaulting Party’s breach of its obligations under
this Agreement.

(d) If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Paragraph IV.1: (i) any State Testing Credit
provided to the Commission pursuant to Paragraph III. above will be reduced on a pro-rata
basis; (ii) the certification of all Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel will be revoked by
the Agency; and (iii) the Agency will, pursuant to the Act, take direct control of all anti-doping
and controlled medication testing and investigative operations in the State with respect to Cov-
ered Horses.

(e) In addition to any right of termination granted to the Agency pursuant to this Agreement, the
Agency may request that the Authority reduce the Commission’s State Testing Credit, on a
pro-rata basis, for any period of time that the Agency determines that the Commission has not
complied with its material obligations under this Agreement. The Agency will provide the
Authority and the Commission written notice of the request, which will include the basis for
the Agency’s determination and the period covered by the request. The Commission shall
have the opportunity to respond in writing to such a request within thirty (30) days and will
provide the Agency with a copy of the response. The Authority will make a decision on the
request within thirty (30) days of receiving the Agency’s request or Commission’s response,
whichever is latest.

2. Notices. All notices required to be provided hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed
delivered if: (a) sent by facsimile, upon confirmation of faxing; (b) if sent by overnight courier,
by the date after mailing; (c) if by hand delivery, upon actual receipt; or (d) if by certified mail,
return receipt requested and postage prepaid, on the third business day after deposit in the mails,
to the addressee set forth below (with a copy emailed to the email addresses set forth below) or at
such other location as such Party notifies the other pursuant to this provision.
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If to the Authority:  
401 West Main Street, Unit 222 
Lexington, KY 40507  
Attention: Lisa Lazarus  
Executive Director 
lisa.lazarus@hisaus.org 
 
with a copy to: 
Ransdell Roach & Royse PLLC 
176 Pasadena Drive  
Building One  
Lexington, Kentucky 40502 At-
tention: John C. Roach 
john@rrrfirm.com 
 

If to the Agency: 
4801 Main Street, Suite 350  
Kansas City, MO 64112  
Attention: Ben Mosier  
Executive Director 
bmosier@hiwu.org 
 
with a copy to: 
Michelle Pujals, 
HIWU General Counsel mpu-
jals@hiwu.org 
 

If to the Commission: 
4070 Esplanade Way, Suite 
XXX 
Tallahassee, FL 32399 
Attention: Louis A. Trombetta 
Executive Director 
Louis.Trombetta@fgcc.fl.gov 
 
with a copy to: 
Ross Marshman 
FGCC General Counsel  
Ross.marshman@fgcc.fl.gov 
 

3. Severability. If any part of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or illegal by any court or 
agency of competent jurisdiction, then that part shall be limited or curtailed to the extent necessary 
to make such provision valid, and all other remaining terms of this Agreement shall remain in full 
force and effect.  

4. Final Agency Action. The Parties agree and acknowledge that the Commission does not have the 
jurisdiction or authority to, and will not take, any final agency action regarding the enforcement of 
any rules or regulations under the Racetrack Safety Program or the ADMC Program that fall under the 
jurisdiction and authority of HISA and/or HIWU. 

5. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties and super-
sedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, whether written or oral, 
among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. 

6. Amendment and Waiver. This Agreement may be modified or amended only in a writing signed 
by all Parties. A Party’s failure to act hereunder shall not indicate a waiver of its rights hereto. No 
waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in writing and signed by the 
waiving Party. The failure of any Party to require the performance of any term or obligation of this 
Agreement or the waiver by any Party of any breach of this Agreement shall not prevent any sub-
sequent enforcement of such term and shall not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach. 

7. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accord-
ance with, the laws of the state of Florida, without regard to its conflicts of laws principles. 

8. Assignability. The Agency may assign this Agreement to an affiliate, a successor in connection 
with a merger, acquisition, or consolidation, or to the purchaser in connection with the sale of all or 
substantially all of its assets without notice to the Commission. This Agreement and all the terms 
and provisions hereof will be binding upon, enforceable against, and will inure to the benefit of, 
the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 
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9. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one instrument. Any signature
page delivered by facsimile, telecopy machine, portable document format (.pdf) or email shall be
binding to the same extent as an original.

10. Headings; Interpretation. The headings in this Agreement have been included solely for ease of
reference and shall not be considered in the interpretation or construction of this Agreement. All
references herein to the masculine, neuter or singular shall be construed to include the masculine,
feminine, neuter or plural, as appropriate.

190



16 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Mutual Cooperation Agreement as 
of date first written above. 

HORSERACING INTEGRITY AND SAFETY AUTHORITY, INC. 

By: 

Name: Lisa Lazarus 
Title: Chief Executive Officer 

HORSERACING INTEGRITY & WELFARE UNIT, 
A DIVISION OF DRUG FREE SPORT, LLC 

By: 

Name: Ben Mosier 
Title: Executive Director 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

By: 

Name: Louis A. Trombetta 
Title: Executive Director 
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EXHIBIT A 
STATE REQUIREMENTS 

The State Requirements set forth below are general in nature and for illustrative purposes 
only. More specific requirements will be set forth in the HIWU Policies. 

• Race Day Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel (at a minimum, 1 Veterinar-
ian, 1 Test Barn Supervisor, and 5 assistants (with responsibilities including no-
tifications, urine collections, and chaperoning)) 

• Commission or Racetrack personnel stationed outside the Test Barn to control 
and monitor access to the Test Barn 

• Scheduling of Agency-Authorization Collection Personnel for Race Day  
• Coordination of shipping of Agency Samples to selected laboratories 
• State Investigative Staff for service of notices and accompanying searches 
• State Investigative Staff for other tasks as requested by the Agency 
• Coordination of Stewards to assist with directing the selection of horses to the 

Test Barn on Race Days pursuant to HIWU Policies 
• Coordination of training and certification of Agency-Authorized Collection 

Personnel 
• Coordination of training of State Investigations Personnel 
• Minimum employment and workers’ compensation insurance policies required 

by law 
• Required work permits/authorizations for Agency-Authorized Collection Per-

sonnel and State Investigative Personnel 
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Web: www.hisaus.org 401 W. Main St. Suite 222 

Lexington, KY, 40507 

Horseracing Integrity and Safety Authority 
401 W Main Street, Suite 222 

Lexington, Kentucky 40507 
 

October 31, 2023 
 
 
Joe Dillmore 
Florida Department of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Via email – joe.dillmore@flgaming.gov 
 
Dear Mr. Dillmore, 
 
I am writing to advise you of Florida’s HISA financial assessment for 2024 and all related details. 
 
As indicated in the state-by-state assessment document attached to this email, Florida’s 2024 
HISA assessment (gross) is $6,785,257. However, as detailed below, it is expected to be reduced 
to $5,100,257 after sample collection credits are applied. 
 
The assessment represents Florida’s gross total obligation for 2024 in accordance with the HISA 
cost assessment methodology rule approved by the Federal Trade Commission.  The 
assessment includes financial support for: 
 

- The Anti-Doping and Medication Control (ADMC) Program that will be administered 
nationally by the Horseracing Integrity and Welfare Unit (HIWU); 

- HISA’s Racetrack Safety Program; 
- HISA’s technology build and maintenance to support all of its Programs; and  
- HISA administration, including staff salaries and organizational operations. 

 
I have attached as Addendum 1 HISA’s 2024 budget so that you may review the specific 
investments designated for each area of HISA’s mandate. 
 
If HIWU and Florida reach an agreement for services to be provided by the commission and/or 
the tracks in 2024, Florida is eligible for the following monetary credits against the assessment: 
 

- $1,334,000 for HIWU-Authorized Collection Personnel in your state.  You will be 

eligible to receive this credit so long as HIWU-Authorized Collection Personnel are 

provided to perform Race Day testing, as agreed to in a Voluntary Implementation 

Agreement with HIWU.  Race Day Testing includes, but is not limited to, Post-Race 

Samples and TCO2 testing and may include other collections conducted by HIWU-

Authorized Collection Personnel on Race Days, including sample collections for out-

of-competition, vet’s list, and clearance testing. This amount is calculated based on 
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Web: www.hisaus.org 401 W. Main St. Suite 222 

Lexington, KY, 40507 

the current projections for the number of 2024 Race Days, and therefore it may be 

adjusted if there are changes in the number of Race Days or the number of samples 

collected.  

- An estimated potential of up to $351,000 for additional HIWU-Authorized Collection 

Personnel in your state to conduct sample collections not collected on Race Day, 

including, but not limited to, sample collections for out-of-competition, vet’s list, 

and clearance testing.  You will be credited for the amount of non-Race Day sample 

collections conducted by HIWU-Authorized Collection Personnel, as agreed to by 

Florida and HIWU. This amount will be adjusted in the 2024 True-Up to reflect the 

actual amount of non-Race Day sample collections conducted in Florida during 2024. 

Please note that the actual amount that will be charged to Florida to fund HISA’s 2024 
operations will be a sum of the following components: 
 

- The gross assessment of $6,785,257; 
- The estimated total of $1,685,000 in credits detailed above; 
- The 2023 True-Up, which will consist of the following: 

o A recalculation of the 2023 assessments based on actual starts and purses 
paid in each state (the 2023 assessments were originally calculated based on 
historical data); 

o A credit for Florida’s share of any money collected but not spent by HISA in 
2023 (or an additional charge for Florida’s share of total expenses incurred 
by HISA that exceed the amount collected); 

o A true-up of the credit given vs. the actual amount earned in 2023 for Race 
Day sample collection in Florida; 

o A true-up of the credit given vs. the actual amount earned in 2023 for non-
Race Day sample collection in Florida; and 

o A credit for any investigations conducted by state personnel at the direction 
of HIWU as agreed upon in the Voluntary Implementation Agreement.  

 
The deadline to advise HISA whether the state will opt-in to the 2024 financial assessment is 
November 17, 2023.  Please be advised that while we would prefer that the state fully opt-in, 
HISA will accept partial payments from the state if that is your preference. Should Florida 
choose not to opt in, we will need the Florida racetracks to submit their proposed Covered 
Person allocation for paying the assessment by December 10, 2023.  Regardless of whether 
Florida opts in, HISA will accept payment in installments should that be preferred.  
 
The attached Addendum 2 contains the specific amounts that would fall to each racetrack in 
Florida to cover should Florida choose to opt-out and pass the financial assessments to the 
individual racetracks.  Addendum 3 provides a breakdown of the assessment costs and credits 
by state and Addendum 4 provides a breakdown of the assessment costs and credits by 
racetrack. 
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Lexington, KY, 40507 

 
Should you wish to discuss any of these matters, I am available at your convenience. Thank you 
for your kind consideration of the above. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Lisa Lazarus 
HISA CEO 
 
P.S. Please forward this letter and the addendums to your applicable horsemen’s group(s). 
 
cc: Joshua Adams, Gulfstream Park, Joshua.adams@gulfstreampark.com 
 Peter Berube, Tampa Bay Downs, pnb@tampabaydowns.com 
 Andy Belfiore, FTHA, abelfiore@floridahorsemen.org 
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FIRST ADDENDUM TO MUTUAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT 

THIS ADDENDUM TO THE MUTUAL COOOPERATION AGREEMENT (the 
“Addendum”) is made and entered into this ____ day of _______ 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by 
and among the Horseracing Integrity and Safety Authority, Inc., a Delaware non-profit corporation, 
401 West Main Street, Unit 222, Lexington, Kentucky 40507 (the “Authority”), the Horseracing 
Integrity & Welfare Unit, a division of Drug Free Sport, LLC (“Drug Free Sport”), a Delaware 
limited liability company, 4801 Main Street, Suite 350, Kansas City, Missouri 64112 (the 
“Agency”), and the Florida Gaming Control Commission, an agency of the Florida State 
government, 4070 Esplanade Way, Tallahassee, FL 32399 (the “Commission”).  As used herein, 
the “Parties” shall mean the Authority, the Agency, and the Commission, collectively; and a 
“Party” shall mean the Authority, the Agency or the Commission, individually. 

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into a Mutual Cooperation Agreement effective June 13, 
2023 (the “Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, the Parties agree to extend the term of the Agreement from December 31, 
2023 to December 31, 2024; 

WHEREAS, the Parties agree to amend the Agreement to add to and/or modify certain 
terms and conditions contained therein; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties hereto desire that all other terms and conditions of the Agreement 
not specifically amended herein shall remain in full force and effect. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants herein contained and other good 
and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. The Parties agree that the Agreement shall be extended for one (1) additional year
beyond the original term and that Section IV (1) of the Agreement shall be amended and replaced 
as follows: 

Term and Termination. This Agreement shall be effective when signed by all Parties to the 
Agreement. The Parties acknowledge that the Federal Trade Commission has approved the 
regulations comprising the Racetrack Safety Program and the ADMC Program. If, after the 
effective date of this Agreement, any portion of the Racetrack Safety Program or the 
ADMC Program is legally invalidated by a court of competent jurisdiction, the 
Commission will no longer have an obligation to carry out any duties specified in this 
Agreement related to the invalidated portion of either program. If the Horseracing Integrity 
and Safety Act is found to be unconstitutional or void and unenforceable for any reason by 
a court of competent jurisdiction, this Agreement shall terminate and be of no force or 
effect. This Agreement will terminate on December 31, 2024, unless the Parties agree to 
extend the term of the Agreement. 

2. Section I (2) of the Agreement shall be amended and replaced as follows:
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Medical Director. The Commission has no obligation, and does not elect, to enter into an 
agreement with the Authority to establish a Medical Director consistent with Rule 2132. 
 
 
3. Section II (3) of the Agreement shall be amended and replaced as follows: 
 
Background Checks. The Commission agrees to provide the Agency with: (a) a 
certification that all Agency Authorized Collection Personnel (i) have satisfactorily 
completed a Level I background check no earlier than one (1) year prior to the individual’s 
certification date by the Agency, and (ii) are in good standing with the track(s) at which 
they will collect samples for the Agency; and (b) a conflict of interest statement completed 
by each Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel in a form specified by the Agency.  The 
Commission understands that the requirements of subsections (a) and (b) above are a 
condition of certification and recertification of Agency-Authorized Collection Personnel 
by the Agency.  The Commission further agrees to notify the Agency as soon as reasonably 
practicable upon the separation or contract of any Agency-Authorized Collection 
Personnel.  
 
4. Section II (13) of the Agreement shall be amended and replaced as follows: 
 
Sample Testing. The Commission agrees that all Agency Samples will be sent to, and 
analyzed by, a Laboratory selected by the Agency for the 2024 calendar year and for any 
extensions of the Term.  The Commission also understands that the Agency has the 
authority to direct further analysis of all Agency Samples at its discretion. 
 
5. Section III (1) of the Agreement shall be amended and replaced as follows: 

2024 Credit. The Commission will receive a credit to its 2024 assessment which was sent 
to the Commission by the Authority on October 31, 2023.  The credit will be applied to the 
amount paid to the Authority for that calendar year in connection with the funding required 
to be paid to the Authority under the Act (the “State Testing Credit”).  The State Testing 
Credit is an estimated amount for costs, including the costs of Agency-Authorized 
Collection Personnel required for Race Day testing, including Post-Race, as well as 
additional testing of all Claimed Horses as described in this Agreement.  These estimated 
costs include travel, per diem, and other direct and additional costs associated with the 
collections conducted by Agency-Authorized Personnel as described in this Agreement.  
The Parties agree that, for the 2024 calendar year, the Commission will generate an overall 
State Testing Credit in the amount of $1,050,000.1  If the costs of Agency-Authorized 
Collection Personnel required for Race Day testing, including Post-Race as well as 
additional testing of all Claimed Horses as described in this Agreement exceed $1,050,000 

 
1 Provided Racetracks conduct certain testing as described in the Amended Addendum 2 to the Florida HISA 
Financial 2024 Assessment sent by HISA on November 13, 2023, the total potential state testing credit is 
$1,685,000. 
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at the end of 2024, the Commission will generate an additional credit for 2025 in the 
amount of the excess costs.   

6. Except as otherwise provided in this Addendum, all terms and conditions of the
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Addendum as of the date first 
written above. 

HORSERACING INTEGRITY AND SAFETY AUTHORITY, INC. 

BY:   

Name: Lisa Lazarus 

Title:  Chief Executive Officer 

HORSERACING INTEGRITY & WELFARE UNIT, 
A DIVISION OF DRUG FREE SPORT, LLC 

BY:   

Name: Ben Mosier 

Title:  Executive Director 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

BY:   

Name: Louis A. Trombetta 

Title:  Executive Director 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Elina Valentine, Deputy General Counsel 
Re:  FGCC v. Investment Corporation of Palm Beach d/b/a Palm Beach 

Kennel Club, Case No. 2023-062397; Consent Order 
Date:   January 26, 2024 
 
Executive Summary 
 

In lieu of further litigation, the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to settle 
Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering v. 
Investment Corporation of Palm Beach d/b/a Palm Beach Kennel Club, case no. 
2023-062397 by entering into the proposed Stipulation and Consent Order (the 
“Consent Order”). Pursuant to the terms of the Consent Order, Investment 
Corporation of Palm Beach (“Respondent”) would pay an administrative fine of 
$500.00 for violating Rules 75-11.0175(7)(e) and 75-11.0175(7)(f) of the Florida 
Administrative Code.   
 
Background 
 
On or about October 31, 2023, Respondent staff failed to hold the empty drop box 
up to the full view of the surveillance camera while calling out the drop box number 
verbally after the contents of each drop box were on the count table in violation of 
Rule 75-11.0175(7)(e) of the Florida Administrative Code.  In addition, on 
October 31, 2023, Respondent staff failed to lock and place the drop box in the 
storage area after it had been counted and viewed in violation of Rule 75-
11.0175(7)(f) of the Florida Administrative Code.   
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.1 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of up to 
$1,000.00 for each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules 

 
1 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 
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adopted pursuant thereto.2 Mitigation may be taken into consideration when 
imposing an administrative fine. 
 
Rule 75-11.0175(e) of the Florida Administrative Code, requires that, as part of the 
count process, “[o]nce empty, the drop box number and the inside of the drop box is 
held up to the full view of a surveillance camera with the drop box number called 
out verbally…” 
 
Rule 75-11.0175(f) of the Florida Administrative Code, requires that, as part of the 
count process, “[a]fter each drop box has been viewed and counted, the drop box 
shall be locked and placed in a storage area exclusively for drop boxes…” 
 
Based on surveillance footage, on October 31, 2023, Respondent staff opened three 
drop boxes in succession, viewed and counted the contents, and placed each drop 
box on the count table next to the other.  Respondent staff did not call out the drop 
box number verbally while holding each drop box to the full view of the surveillance 
camera and did not lock and place each drop box in the storage area exclusively for 
drop boxes. Accordingly, Respondent is subject to an administrative fine not to 
exceed $1,000.00 per violation. 
 
The Stipulation and Consent Order provides for a total administrative fine of 
$500.00, composed of a $250.00 administrative fine for the violation of Rule 75-
11.0175(e) of the Florida Administrative Code and a $250.00 administrative fine for 
the violation of Rule 75-11.0175(f) of the Florida Administrative Code. 
 
As mitigation, Respondent represents that the appropriate staff received additional 
training and that it will ensure that the audio in the count room is sufficient to hear 
the call out of the drop box number in the surveillance recording. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should adopt the 
proposed Stipulation and Consent Order in case no. 2023-062397. 
 

 
2 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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STATE OF FLORIDA  

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

INVESTMENT CORPORATION OF PALM 

BEACH d/b/a PALM BEACH KENNEL CLUB, 

Respondent. 

______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-062397 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against Investment Corporation of Palm Beach, 

d/b/a Palm Beach Kennel Club (“Respondent”), and alleges: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering and

cardroom operations pursuant to chapters 550 and 849, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent held a pari-mutuel wagering permit

pursuant to Section 550.054, and license pursuant to Section 550.0115, both issued by the 

Commission.  

3. At all times material hereto, Respondent held a valid cardroom license number 149

issued by the Commission under section 849.086, Florida Statutes, and operated a cardroom 

within the meaning of section 849.086(2)(c), Florida Statutes, at its Facility (the “Cardroom”).  

4. The Cardroom is a Facility operated by the Respondent at all times material hereto

and is located at 1111 North Congress Avenue West Palm Beach, Florida 33490. 

12/18/2023
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2023-062397 Page 2 of 4 

COUNT I 

5. Petitioner realleges and adopts paragraphs numbered one through four as if set forth 

fully herein. 

6. On or about October 31, 2023, three count team members were observed via 

surveillance footage opening drop boxes, emptying the contents of the drop box on the table, and 

placing the empty boxes at the end of the count table. 

7. Rule 75-11.0175(7)(e), Florida Administrative Code, provides that once a drop box 

is empty, the drop box number and insides of the box shall be “held up to the full view of a 

surveillance camera with the drop box number called out verbally.” 

8. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated rule 75-11.0175(7)(e), Florida 

Administrative Code, by failing to hold the empty drop box up to the full view of the surveillance 

camera with the drop box number called out verbally after the contents of each drop box were on 

the count table. 

COUNT II 

9. Petitioner realleges and adopts paragraphs numbered one through four as if set forth 

fully herein. 

10. On or about October 31, 2023, three count team members were observed via 

surveillance footage opening three drop boxes, viewing and counting the contents, and placing 

them at the end of the count table.  

11. Rule 75-11.0175(7)(f), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “after each drop 

box has been viewed and counted, the drop box shall be locked and placed in a storage area 

exclusively for drop boxes.” 
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12. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated rule 75-11.0175(7)(f), Florida 

Administrative Code, Florida Administrative Code, by failing to lock and place the drop box in 

the storage area after it had been counted and viewed.   

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order imposing against Respondent one or more of the penalties specified in sections 

550.105 and 849.086(14)(c), Florida Statutes, and/or the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-062397 is signed this 12th 

day of December 2023.  

 

/s/Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 

Deputy Chief Attorney 

Florida Bar Number: 1025200 

Florida Gaming Control Commission 

Office of the General Counsel 

Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

4070 Esplanade Way, Suite 250 

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 

Telephone: (850) 794-8066 

Facsimile: +1 (850) 536-8709 

Primary: Emily.Alvarado@flagaming.gov 

Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@flgaming.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS 

Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf. 

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing. 

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 
HTTPS://FLGAMING.GOV/ 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
SOUTHERN 

Date of Complaint: 
November 2, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 06 2397 

Respondent: 
 
INVESTMENT CORPORATION OF PALM BEACH 
1111 N. CONGRESS AVENUE 
WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA 33409 
PHONE (561) 683-2222 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 WEST COMMERCIAL BOULEVARD, SUITE 
165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 
 

License # and Type: 
149 - 1000 

Profession: 
Facility 

Report Date: 
November 7, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
November 2, 2023, through November 7, 2023 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Alleged Violation: 75-11.0175 Cardroom Drop, Count Rooms, and Count Procedures.  
(7) The count process shall be as follows: 
(d) Count team members empty the contents of each drop box on the count table. No other box is opened 
while another box, or its contents are on the count table. 
 

(e) Once empty, the drop box number and the inside of the drop box is held up to the full view of a surveillance 
camera with the drop box number called out verbally. 
 

(f) After each drop box has been viewed and counted, the drop box shall be locked and placed in a storage 
area exclusively for drop boxes. 

Synopsis: On November 1, 2023, I responded to the Palm Beach Kennel Club (PBKC) for my weekly routine 
inspection of the poker room.  I asked PBKC Poker Room Assistant Director Tim Wright to show me the count 
that took place on October 31, 2023.  Once inside the surveillance room, Wright retrieved the video coverage 
for October 31, 2023.  Wright and I observed the count; during the count the Count Team opened a jackpot 
box, counted the chips then placed the box at end the count table.  This happened three separate times, and 
each time the boxes were left on the count table while they continued to open another box.  After each box 
was emptied the Count Team failed to show the empty box for camera view and did not verbally announce 
any of the box numbers as required by rule 75-11.0175. 

Related Case: 

Investigator   /   Date 

 
Andre’ Tribble   /   November 7, 2023 

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 
 
 
 
Julio Minaya   /   November 15, 2023 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 

 
Bradford D. Jones   /   November 17, 2023 
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CONTINUATION 
 

On November 1, 2023, I visited the Palm Beach Kennel Club (PBKC) for my weekly routine 
inspection of the poker room.  During my visit, I asked Poker room Assistant Director Tim Wright, 
(License #7091751, - expiration date 06/30/2024) to show me video footage of the count for 
October 31, 2023.  Wright retrieved the surveillance footage for the count and during our review, 
the Count Team was observed opening a jackpot box.  They then emptied the box onto the count 
table and counted the chips.  After doing so, the empty box was placed at end the count table.  
This happened on three separate occasions with each box being left on the count table while the 
Count Team continued to open another box.  During this procedure, the Count Team also failed 
to lift each box up to the camera, and verbally announce the box number while simultaneously 
showing the inside of the box to the surveillance camera to confirm that it was emptied.  The 
Count Team also failed to lock and place each drop box in a storage area exclusively for drop 
boxes after each box was open and viewed (Exhibit #2). 
 
According to the Count Room Sign In Sheet the Count Team members for October 31, 2023, 
were as follows: (Exhibit #6) 
 
Shyanne Nicole Smith (License #13217871 - Expiration date 06/30/2025 - Exhibit #3) 
Windy Keni Francois (License #13599247 - Expiration date 06/30/2026 - Exhibit #4) 
Dewight Kenyonn Lambert (License #13021896 - Expiration date 06/30/2024 - Exhibit #5) 
 
During the review of the surveillance video coverage, I observed Smith remove a jackpot box from 
the rack, she then unlocked and emptied the chips onto the count table.  Smith placed the emptied 
box to the right side of the count table.  She and Francois proceeded to count the chips, after the 
chips were counted and put away, Smith removed a second box from the rack, she unlocked and 
emptied the chips from that box onto the count table.  Smith then placed the empty box to the 
right side of the count table next to the first box.  She followed the same pattern once more leaving 
a third emptied box next to the previous two, before Francios removed the three boxes off the 
table.  After each box was emptied, Smith failed to show the emptied boxes for camera view and 
did not verbally announce any of the box numbers.  Please note that Poker Room Assistant 
Director Wright, identified the individual Count Team members as we watched the surveillance 
video coverage. 
 
Wright stated that all members of the Count Team are trained on Count Room procedures by the 
PBKC Poker Room Management on a regular basis, because of high employee turnover.  Wright 
also stated that the failure of the Count Team members to conduct the count according to the 
FGCC rules will be addressed immediately. 
 
CONCLUSION: INVESTMENT CORPORATION OF PALM BEACH is in violation of FGCC Rule:  
75-11.0175 (7)(d)(e)(f) - for failing to ensure that the members of the Count Team for October 31, 
2023: empty the contents of each drop box on the count table and that no other box is opened 
while another box, or its contents are on the count table.  The Count Team also failed to lift each 
box up to the camera so that the camera can capture the box number, verbally announce the 
boxes number while simultaneously showing the inside of the box to show that it was emptied. 
The Count Team also failed to lock and place each drop box in a storage area exclusively for drop 
boxes after each box was open and viewed. 
 
Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Elina Valentine, Deputy General Counsel 
Re:   FGCC v. Lanica Woods, Case Number 2023-037689; Final Order 
Date:   January 26, 2024 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering (the “Division”) requests the Commission to 
adopt the hearing officer’s recommended order recommending permanent exclusion 
of Respondent (“Respondent”) from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in the state of 
Florida. On August 24, 2023, the Division served Respondent with an administrative 
complaint, seeking Respondent’s exclusion from all pari-mutuel and slot facilities 
in Florida.  Respondent requested an informal hearing, which was held on November 
15, 2023. Following the hearing, the hearing officer recommended permanent 
exclusion from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities. Therefore, the Florida 
Gaming Control Commission should enter a final order excluding Respondent from 
all pari-mutuel and slot facilities in the state of Florida. 
 
Background 
 
From about July 1, 2023, to July 2, 2023, Respondent was a patron of Calder 
Casino.1 Respondent was ejected from Calder Casino and subsequently permanently 
excluded from Calder Casino on July 5, 2023, based on Calder Casino’s staff 
observations of Respondent cheating during numerous live poker games.  
 
Based on Respondent’s ejection from Calder Casino, the Division served 
Respondent with an administrative complaint seeking her exclusion from all pari-
mutuel and slot facilities in the state of Florida. Respondent requested an informal 
hearing pursuant to 120.57(2), Florida Statutes, which was held on November 15, 
2023. The hearing officer issued her recommended order on January 29, 2024, 
recommending permanent exclusion from all pari-mutuel facilities and all facilities 
of a slot machine licensee.   
 
 

 
1 Calder Casino is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a slot machine and cardroom 
license. 
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Analysis  
 
Respondent can be excluded from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this 
state. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part, that “[t]he 
Commission may exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state any person 
who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state.” Likewise, section 
551.112, Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part “[t]he Commission may exclude 
from any facility of a slot machine licensee any person who has been ejected from a 
facility of a slot machine licensee in this state.” Calder Casino is both a pari-mutuel 
facility and slot machine licensee in this state, and Respondent was ejected from 
it.  Accordingly, by law, Respondent can be excluded from all pari-mutuel and slot 
machine facilities in this state. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
may enter a final order adopting the hearing officer’s recommended order and 
excluding Respondent from all pari-mutuel and slot machine facilities in this state.  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order adopting the hearing officer’s recommended order in case number 2023-
037689. 
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    WOODS, LANICA
Case No. 2023-037689 

Informal Hearing Packet 

Documents Included in Case File 

Exhibit 1 …………………………………. Cover Letter 

Exhibit 2 …………………………………. Notice of Informal Hearing 

Exhibit 3…………………………………...Election of Rights 

Exhibit 4 …………………………………. Administrative Complaint 

Exhibit 5 …………………………………. Report of Investigation 
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      JULIE I. BROWN, VICE CHAIR 
CHUCK DRAGO, COMMISSIONER 
JOHN D’AQUILA, COMMISSIONER 

TINA REPP, COMMISSIONER 

OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL 

4070 ESPLANADE WAY 
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399 

October 24, 2023 

Lanica Woods 
6514 NW 13th Avenue, Apt. 310, 
Miami, Floirda 33147 

RE: FGCC v. Lanica Woods 
Case No.: 2023-037689 

           Dear Ms. Woods: 

Enclosed please find a Notice of Hearing for the informal hearing that has been scheduled in the above-referenced 
case. Your hearing is scheduled to be heard on Wednesday, November 15, 2023 between 10:00 a.m. and 12:00 
p.m. (Eastern Time). Please read the Notice of Hearing for more details about the date, time, location and
instructions for the hearing. A copy of the Commission’s case file has been mailed to your address of record. Please
ensure that you have this case file available during the hearing, as you may need to refer to it throughout the hearing.

You may also provide written or oral evidence or have witnesses testify on your behalf. Any evidence that you wish 
to present to the Hearing Officer and any names and contact information of witnesses you plan to call at the hearing 
should be emailed to Elizabeth.Stinson@flgaming.gov at least 7 days before the date of the hearing. If you do not 
have an email address, please contact me for an alternative method to provide the requested information. 

Please note: If you choose not to attend the hearing in person or by video conference, we will be conducting the 
hearing telephonically; you will be contacted between 10:00 AM and 12:00 PM (EST) at the following number: 
(786) 412-2769. If this is not correct, please contact me as soon as possible to notify me of a correct number at
which to reach you. Failure to answer the telephone, promptly return a missed call, or hold an open line will result
in the hearing proceeding without you.

Below please find information about the informal hearing process: 
1. The Informal Hearing is held on the date and time noted in the Notice of Hearing.
2. Approximately 14 to 21 days after the hearing, Proposed Recommended Orders, or recommendations for

what the Hearing Officer’s ruling should be, are sent to Hearing Officer.
3. Approximately 21 to 45 days after the Proposed Recommended Orders are submitted, the Hearing Officer

will submit his or her recommended ruling to the Clerk of the Commission’s office.
4. A Final Order will be issued within approximately 90 days after the date of the hearing. The Final Order

is final agency action and will describe the resolution of your case.

Should you have any questions or need any assistance, please feel free to contact me via telephone or email at 850-
794-8071 or Melinda.Bristow@flgaming.gov.

Sincerely,

/s/ Melinda Bristow 
Melinda Bristow 
Administrative Assistant II 
Enclosures: Notice of Hearing and Case File 
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STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

   FGCC Case No.: 2023-037689 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

LANICA WOODS,     

Respondent. 
_______________________________________/ 

NOTICE OF TELEPHONIC HEARING 

TO: Lanica Woods 
6514 NW 13th Ave. Apt.  310 
Miami, FL  33147

YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that the Commission’s designated Hearing Officer will 

conduct a hearing in this matter, pursuant to Section 120.57(2), Florida Statutes. If you wish to present 

oral or written evidence, you must attend the hearing. The hearing is scheduled for Wednesday, 

November 15, 2023, between 10:00 AM and 12:00 PM (Eastern Time).  If you choose not to 

attend the hearing in person or by video conference, the Hearing Officer will call you at 

(786) 412-2769 sometime between 10:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. (EST). Please be available to take the 

Hearing Officer’s call. Failure to answer the telephone, promptly return a voicemail, or hold an open 

line may result in the hearing proceeding without you. 

You may elect to attend the hearing in person or by video conference. If you wish to do 

so, you must contact the Commission by email at Melinda.Bristow@flgaming.gov or telephone at 

(850) 794-8071, at least seven (7) days prior to your hearing date. If you do not elect to attend by 

video conference or in person, the hearing will automatically be held by telephone only. You 

may also provide written or oral evidence or have witnesses testify on your behalf. Any 

evidence 

FGCC vs. Lanica Woods 
FGCC Case No. 2023-037689
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that you wish to present to the Hearing Officer and any names and contact information of witnesses 

you plan to call at the hearing should be emailed to Elizabeth.stinson@flgaming.gov at least 7 days 

before the date of the hearing. If you do not have an email address, please contact me for an alternative 

method to provide the requested information. 

If you cannot attend the hearing and wish to request a continuance for good cause, you must 

notify the Hearing Officer at (hearing officer email) and Opposing Counsel at (opposing counsel 

email) at least five (5) days prior to your hearing date. Continuance requests made within five (5) 

days of the hearing can only be granted for emergencies. 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been furnished to: the 

above-named parties via certified mail, on this 24th day of October, 2023. 

By: /s/ Melinda Bristow 
Melinda Bristow
Administrative Assistant II 
Florida Gaming Control Commission,
Office of the General Counsel, 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
4070 Esplanade Way, Suite 250
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 
Telephone: (850) 794-8071 
Facsimile: (850) 536-8709 
Melinda.Bristow@flgaming.gov 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special 

accommodations to participate in this hearing is asked to advise the agency at least 48 hours before 

the hearing by contacting Melinda Bristoe at (850) 794-8071.  If you are hearing or speech 

impaired, please contact the agency by calling 1-800-955-8771.  

FGCC vs. Lanica Woods 
FGCC Case No. 2023-037689 
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STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

LANICA WOODS, 

Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-037689 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against Lanica Woods (“Respondent”), and 

alleges: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering, slot

machines, and cardroom operations pursuant to chapters 550, 551, and 849, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent’s address was reported as 1931 Northwest

79th Place, Apt. 201, Miami, Florida 33147. 

3. At all times material hereto, Calder Casino was a facility operated by a permitholder

authorized to conduct pari-mutuel wagering, slot machines, and cardroom operations in the state 

of Florida. 

4. From about July 1, 2023, to July 2, 2023, Respondent was a patron and was ejected

from Calder Casino. 

5. On or about July 5, 2023, Respondent was permanently excluded from Calder

Casino.  

8/24/2023
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6. Respondent was permanently excluded for the reasons alleged in Exhibit 1.  

7. Section 550.0251(6), Florida Statutes, provides in relevant part: 

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any pari-
mutuel facility in this state, the commission may exclude any person 
from any and all pari-mutuel facilities in this state for conduct that 
would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a violation of this 
chapter or the rules of the commission. The commission may 
exclude from any pari-mutuel facility within this state any person 
who has been ejected from a pari-mutuel facility in this state or who 
has been excluded from any pari-mutuel facility in another state by 
the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority 
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over pari-mutuel facilities in such 
other state. 

 
(Emphasis supplied). 
 

8. Section 551.112, Florida Statutes, provides: 

In addition to the power to exclude certain persons from any facility 
of a slot machine licensee in this state, the commission may exclude 
any person from any facility of a slot machine licensee in this state 
for conduct that would constitute, if the person were a licensee, a 
violation of this chapter or the rules of the commission. The 
commission may exclude from any facility of a slot machine 
licensee any person who has been ejected from a facility of a slot 
machine licensee in this state or who has been excluded from any 
facility of a slot machine licensee or gaming facility in another state 
by the governmental department, agency, commission, or authority 
exercising regulatory jurisdiction over the gaming in such other 
state. This section does not abrogate the common law right of a slot 
machine licensee to exclude a patron absolutely in this state. 

 
(Emphasis supplied). 
 

9. Based on the foregoing, Respondent is subject to exclusion from all licensed pari-

mutuel wagering facilities and any facility of a slot machine licensee in the state of Florida under 

sections 550.0251(6) and 551.112, Florida Statutes based on his ejection from Calder Casino on 

or about July 5, 2023.  
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WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order excluding Respondent from all licensed pari-mutuel wagering facilities and any 

facility of a slot machine licensee in the state of Florida, along with any other remedy provided by 

chapters 550 and 551, Florida Statutes, and/or the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-037689 is signed this 24th 

day of August 2023. 

 
/s/ Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
4070 Esplanade Way 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 794-8066 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@flgaming.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@flgaming.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS TO REQUEST A HEARING 
 

 Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf. 

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing.  

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 
HTTPS://FLGAMING.GOV/  

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
SOUTHERN 

Date of Complaint: 
July 6, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 03 7689 

Respondent: 
 
WOODS, LANICA 
1931 NW 79TH PLACE 
MIAMI, FLORIDA 33147 
 

Complainant: 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD. SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 
TEL (954) 202-3900 

License # and Type: 
N/A   -   1098 

Profession: 
Patron 

Report Date: 
July 18, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
July 5, 2023, through July 18, 2023 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Alleged Violation: 75-11.005 Prohibitions. 
(4) No person shall, either directly or indirectly: 
(a) Employ or attempt to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any participant in a game or the cardroom 

operator. 

(b) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation that would constitute a fraud or deceit upon any participant in a 

game or the cardroom operator. 

(c) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation with the intent of cheating any participant or the cardroom 

operator. 
Synopsis: On July 5, 2023, this Investigator was informed by Calder Casino Director of Compliance Iliana Velazquez 
via e-mail of a cheating incident that occurred on July 1, 2023, between 11:12 P.M., and 2:07 A.M.  Velazquez’s e-mail 
notified this Investigator that cardroom Patrons Antwan Bradley and Lanica WOODS were observed cheating during 
numerous live poker games.  Bradley and WOODS were observed by Cardroom Supervisor Kristopher Richard 
swapping cards with each other after looking at each other’s hand.  All bets had already been made and the game was 
in play.  Due to their actions, both patrons were permanently excluded from the facility for cheating.  Velazquez 
provided this Investigator with copies of the Security and Surveillance Reports, as well as letters addressed to the 
patrons notifying them of their exclusion.  These items are attached as Exhibits #1 thru 4.  On July 10, 2023, a copy of 
the surveillance video footage capturing the above incident was obtained from Calder Surveillance Manager Leonides 
Martinez and was placed in the PMW Investigations evidence room for safe keeping. 
 

Related Case(s): 2023 03 7698, 2023 04 1937 

Investigator   /   Date: July 18, 2023 
 

 
Tyrell Smith   /    

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 
 
 
 
Julio Minaya   /   July 28, 2023 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 
 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   August 16, 2023 
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Further investigation into the facts and a review of the surveillance footage and Surveillance 
Incident Report # 21949, revealed that on July 1, 2023, between 11:12 P.M. and 2:07 A.M., 
WOODS and Bradley were observed by Cardroom Supervisor Kristopher Richard sitting at table #6.  
WOODS was seated in seat #4, and Bradley seated in seat #3, were participating in live poker 
games.  According to the Incident Report, while playing, WOODS and Bradley were observed on 
numerous occasions colluding with each other by looking at each other’s hands, swapping cards 
with each other, and “capping” their bets to get a larger payout on winning hands.  These actions 
are all considered cheating and at 2:11 A.M., Cardroom Supervisor Richard requested that 
Surveillance conduct video review of table #6 to confirm his observations. 
 
Review of surveillance video recordings confirmed that WOODS and Bradley had exchanged cards 
on numerous occasions.  Cardroom Supervisor Richard notified Security Manager Jose Santiago to 
respond to the cardroom.  Santiago along with Security Shift Supervisor Vladamir Morency arrived 
in the cardroom and confronted WOODS and Bradley at table #6.  Morency advised both WOODS 
and Bradley that they were being permanently excluded from the facility for cheating.  They were 
allowed to cash out their remaining chips and after doing so, they were allowed to leave the facility 
without further incident. 
 
Independent review of surveillance video by this Investigator for July 1, 2023, from 11:12 P.M., and 
2:09 A.M., revealed that WOODS and Bradley were seated at Poker Table #6.  WOODS was 
seated in seat #4, and Bradley in seat #3, both were playing live poker games. 
 
At 11:17 P.M., - Bradley receives a food container from the table server and places the food 
container onto the poker table.  The dealer proceeds to play the game.  WOODS is seen sitting in 
the seat #4 directly to the left of Bradley who is seated in seat #3.  She holds and spreads her cards 
in her hands forward so that Bradley can see them. 
 
11:19 P.M., - Bradley leans back in his seat to look at the cards that WOODS had in her hand, and 
then removes a card from his hand and places it underneath the food container. 
 
11:20 P.M., - WOODS then removes a card from her hand and tosses it underneath the food 
container towards Bradley.  Bradley then switches the cards underneath the container and pushes 
the switched card back towards WOODS.  WOODS retrieves the card and removes the food 
container from the table, and they continue to play. 
 
11:22 P.M., WOODS and Bradley are seen showing each other their hands and they continue to 
play. 
 
11:25 P.M., a new game starts and cards are dealt to the players.  Bradley leans over toward 
WOODS and looks at her hand.  He then retrieves the food container that he had previously used to 
conceal his deception (switching of cards) and places it back on the card table.  He then proceeds 
to conceal a card underneath the food container as he had done previously, and WOODS places a 
card from her hand underneath the container as well.  They once again swap cards underneath the 
container and continue to play.  Both are seen constantly looking at each other’s hand and pointing 
at certain cards being held by each other.  The food container is then removed from the card table, 
and they continue to play.  At one-point WOODS and Bradley are seen giving each other a high-five 
after realizing they won the hand. 
 
11:30 P.M., a new hand is dealt, and WOODS and Bradley look at their hands.  Bradley then leans 
over towards WOODS, and she shows him her hand.  Bradley reaches back from the card table 
and retrieves the food container and places it back on the card table.  He then places a card from 
his hand underneath the container and pushes the container towards WOODS.  They swap cards 
again and remove the container. 
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11:34 P.M., Bradley is observed placing an additional red five-dollar chip onto WOODS’s already 
placed bet on the Flush Rush bet circle after all bets had already been made.1  WOODS then 
added an additional five-dollar chip to her original Flush Rush bet circle to get a larger payout 
should she win the hand.  In this game, WOODS won the hand. 
 
11:42 P.M., Bradley and WOODS are observed looking at each other’s hand during the game and 
Bradley passes a card to the left towards WOODS.  They again exchange cards and continue to 
play. 
 
11:44 P.M., After receiving their cards from the dealer Bradley and WOODS pick up their cards and 
look at them utilizing both hands.  They then position themselves to look at each other’s cards. 
Bradley removes a card from his hand and pushes it on the table towards WOODS’s second hand 
of cards that are on the table.  WOODS places a card on the table next to the bumper, and adds the 
card that Bradley pushed towards her card in her hand.  Bradley then picks up the card placed by 
the bumper by WOODS and places it in his hand. 
 
Throughout the evening, both WOODS and Bradley continuously colluded and cheated with each 
other.  It was not until 2:11 A.M., when they were observed by Poker Supervisor Kristopher Richard 
that video review was requested of table #6.  Upon completion of video review, it was confirmed 
that both WOODS and Bradley were cheating by exchanging cards with each other.  The total 
amount won by both individuals related to their deceptive actions totaled $7,345.  The above 
timelines and total amount won are documented in Exhibit #2. 
 
On July 5, 2023, Calder Casino notified WOODS in writing that she was no longer allowed on 
Calder Casino property.  A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit #4. 
 
On July 18, 2023, this Investigator spoke with Poker Supervisor Kristopher Richard regarding this 
incident.  Richard confirmed the information documented in the Incident Reports and added that on 
the day of the incident he was the Poker Floor Supervisor.  He suspected WOODS and Bradley of 
cheating because they were constantly winning hands.  So, to observe them better, he sat at table 
#1 which is adjacent to table #6 where WOODS and Bradley were seated.  Richard stated that 
while watching them play he noticed WOODS and Bradley swap cards with each other.  After 
seeing them swap cards he went to Surveillance and requested a review of them playing at the 
table #6. 
 
After Richard confirmed the cheating, he contacted Security Manager Jose Santiago to meet him in 
the cardroom to confront WOODS and Bradley.  Santiago along with Security Shift Supervisor 
Vladamir Morency responded to the cardroom and advised WOODS and Bradley that they were 
being permanently excluded from the facility for cheating.  They were then allowed to cash out their 
remaining chips and were escorted out of the facility. 
 
According to the Calder Surveillance Report # 21949, although it was confirmed that WOODS and 
Bradley were caught cheating, they were still allowed to cash out and leave the facility with a total of 
$5,400.00 (Exhibit #2). 
 
Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review.   

 
1 This is known as Capping, and it is done to enhance your winning hand.  Throughout the Poker industry this is considered 
cheating. 
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 
HTTPS://FLGAMING.GOV/  

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
SOUTHERN 

Date of Complaint: 
July 6, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 03 7689 

Respondent: 
 
WOODS, LANICA 
1931 NW 79TH PLACE 
MIAMI, FLORIDA 33147 
 

Complainant: 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD. SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 
TEL (954) 202-3900 

License # and Type: 
N/A   -   1098 

Profession: 
Patron 

Report Date: 
July 18, 2023 

Period of Investigation: 
July 5, 2023, through July 18, 2023 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Alleged Violation: 75-11.005 Prohibitions. 
(4) No person shall, either directly or indirectly: 
(a) Employ or attempt to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any participant in a game or the cardroom 

operator. 

(b) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation that would constitute a fraud or deceit upon any participant in a 

game or the cardroom operator. 

(c) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation with the intent of cheating any participant or the cardroom 

operator. 
Synopsis: On July 5, 2023, this Investigator was informed by Calder Casino Director of Compliance Iliana Velazquez 
via e-mail of a cheating incident that occurred on July 1, 2023, between 11:12 P.M., and 2:07 A.M.  Velazquez’s e-mail 
notified this Investigator that cardroom Patrons Antwan Bradley and Lanica WOODS were observed cheating during 
numerous live poker games.  Bradley and WOODS were observed by Cardroom Supervisor Kristopher Richard 
swapping cards with each other after looking at each other’s hand.  All bets had already been made and the game was 
in play.  Due to their actions, both patrons were permanently excluded from the facility for cheating.  Velazquez 
provided this Investigator with copies of the Security and Surveillance Reports, as well as letters addressed to the 
patrons notifying them of their exclusion.  These items are attached as Exhibits #1 thru 4.  On July 10, 2023, a copy of 
the surveillance video footage capturing the above incident was obtained from Calder Surveillance Manager Leonides 
Martinez and was placed in the PMW Investigations evidence room for safe keeping. 
 

Related Case(s): 2023 03 7698, 2023 04 1937 

Investigator   /   Date: July 18, 2023 
 

 
Tyrell Smith   /    

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 
 
 
 
Julio Minaya   /   July 28, 2023 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 
 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   August 16, 2023 
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Further investigation into the facts and a review of the surveillance footage and Surveillance 
Incident Report # 21949, revealed that on July 1, 2023, between 11:12 P.M. and 2:07 A.M., 
WOODS and Bradley were observed by Cardroom Supervisor Kristopher Richard sitting at table #6.  
WOODS was seated in seat #4, and Bradley seated in seat #3, were participating in live poker 
games.  According to the Incident Report, while playing, WOODS and Bradley were observed on 
numerous occasions colluding with each other by looking at each other’s hands, swapping cards 
with each other, and “capping” their bets to get a larger payout on winning hands.  These actions 
are all considered cheating and at 2:11 A.M., Cardroom Supervisor Richard requested that 
Surveillance conduct video review of table #6 to confirm his observations. 
 
Review of surveillance video recordings confirmed that WOODS and Bradley had exchanged cards 
on numerous occasions.  Cardroom Supervisor Richard notified Security Manager Jose Santiago to 
respond to the cardroom.  Santiago along with Security Shift Supervisor Vladamir Morency arrived 
in the cardroom and confronted WOODS and Bradley at table #6.  Morency advised both WOODS 
and Bradley that they were being permanently excluded from the facility for cheating.  They were 
allowed to cash out their remaining chips and after doing so, they were allowed to leave the facility 
without further incident. 
 
Independent review of surveillance video by this Investigator for July 1, 2023, from 11:12 P.M., and 
2:09 A.M., revealed that WOODS and Bradley were seated at Poker Table #6.  WOODS was 
seated in seat #4, and Bradley in seat #3, both were playing live poker games. 
 
At 11:17 P.M., - Bradley receives a food container from the table server and places the food 
container onto the poker table.  The dealer proceeds to play the game.  WOODS is seen sitting in 
the seat #4 directly to the left of Bradley who is seated in seat #3.  She holds and spreads her cards 
in her hands forward so that Bradley can see them. 
 
11:19 P.M., - Bradley leans back in his seat to look at the cards that WOODS had in her hand, and 
then removes a card from his hand and places it underneath the food container. 
 
11:20 P.M., - WOODS then removes a card from her hand and tosses it underneath the food 
container towards Bradley.  Bradley then switches the cards underneath the container and pushes 
the switched card back towards WOODS.  WOODS retrieves the card and removes the food 
container from the table, and they continue to play. 
 
11:22 P.M., WOODS and Bradley are seen showing each other their hands and they continue to 
play. 
 
11:25 P.M., a new game starts and cards are dealt to the players.  Bradley leans over toward 
WOODS and looks at her hand.  He then retrieves the food container that he had previously used to 
conceal his deception (switching of cards) and places it back on the card table.  He then proceeds 
to conceal a card underneath the food container as he had done previously, and WOODS places a 
card from her hand underneath the container as well.  They once again swap cards underneath the 
container and continue to play.  Both are seen constantly looking at each other’s hand and pointing 
at certain cards being held by each other.  The food container is then removed from the card table, 
and they continue to play.  At one-point WOODS and Bradley are seen giving each other a high-five 
after realizing they won the hand. 
 
11:30 P.M., a new hand is dealt, and WOODS and Bradley look at their hands.  Bradley then leans 
over towards WOODS, and she shows him her hand.  Bradley reaches back from the card table 
and retrieves the food container and places it back on the card table.  He then places a card from 
his hand underneath the container and pushes the container towards WOODS.  They swap cards 
again and remove the container. 
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11:34 P.M., Bradley is observed placing an additional red five-dollar chip onto WOODS’s already 
placed bet on the Flush Rush bet circle after all bets had already been made.1  WOODS then 
added an additional five-dollar chip to her original Flush Rush bet circle to get a larger payout 
should she win the hand.  In this game, WOODS won the hand. 
 
11:42 P.M., Bradley and WOODS are observed looking at each other’s hand during the game and 
Bradley passes a card to the left towards WOODS.  They again exchange cards and continue to 
play. 
 
11:44 P.M., After receiving their cards from the dealer Bradley and WOODS pick up their cards and 
look at them utilizing both hands.  They then position themselves to look at each other’s cards. 
Bradley removes a card from his hand and pushes it on the table towards WOODS’s second hand 
of cards that are on the table.  WOODS places a card on the table next to the bumper, and adds the 
card that Bradley pushed towards her card in her hand.  Bradley then picks up the card placed by 
the bumper by WOODS and places it in his hand. 
 
Throughout the evening, both WOODS and Bradley continuously colluded and cheated with each 
other.  It was not until 2:11 A.M., when they were observed by Poker Supervisor Kristopher Richard 
that video review was requested of table #6.  Upon completion of video review, it was confirmed 
that both WOODS and Bradley were cheating by exchanging cards with each other.  The total 
amount won by both individuals related to their deceptive actions totaled $7,345.  The above 
timelines and total amount won are documented in Exhibit #2. 
 
On July 5, 2023, Calder Casino notified WOODS in writing that she was no longer allowed on 
Calder Casino property.  A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit #4. 
 
On July 18, 2023, this Investigator spoke with Poker Supervisor Kristopher Richard regarding this 
incident.  Richard confirmed the information documented in the Incident Reports and added that on 
the day of the incident he was the Poker Floor Supervisor.  He suspected WOODS and Bradley of 
cheating because they were constantly winning hands.  So, to observe them better, he sat at table 
#1 which is adjacent to table #6 where WOODS and Bradley were seated.  Richard stated that 
while watching them play he noticed WOODS and Bradley swap cards with each other.  After 
seeing them swap cards he went to Surveillance and requested a review of them playing at the 
table #6. 
 
After Richard confirmed the cheating, he contacted Security Manager Jose Santiago to meet him in 
the cardroom to confront WOODS and Bradley.  Santiago along with Security Shift Supervisor 
Vladamir Morency responded to the cardroom and advised WOODS and Bradley that they were 
being permanently excluded from the facility for cheating.  They were then allowed to cash out their 
remaining chips and were escorted out of the facility. 
 
According to the Calder Surveillance Report # 21949, although it was confirmed that WOODS and 
Bradley were caught cheating, they were still allowed to cash out and leave the facility with a total of 
$5,400.00 (Exhibit #2). 
 
Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review.   

 
1 This is known as Capping, and it is done to enhance your winning hand.  Throughout the Poker industry this is considered 
cheating. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Elina Valentine, Deputy General Counsel 
Re:   Garrett T. Anderson v. FGCC; Case No. 2023-037859 
Date:   January 29, 2024 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering (the “Division”) seeks to adopt the hearing 
officer’s recommended order denying Garret T. Anderson’s (“Petitioner”) 
application for a Cardroom Employee Occupational License (the “Application”). 
Following review of the Application submitted by Petitioner on May 8, 2023, the 
Commission issued a Letter of License Denial, notifying Petitioner of its intent to 
deny the Application based on Petitioner’s felony convictions. Petitioner requested 
an informal hearing, which was held on November 15, 2023. The informal hearing 
officer recommended denying the Application. Therefore, the Florida Gaming 
Control Commission should adopt the hearing officer’s recommended order and 
deny Petitioner’s application for a Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On September 11, 2023, the Commission issued a Letter of License Denial, notifying 
Petitioner of its intent to deny the Application based on Petitioner’s felony 
convictions in the state of Florida. Specifically, on September 15, 2022, Petitioner 
was convicted of the following: 
 

• Feeling or Attempting to Elude with Sirens Active; and 
• Fleeing or Attempting to Elude High Speed. 

 
On October 9, 2023, Petitioner requested an informal hearing pursuant to section 
120.57(2), Florida Statutes. At the informal hearing held on November 15, 2023, 
Petitioner testified to the circumstances that led to these convictions. On January 29, 
2024, the hearing officer issued a recommended order denying the Application. The 
Hearing Officer found that Petitioner failed to establish good moral character or 
rehabilitation as set out in section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes.  
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Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.” 

  
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  
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Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.”  

  
Rule 75-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he applicant shall 
establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral character.” 

 
Staff Recommendation: The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering recommends the 
Florida Gaming Control Commission adopt the hearing officer’s recommended 
order in case number 2023-037859. 
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ANDERSON, GARRETT T.
Case No. 2023-037859

Informal Hearing Packet 

Documents Included in Case File 

Exhibit 1 …………………………………. Cover Letter

Exhibit 2 …………………………………. Notice of Informal Hearing

Exhibit 3…………………………………...Letter of License Denial

Exhibit 4 …………………………………. Election of Rights

Exhibit 5 …………………………………. Report of Investigation
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      JULIE I. BROWN, VICE-CHAIR 
CHUCK DRAGO, COMMISSIONER 
JOHN D’AQUILA, COMMISSIONER 

TINA REPP, COMMISSIONER 

OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL 

4070 ESPLANADE WAY 
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399 

October 24, 2023 

Garrett T. Anderson 
1007 Wanderer Dr. 
Deltona, FL 32738-7159 

RE: Garrett T. Anderson Case v. FGCC 
No.: 2023-037859 

           Dear Mr. Anderson: 

Enclosed please find a Notice of Hearing for the informal hearing that has been scheduled in the above-referenced 
case. Your hearing is scheduled to be heard on Wednesday, November 15, 2023 between 10:00 a.m. and 12:00 
p.m. (Eastern Time). Please read the Notice of Hearing for more details about the date, time, location and
instructions for the hearing. A copy of the Commission’s case file has been mailed to your address of record. Please
ensure that you have this case file available during the hearing, as you may need to refer to it throughout the hearing.

You may also provide written or oral evidence or have witnesses testify on your behalf. Any evidence that you wish 
to present to the Hearing Officer and any names and contact information of witnesses you plan to call at the hearing 
should be emailed to Elizabeth.Stinson@flgaming.gov at least 7 days before the date of the hearing. If you do not 
have an email address, please contact me for an alternative method to provide the requested information. 

Please note: If you choose not to attend the hearing in person or by video conference, we will be conducting the 
hearing telephonically; you will be contacted between 10:00 AM and 12:00 PM (EST) at the following number: 
(386) 473-5509. If that number is incorrect, please contact me as soon as possible to notify me of the correct number
at which to reach you. Failure to answer the telephone, promptly return a missed call, or hold an open line will
result in the hearing proceeding without you.

Below please find information about the informal hearing process: 
1. The Informal Hearing is held on the date and time noted in the Notice of Hearing.
2. Approximately 14 to 21 days after the hearing, Proposed Recommended Orders, or recommendations for

what the Hearing Officer’s ruling should be, are sent to Hearing Officer.
3. Approximately 21 to 45 days after the Proposed Recommended Orders are submitted, the Hearing Officer

will submit his or her recommended ruling to the Clerk of the Commission’s office.
4. A Final Order will be issued within approximately 90 days after the date of the hearing. The Final Order

is final agency action and will describe the resolution of your case.

Should you have any questions or need any assistance, please feel free to contact me via telephone or email at 850-
794-8071 or Melinda.Bristow@flgaming.gov.

Sincerely,

/s/ Melinda Bristow 
Melinda Bristow 
Administrative Assistant II 
Enclosures: Notice of Hearing and Case File 
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STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

   FGCC Case No.: 2023-037859 

GARRETT T. ANDERSON, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING,  

   
Respondent. 

_______________________________________/ 

NOTICE OF TELEPHONIC HEARING 

TO: Garrett T. Anderson 
1007 Wanderer Dr. 
Deltona, FL 32738 

YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that the Commission’s designated Hearing Officer will 

conduct a hearing in this matter, pursuant to Section 120.57(2), Florida Statutes. If you wish to present 

oral or written evidence, you must attend the hearing. The hearing is scheduled for Wednesday, 

November 15, 2023, between 10:00AM and 12:00PM (Eastern Time).  If you choose not to 

attend the hearing in person or by video conference, the Hearing Officer will call you at 

(386) 473-5509 sometime between 10:00AM – 12:00PM (EST). Please be available to take the 

Hearing Officer’s call. Failure to answer the telephone, promptly return a voicemail, or hold an open 

line may result in the hearing proceeding without you. 

You may elect to attend the hearing in person or by video conference. If you wish to do 

so, you must contact the Commission by email at Melinda.Bristow@flgaming.gov or telephone at 

(850) 794-8071, at least seven (7) days prior to your hearing date. If you do not elect to attend by 

video conference or in person, the hearing will automatically be held by telephone only. You 

may also provide written or oral evidence or have witnesses testify on your behalf. Any evidence 

Garrett T. Anderson vs. FGCC 
FGCC Case No. 2023-037859
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that you wish to present to the Hearing Officer and any names and contact information of witnesses 

you plan to call at the hearing should be emailed to Elizabeth.stinson@flgaming.gov at least 7 days 

before the date of the hearing. If you do not have an email address, please contact me for an alternative 

method to provide the requested information. 

If you cannot attend the hearing and wish to request a continuance for good cause, you must 

notify the Hearing Officer at (hearing officer email) and Opposing Counsel at (opposing counsel 

email) at least five (5) days prior to your hearing date. Continuance requests made within five (5) 

days of the hearing can only be granted for emergencies. 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been furnished to: the 

above-named parties via certified mail, on this 24th day of October, 2023. 

By: /s/ Melinda Bristow 
Melinda Bristow
Administrative Assistant II 
Florida Gaming Control Commission, 
Office of the General Counsel, 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
4070 Esplanade Way, Suite 250
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 
Telephone: (850) 794-8071 
Facsimile: (850) 9536-8709 
Melinda.Bristow@flgaming.gov 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special 

accommodations to participate in this hearing is asked to advise the agency at least 48 hours before 

the hearing by contacting Melinda Bristow at (850) 794-8071.  If you are hearing or speech 

impaired, please contact the agency by calling 1-800-955-8771.  

Garrett T. Anderson vs. FGCC
FGCC Case No. 2023-037859
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 
HTTPS://FGCC.FL.GOV/ 

 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

WAIVER INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
Central 

Date of Complaint: 
July 7, 2023 

Case Number: 
2023 03 7859 

Respondent: 
 

ANDERSON, GARRETT T. 
1007 WANDERER DRIVE 
DELTONA, FLORIDA 32738 
          
Phone: (850) 867-9074  

Complainant: 
 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BOULEVARD, SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 

License # / Type: 
11565390 / 1012 

Profession: 

DEALER 
Report Date: 

JULY 24, 2023 
Period of Investigation: 

JULY 7, 2023 – JULY 24, 2023 
Type of Report: 

Final 
Basis of Investigation: This investigation is predicated upon receipt of Garrett T. ANDERSON’S State of 
Florida Pari-Mutuel Occupational License Application dated April 26, 2023, and Waiver Request Form dated 
July 6, 2023. 
 
On April 26, 2023, ANDERSON applied for a PMW Cardroom Employee Occupational license to work as a 
Poker Dealer at Orange City Racing & Card Club.  On his application, he answered “Yes” to the question on 
page 2 of the application, “Have you ever been convicted of, or had adjudication withheld for any crime, or 
pled guilty or nolo contendere to any criminal charges against you?”  ANDERSON disclosed a 2022 Felony 
conviction in Volusia County, FL. for Fleeing or Attempting to Elude High Speed and Fleeing or Attempting 
to Elude.  
 
  

Related Case: 2022 04 8147 
 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington / July 24, 2023 

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones   /   July 28, 2023 
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CRIMINAL HISTORY 

Arrest 1 
Date of Arrest: 
02/25/2022 

Arresting Agency: 
Volusia County Sheriff’s Office, FL. 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1 Fleeing or Attempting to Elude 

High Speed (2nd Degree) 
Felony Nolo 

Contendere 
Adjudicated 
Guilty 

09/15/2022 

2 Fleeing or Attempting to Elude 
(3rd Degree) 

Felony Nolo 
Contendere 

Adjudicated 
Guilty 

09/15/2022 

3      

4      
 

SENTENCE 
Placed on Community Control for 24 months and fined $651.00.  

 
Additional Information: Applicant failed to notify the Division of his arrest and subsequent 
conviction while licensed as a Poker Dealer. 
 
 

Arrest 2 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 
 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      

2      

3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
 

Additional Information:   
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 3 

 
 
CRIMINAL HISTORY 

Arrest 3 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 
 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
              

 
Additional Information: 

 
 

Arrest 4 
Date of Arrest: 
 

Arresting Agency: 

OFFENSE 
 CLASSIFICATION PLEA DISPOSITION CONVICTION 

DATE 
1      
2      
3      
4      
 

SENTENCE 
 

 
Additional Information: 
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 4 

 
ADDITIONAL LICENSES 
 YES NO 
Has the Applicant ever possessed a Florida Pari-Mutuel Occupational License? X  
Does the Applicant possess an Occupational License from other jurisdictions?  X 
 
1.  License Type: 1012 – Cardroom Employee Occupational 
Date Licensed: 

07/14/2020 
Expiration Date: 

06/30/2023 
License #: 
11565390 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
FGCC 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?  X 
Was any derogatory information received? X  
Additional Comments: Applicant’s was issued an Administrative Complaint due to his 
Felony convictions noted above and failure to notify the Division of the convictions, 
FGCC Case 2022 04 8147 (Exhibit #4).  
 

 
2.  License Type:  
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date: 
 

License #: 
 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments:  

 
3.  License Type:  
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date:  License #:  
 

Agency or Jurisdiction: 
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments: 
 
 

 
4.  License Type:  
Date Licensed: 
 

Expiration Date:  License #:  Agency or Jurisdiction:  
 

 YES NO 
Has License ever been suspended or revoked?   
Was any derogatory information received?   
Additional Comments: 
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 5 

 
WAIVER INTERVIEW 
 YES NO 
Was a Waiver Interview Conducted? X  

 

Date of Interview:  
July 11, 2023 

Location of Interview:  
Via telephone  

 YES NO 
Was the applicant cooperative? X  
Additional Comments:  
 
 

 
SUMMARY OF INTERVIEW: 
In discussing ANDERSON's 2022 Felony convictions, he explained that on the date of 
the incident, he met up with some friends for drinks.  He stated that he and another guy 
started going back and forth about which one of their cars was faster, his New Dodge 
Charger or the other guy's Ford Mustang.  ANDERSON said everyone left the bar to go 
to another bar except for him, who was heading home.  He said while stopped at a red 
light, the guy he was talking to about whose car was fastest was next to him at the light.  
 
ANDERSON said when the light turned green, they both “hit it” (sped) for a few 
seconds.  ANDERSON said he saw the police but did not stop because he was afraid 
the police would think he was street racing and impound the car he just bought, so he 
kept driving to get home.  ANDERSON further stated that after driving away from the 
police, he stopped and tried to report that his car was stolen and flagged down a police 
officer driving by.  Upon questioning, the police officer knew he was lying, 
and ANDERSON was arrested. 
  
ANDERSON further explained that he was going through a rough time and had just 
ended a toxic relationship with a woman he should not have been dating.  He said she 
continued to harass him, which put him “in a bad place” mentally.  
  
When asked why he failed to notify the Division after he was arrested and subsequently 
convicted, ANDERSON said he was unaware he had to make any such notification. 
 
ANDERSON provided letters of support from his parents and brother (Exhibit #4). 
 
CONCLUSION: 
A check of the Association of Racing Commissioners International (ARCI) database 
showed no rulings against ANDERSON.  
 
Case Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Licensing. 
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Notice to Appear Instruction Sheet
Follow these instructions according to the boxes checked.

Mandatory Court Appearance -- You MUST appear at COURT. You will receive a Notice of Arraignment from the County Clerk's
Office at the mailing address you have given. Failure to appear at the time and place designated, will result in a warrant being issued for your arrest.

Court Appearance Not Mandatory -- You MUST comply with EITHER A or B:

PAYMENTS SHOULD BE MADE PAYABLE TO:

CLERK OF THE COURT.

A.  Pay the Fine: You must complete the waiver information below and either mail or personally present this citation at the Clerk's
Office checked below, from 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday within 15 days of the issuance of this Notice to
Appear. Fines may be paid in cash, personal check, money order or certified check made payable to: Clerk of the Court

Total fine and costs you must pay: $

ATTENTION:  PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES
If you are a person with a disability who needs any accommodation in order to participate in this proceeding, you are
entitled, at no cost to you, to the provision of certain assistance.  Please contact Court Administration, 125 E. Orange Avenue,
Ste.300, Daytona Beach, FL 32114; Telephone: 386-257-6096 within two (2) working days of your receipt of this notice: If you
are hearing or voice impaired, call 1-800-955-8771 or 1-800-955-8770.  THIS IS NOT A COURT INFORMATION LINE.

Plea and Waiver Information
If this notice indicates that you have the option to pay a fine or appear in court and you choose to pay the fine, follow the instructions in
paragraph A above.  Read and sign this page. This page MUST be returned to the clerk's office with your fine payment.

1.    In consideration of my not appearing in court, I enter my plea on the affidavit in this case, for the offense charged, waiving my
right to be present and the reading of the affidavit.  I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me and hereby enter my plea
of guilty or nolo contendere (no contest) .

2.    In doing so, I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me, I understand that I waive my right to counsel, the right to a trial
before a judge or jury, the right to a continuance, and the right to appeal.  Payment of this fine will result in adjudication of guilt
to this charge being withheld.

3.    By my signature, I acknowledge that I understand the above statements.  I am not under the influence of alcohol or drugs. I also
certify that my address listed below is correct.

Defendant's Signature:

Defendant's Name (print):

Date:

Volusia
Court Case
Number:

Number:
Agency Case

.

Pg #        of

Defendant's Address:

(DO NOT MAIL CASH.)

You MUST request that a court date be set within 15 days of the issuance of this Notice to Appear (if
the 15th day falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, the period is extended to the next working day) by either appearing

B.  Contest the Citation:

of the Court at the address checked below.

COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICES:
Volusia County Courthouse, room B155, 101 N. Alabama Avenue, Deland, FL, 32724

Court House Annex, room 109, 125 E. Orange Avenue, Daytona Beach, FL, 32114

Volusia County Courthouse, room 6, 124 N. Riverside Drive, New Smyrna Beach, FL, 32169

between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. at the Clerk's Office checked below, or by mailing your written request to the
Clerk

I agree to appear at the time and place as designated above to answer the listed charge(s) or pay the fine and costs.  I
understand that if I willfully fail to request a court date and/or fail to appear before the court as required by this Notice to
Appear, or fail to pay the indicated fine and costs on or before the date set forth above, I may be held in contempt of court and a
warrant for my arrest will be issued.

DEFENDANT'S SIGNATURE (MANDATORY):

(First) (Middle) (Last)

32
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I swear/affirm the above statements are correct and true

OFFICER'S/COMPLAINANT'S SIGNATURE

NAME (PRINTED) ID NUMBER

Sworn to and subscribed before me, the undersigned

this day of

Name:

, ,

Type of Identification:

Right Thumb

Law Enforcement Officer

Produced Identification

Narrative
Supplement

707-B
Court Case
Number: Page # of

CHARGES DOMESTIC
VIOLENCE?

Charge: FEL ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

Charge:

Charge: FEL MISD ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

FEL MISD ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

MISD

#

#

#

Number:
Agency Case(Last) (First) (Middle)

Notary Public

Personally Known

Defendant
Name:

Arrest

Affidavit

Notice to Appear

Adult

Juvenile

Yes Attachments:   Affidavit(s)? Statement(s) NTA Schedule Report Traffic Infraction(s)
Total
Charges:

3 3

Anderson Garrett T 220000577

1

16 

17 Deputy Marty was in the area of Garfield and Doyle Rd and observed the vehicle at which point he attempted to conduct a traffic stop at which point 
18 the vehicle fled from him as well. See VSO case #VP220003912 for details. This was at approximately 0124:04 hours per CAD.

19 

20 Deputy Nealis was set up east of Deputy Marty at Doyle Rd/Lush Ln with stop sticks where he was able to successfully deploy his stop sticks and 
21 deflate the vehicles tires. The vehicle continued to drive east bound on Doyle Rd. This was at approximately 0124:58 hours per CAD. 

22 

23 Deputy Marty then located the vehicle unoccupied, locked with the windows rolled up at the Circle K located at S.R. 415 and Doyle Rd. This was at 
24 approximately 0127:25 hours per CAD.  Deputy Martey observed a white male same build and hair cut as the DEF from the back walking south 
25 bound on S.R. 415 from the location of where the vehicle was located. Deputy Marty stayed with the vehicle until additional Law Enforcement Officers 
26 arrival.

27 

28 Units on scene then began to BOLO the area. At approximately 0145:19 hours per CAD the registered owner/DEF called into 911 wanting to report 
29 his vehicle stolen. The DEF explained he was on Maytown Rd walking. Deputies arrived in the 300 blk of Maytown Rd and secured the DEF. The 300 
30 blk of Maytown Rd is in a close proximity to where the vehicle was located. 

31 

32 The DEF was read his Miranda Rights by Deputy Bryant from a pre-printed card. The DEF stated he was at his friend "Ryan's" house all night and 
33 had recently left "Ryan's" house approximately 20 minutes prior to calling 911 to report his vehicle stolen. The DEF stated "Ryan's" house was off 
34 Maytown but he was unsure of the exact location. He estimated he had walked six miles to obtain cell phone service to call 911 to report his vehicle 
35 stolen. The DEF stated he walked outside of "Ryan's" house 20 minutes before calling and saw his car gone. The DEF stated he only had one key 
36 fob for the car. Noting- when the vehicle was located it showed no sign of damage to the steering column or interior of the vehicle as if it was stolen. 
37 The DEF was also found to have the only key fob to the vehicle in his pocket. When questioned how the vehicle would be stolen if he had the key fob 
38 and it was not damaged inside, he stated he did not know. While speaking with him deputies were able to speak with "Ryan". "Ryan" stated the DEF 
39 was at his house on 02-24-2022 and had left at approximately 1800 hours in his Orange Charger. Ryan had not seen the DEF since. The DEF stated 
40 "Ryan" is a close friend and would have no reason to lie to get him in trouble when asked. 

41 

42 Based on the totality of circumstance probable cause was established to state the DEF/registered owner of the vehicle was driving the car when it 
43 fled from Law Enforcement and he was placed under arrest. 

44 

45 Search incident to arrest the DEF was found to have two bar tab/receipts in his pocket. The receipts were  both for "Pub and Grill" located at 2438 S 
46 Volusia Ave in Orange City. One block away from where I originally observed the vehicle committing a traffic violation. The time stamps on the 
47 receipts are as follows; receipt #1- 02-24-2022 at 1136 hours. Receipt #2- 02-25-2022 at 0108 hours, which was approximately 11 minutes before I 
48 attempted to conduct a traffic stop on him. These receipts were taken for evidence by Deputy Martey.

49 

50 The DEF was additionally charged with Fleeing and Eluding and Misuse of 911 by Deputy Martey. See VP220003912 for VSO report/charging 
51 affidavit. 

52 

53 The DEF was issued several citation then transported to VCBJ.


25 February 2022

Harralson,Samuel OC1243
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Notice to Appear Instruction Sheet
Follow these instructions according to the boxes checked.

Mandatory Court Appearance -- You MUST appear at COURT. You will receive a Notice of Arraignment from the County Clerk's
Office at the mailing address you have given. Failure to appear at the time and place designated, will result in a warrant being issued for your arrest.

Court Appearance Not Mandatory -- You MUST comply with EITHER A or B:

PAYMENTS SHOULD BE MADE PAYABLE TO:

CLERK OF THE COURT.

A.  Pay the Fine: You must complete the waiver information below and either mail or personally present this citation at the Clerk's
Office checked below, from 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday within 15 days of the issuance of this Notice to
Appear. Fines may be paid in cash, personal check, money order or certified check made payable to: Clerk of the Court

Total fine and costs you must pay: $

ATTENTION:  PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES
If you are a person with a disability who needs any accommodation in order to participate in this proceeding, you are
entitled, at no cost to you, to the provision of certain assistance.  Please contact Court Administration, 125 E. Orange Avenue,
Ste.300, Daytona Beach, FL 32114; Telephone: 386-257-6096 within two (2) working days of your receipt of this notice: If you
are hearing or voice impaired, call 1-800-955-8771 or 1-800-955-8770.  THIS IS NOT A COURT INFORMATION LINE.

Plea and Waiver Information
If this notice indicates that you have the option to pay a fine or appear in court and you choose to pay the fine, follow the instructions in
paragraph A above.  Read and sign this page. This page MUST be returned to the clerk's office with your fine payment.

1.    In consideration of my not appearing in court, I enter my plea on the affidavit in this case, for the offense charged, waiving my
right to be present and the reading of the affidavit.  I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me and hereby enter my plea
of guilty or nolo contendere (no contest) .

2.    In doing so, I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me, I understand that I waive my right to counsel, the right to a trial
before a judge or jury, the right to a continuance, and the right to appeal.  Payment of this fine will result in adjudication of guilt
to this charge being withheld.

3.    By my signature, I acknowledge that I understand the above statements.  I am not under the influence of alcohol or drugs. I also
certify that my address listed below is correct.

Defendant's Signature:

Defendant's Name (print):

Date:

Volusia
Court Case
Number:

Number:
Agency Case

.

Pg #        of

Defendant's Address:

(DO NOT MAIL CASH.)

You MUST request that a court date be set within 15 days of the issuance of this Notice to Appear (if
the 15th day falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, the period is extended to the next working day) by either appearing

B.  Contest the Citation:

of the Court at the address checked below.

COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICES:
Volusia County Courthouse, room B155, 101 N. Alabama Avenue, Deland, FL, 32724

Court House Annex, room 109, 125 E. Orange Avenue, Daytona Beach, FL, 32114

Volusia County Courthouse, room 6, 124 N. Riverside Drive, New Smyrna Beach, FL, 32169

between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. at the Clerk's Office checked below, or by mailing your written request to the
Clerk

I agree to appear at the time and place as designated above to answer the listed charge(s) or pay the fine and costs.  I
understand that if I willfully fail to request a court date and/or fail to appear before the court as required by this Notice to
Appear, or fail to pay the indicated fine and costs on or before the date set forth above, I may be held in contempt of court and a
warrant for my arrest will be issued.

DEFENDANT'S SIGNATURE (MANDATORY):

(First) (Middle) (Last)

42
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I swear/affirm the above statements are correct and true

OFFICER'S/COMPLAINANT'S SIGNATURE

NAME (PRINTED) ID NUMBER

Sworn to and subscribed before me, the undersigned

this day of

Name:

, ,

Type of Identification:

Right Thumb

Law Enforcement Officer

Produced Identification

Narrative
Supplement

707-B
Court Case
Number: Page # of

CHARGES DOMESTIC
VIOLENCE?

Charge: FEL ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

Charge:

Charge: FEL MISD ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

FEL MISD ORD FS/ORD: Citation No.: Bond:

MISD

#

#

#

Number:
Agency Case(Last) (First) (Middle)

Notary Public

Personally Known

Defendant
Name:

Arrest

Affidavit

Notice to Appear

Adult

Juvenile

Yes Attachments:   Affidavit(s)? Statement(s) NTA Schedule Report Traffic Infraction(s)
Total
Charges:

3 4

ANDERSON GARRETT T 220003912

1

16 contact with the Circle K employee who advised she did not see anyone walk away from the vehicle and was unable to provide deputies with video 
17 surveillance. It should be noted the was observed to be locked with the engine off. 

18 

19 Deputies then queried the Charger through FCIC/NCIC which showed Garrett Anderson (D1) as the registered owner of the vehicle. At approximately 
20 0146 hours, Central Communications advised Anderson was calling on 911 where he advised he wanted to report his vehicle as stolen. Anderson 
21 then stated he had been drinking at a friends house and when he went to retrieve a cigarette from out of his vehicle he noticed it was missing. 
22 Anderson advised he had been walking on Osteen Maytown Rd, Osteen until he was able retrieve service on his cell phone. Anderson was unable to 
23 provide an address for his friend's residence.

24 

25 Deputies then made contact with Anderson who was located at 395 Osteen Maytown Rd, Osteen. It should be noted Anderson was located 
26 approximately half a mile from where his vehicle was parked and matched the description and statute of the white male who was walking south on 
27 SR 415, Osteen. Deputies observed Anderson to be nervous, intoxicated and appeared to have perspiration on his person. Anderson was then read 
28 his Constitutional Rights by Deputy Bryant where he advised he understood and wanted to speak to deputies. Anderson told deputies he had been 
29 drinking at his friend "Ryan's" house the entire day and did not leave until approximately 30 minute prior to him calling 911. Anderson advised he 
30 believed someone either stole his vehicle or had played a joke with him so he did not want to wake his friend "Ryan" up to ask. Deputies then 
31 observed Anderson carrying the Key Fob to his Dodge Charger in his front right pocket. Deputies questioned Anderson about the Key Fob where he 
32 advised he only owned one set at the time because he lost the original when he purchased the vehicle. 

33 

34 Deputies were unable to retrieve video surveillance footage from the Circle K located at 320 SR 415, Osteen and video surveillance footage from the 
35 Foxhead Lounge located at 280 SR 415, Osteen. Deputies then made contact with "Ryan" who advised Anderson was drinking at his home earlier in 
36 the day but left in his Dodge Charger at approximately 1900 hours and did not return. 

37 

38 Based on the totality of circumstances probable cause was established to charge Anderson with the act fleeing and eluding with lights and sirens 
39 active and misuse of 911.

40 

41 After a search incident to arrest, deputies retrieved two receipts located in his rear right pocket. The receipts were both for the American Pub and Grill 
42 located at 2438 S Volusia Av, Orange City which was approximately one block away from where Sergeant Harrelson observed the initial violation. 
43 Receipt #1 was observed to have a date of February 24, 2022 at 1136 hours and the name garret on it. Receipt #2 was observed to have a date of 
44 February 25, 2022 at 0108 hours, which was approximately 11 minutes prior to the initial traffic violation. Both receipts were later turned into the 
45 District 4 evidence locker for evidence. 

46 

47 Deputies later conducted an inventory on Anderson's vehicle where they located a Colt handgun serial #   in a back bag located in the rear 
48 passenger floor board. Deputies also located a white plastic container with 4.4 grams of a green leafy substance (presumptive marijuana) in the 
49 center console of the vehicle. The handgun and the presumptive marijuana was later turned into the District 4 evidence locker. 

50 

51 Anderson was also issued 2 Uniform Traffic Citations:

52 

53 AG0H63E- Flee or Attempting to Elude with lights and sirens active

54 AG0H64E- Traffic control device. 

55 

56 Anderson was additionally charged with fleeing and eluding by Sergeant Harrelson reference OCPD case #(OC220000577).


25 February 2022

MARTY,REUBEN 9086 EXHIBIT #2
PAGE  6/22356



I certify that the foregoing is a complete list of
witnesses/victims & evidence known to me. Investigating Officer ID Number Agency

Drug Amount

Drug Amount

Drug AmountDescription of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Drug Amount

Drug Amount

Drug AmountDescription of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Witness/Victim/Evidence
Court Case
Number: Page # of

Agency CaseDefendant
Name: Number:

(Last)Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

EVIDENCE COLLECTED

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Name:

Wit

Vic Race: Sex: Age: DOB: SSN:

Address

(#, Street, City, State):

Zip:

Zip:

Phone:

Phone:

Bus:

Address:

Bus/School

Relative/

Contact Name

Relative/Contact

Address:

Home:

Phone:

Statement:

Yes No

Owner Name

Owner Name

Drug Amount

(Last) (Address) Value

(Last) (Address) Value

Drug AmountDescription of Evidence

Drug AmountDescription of Evidence

Description of Evidence

Form 707-A

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

(Phone)

(Phone)

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Date Recovered Model Serial/I.D. Number

Sex:

M F

M

M

M

M

M

F

F

F

F

F

(First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(Last) (First) (Middle)

(First)

(First)

Adult

JuvenileNotice to Appear

Affidavit

Arrest

4 4

ANDERSON GARRETT T 220003912

SEE PROPERT PAGE

MARTY,REUBEN 9086 VCSO
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STATE OF FLORIDA                                          IN THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL
                                         CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR
                                         VOLUSIA  COUNTY

-VS-
                                         CASE NUMBER 2022 100408 CFDL

GARRETT THOMAS ANDERSON
Defendant                                          DC NUMBER   B61437

Local Jurisdiction Identification Number:      

ORDER OF COMMUNITY CONTROL

This cause coming before the Court to be heard, and you, the defendant, being now present before the court, and you 
having

entered a plea of guilty to been found guilty by jury verdict of

entered a plea of nolo contendere to been found guilty by the court trying the case without a jury of

Case #  2022 100408 CFDL Count  I Fleeing or Attempt to Elude High Speen, a Second Degree Felony 

Case #  2022 100408 CFDL Count  II Fleeing or Attempting to Elude, a Third  Degree Felony

SECTION 1:  JUDGMENT OF GUILT

The court hereby adjudges you to be guilty of the above offense(s).

Now, therefore, it is ordered and adjudged that the imposition of sentence is hereby withheld and that you be placed 
on Community Control for a period of Twenty four (24) Months under the supervision of the Department of 
Corrections, subject to Florida law.

SECTION 2:  ORDER WITHHOLDING ADJUDICATION

Now, therefore, it is ordered and adjudged that the adjudication of guilt is hereby withheld and that you be placed on 
Community Control for a period of        under the supervision of the Department of Corrections, subject to Florida 
law.

SECTION 3:  INCARCERATION DURING PORTION OF SUPERVISION SENTENCE

It is hereby ordered and adjudged that you be:  

committed to the Department of Corrections
for a term of       prison with credit for       jail time, followed by Community Control for a period of       
under the supervision of the Department of Corrections, subject to Florida law.
or
confined in the County Jail
for a term of       with credit for       jail time.  After you have served       of the term, you shall be placed on 
Community Control for a period of       under the supervision of the Department of Corrections, subject to Florida 
law.
or
confined in the County Jail
for a term of       with credit for       jail time, as a special condition of supervision.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that you shall comply with the following standard conditions of supervision as provided by Florida 
law:

09/20/2022 01:38:12 PM Clerk of the Circuit Court, Volusia County, Florida
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GARRETT THOMAS ANDERSON 2022 100408 CFDL

Page 2 of 5                                         Revised 07-01-2020

(1) You will report to the probation officer as directed.  

(2) You will pay the State of Florida the amount of $50.00 per month, as well as 4% surcharge, toward the cost of your supervision in 
accordance with s. 948.09, F.S., unless otherwise exempted in compliance with Florida Statutes.

(3) You will remain in a specified place.  You will not change your residence or employment or leave the county of your residence 
without first procuring the consent of your officer.

(4) You will not possess, carry or own any firearm. You will not possess, carry, or own any weapon without first procuring the consent 
of your officer.

(5) You will live without violating any law.  A conviction in a court of law is not necessary for such a violation of law to constitute a 
violation of your probation, community control, or any other form of court ordered supervision.

(6) You will not associate with any person engaged in any criminal activity.

(7) You will not use intoxicants to excess or possess any drugs or narcotics unless prescribed by a physician, an advanced practice 
registered nurse, or a physician assistant.  Nor will you visit places where intoxicants, drugs or other dangerous substances are 
unlawfully sold, dispensed or used.

(8) You will work diligently at a lawful occupation, advise your employer of your probation status, and support any dependents to the 
best of your ability, as directed by your officer.

(9) You will promptly and truthfully answer all inquiries directed to you by the court or the officer, and allow your officer to visit in 
your home, at your employment site or elsewhere, and you will comply with all instructions your officer may give you.

(10) You will pay restitution, court costs, and/or fees in accordance with special conditions imposed or in accordance with the attached 
orders.

(11) You will submit to random testing as directed by your officer or the professional staff of the treatment center where you are 
receiving treatment to determine the presence or use of alcohol or controlled substances. 

(12) You will submit a DNA sample, as directed by your officer, for DNA analysis as prescribed in ss. 943.325 and 948.014, F.S.  

(13) You will submit to the taking of a digitized photograph by the department.  This photograph may be displayed on the department’s 
website while you are on supervision, unless exempt from disclosure due to requirements of s. 119.07, F.S.

(14) You will report in person within 72 hours of your release from incarceration to the probation office in VOLUSIA County, Florida, 
unless otherwise instructed by the court or department.  (This condition applies only if section 3 on the previous page is checked.)  
Otherwise, you must report immediately to the probation office located at 334 E. NEW YORK AVE. DELAND,FLORIDA. 
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SPECIAL CONDITIONS

23.  Pay $1 per month during the term of probation or community control to supplement rehabilitative efforts through First 
Step Funds, pursuant to s. 948.039(2), F.S.

24. You shall pay to the Department of Corrections a $2.00 per month surcharge for each month you are under supervision 
pursuant to Section 948.09(1)(2), F.S. For the period of time cost of supervision is waived, this condition does not apply.  

27.  Other: Your driver's license is suspended for a period of one year. 

28.  Other: You will enroll and successfully complete an approved Advanced Driving Improvement Course as directed by 
your officer. You will pay the cost of said program. (enroll within 60 days of today) 

29.  Other: The Defendant will submit to warrantless searches of person, car and home.  

30.  Other: You will not possess any weapons, firearms or ammunition. 

31.  Other: You may perform community service at a rate of $15.00 per hour in lieu of court cost.  

32.  Other: You may convert Community Control to Probation at the halfway point with a letter to the Court.

AND, IF PLACED ON COMMUNITY CONTROL, YOU WILL COMPLY WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS, IN 
ADDITION TO THE STANDARD CONDITIONS LISTED ABOVE AND ANY OTHER SPECIAL CONDITIONS ORDERED 
BY THE COURT:

(15) You will report to your officer as directed, at least one time a week, unless you have written consent otherwise.
(16) You will remain confined to your approved residence except for one half hour before and after your approved employment,     public 

service work, or any other special activities approved by your officer.
(17) You will maintain an hourly accounting of all your activities on a daily log, which you will submit to your officer on request.

 (18)  You will successfully complete     hours of community service at a rate of      , at a work site approved by your 
officer.  Additional instructions ordered:       

(19)  You will submit to electronic monitoring, follow the rules of electronic monitoring, and pay for the cost of the electronic 
monitoring service.

Effective for offenders whose crime was committed on or after September 1, 2005, there is hereby imposed, in additional to any 
other provision in this section, mandatory electronic monitoring as a condition of supervision for those who:

 Are placed on supervision for a violation of chapter 794, s. 800.04(4), (5), or (6), s. 827.071, or s. 847.0145 and the unlawful 
sexual activity involved a victim 15 years of age or younger and the offender is 18 years of age or older; or

 Are designated as a sexual predator pursuant to s. 775.21; or
 Has previously been convicted of a violation of chapter 794, s. 800.04(4), (5), or (6), s. 827.071, or s. 847.0145 and the unlawful 

sexual activity involved a victim 15 years of age or younger and the offender is 18 years of age or older.

You are hereby placed on notice that should you violate your probation or community control, and the conditions set forth in s. 
948.063(1) or (2) are satisfied, whether your probation or community control is revoked or not revoked, you shall be placed on 
electronic monitoring in accordance with F.S. 948.063.
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Effective for offenders who are subject to supervision for a crime that was committed on or after May 26, 2010, and who has 
been convicted at any time of committing, or attempting, soliciting, or conspiring to commit, any of the criminal offenses listed in s. 
943.0435(1)(h)1.a.(I), or a similar offense in another jurisdiction, against a victim who was under the age of 18 at the time of the 
offense; the following conditions are imposed in addition to all other conditions:  
  (a) A prohibition on visiting schools, child care facilities, parks, and playgrounds, without prior approval from the offender's 
supervising officer. The court may also designate additional locations to protect a victim. The prohibition ordered under this paragraph 
does not prohibit the offender from visiting a school, child care facility, park, or playground for the sole purpose of attending a religious 
service as defined in s. 775.0861 or picking up or dropping off the offender's children or grandchildren at a child care facility or school. 
 
    (b) A prohibition on distributing candy or other items to children on Halloween; wearing a Santa Claus costume, or other 
costume to appeal to children, on or preceding Christmas; wearing an Easter Bunny costume, or other costume to appeal to children, on 
or preceding Easter; entertaining at children's parties; or wearing a clown costume; without prior approval from the court.

Effective for offenders whose crime was committed on or after October 1, 2014, and who is placed on probation or community 
control for a violation of chapter 794, s. 800.04, s. 827.071, s. 847.0135(5), or s. 847.0145, in addition to all other conditions imposed, 
is prohibited from viewing, accessing, owning, or possessing any obscene, pornographic, or sexually stimulating visual or auditory 
material unless otherwise indicated in the treatment plan provided by a qualified practitioner in the sexual offender treatment program.  
Visual or auditory material includes, but is not limited to, telephone, electronic media, computer programs, and computer services.

YOU ARE HEREBY PLACED ON NOTICE that the court may at any time rescind or modify any of the conditions of your probation, 
or may extend the period of probation as authorized by law, or may discharge you from further supervision. If you violate any of the 
conditions of your probation, you may be arrested and the court may revoke your probation, adjudicate you guilty if adjudication of 
guilt was withheld, and impose any sentence that it might have imposed before placing you on probation or require you to serve the 
balance of the sentence.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that when you have been instructed as to the conditions of probation, you shall be released from custody 
if you are in custody, and if you are at liberty on bond, the sureties thereon shall stand discharged from liability. (This paragraph applies 
only if section 1 or section 2 is checked.)

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that you pay:  
Court Costs, Fees, and Fines, as imposed at sentencing, in the total amount of: $ 651.00

Payments processed through the Department of Corrections will be assessed a 4% surcharge pursuant to s. 945.31, F.S.
Pursuant to s. 948.09, F.S., you will be assessed an amount of $2.00 per month for each month of supervision for the Training Trust Fund Surcharge.

Court Costs/Fines Waived
Court Costs/Fines in the amount of       converted to       community service hours
Court Costs/Fines in the amount of       reduced to civil judgment. 

SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS FOR PAYMENT:      

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the clerk of this court file this order in the clerk’s office and provide certified copies of same to the 
officer for use in compliance with the requirements of law.

Done and Ordered on 15th day of September, 2022

CIRCUIT JUDGE
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I acknowledge receipt of a certified copy of this order and that the conditions have been explained to me and I agree to abide by them.

Date:
Defendant 

Instructed by: Supervising Officer STATE OF FLORIDA
I HEREBY ATTEST the following is a true copy

of the original filed in this office. The
______________ day of ___________________, _____

Clerk of Circuit and County Court

By ___________________________________________
Deputy Clerk

Copies To:
Counsel for the state: _____  hand delivery open court ____  U.S. Mail ____   interoffice/hand delivery
Counsel for the defendant: _____  hand delivery open court ____  U.S. Mail ____   interoffice/hand delivery

I do certify that a copy hereof has been furnished to counsel for the state and the defendant by the method indicated 
above, done this  ____ day of _____________________, _______.

LAURA E. ROTH
CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT

By:
Deputy Clerk
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 (//www.dc.state.fl.us/index.html)
Florida Department of Corrections
(//www.dc.state.fl.us/index.html)
“Inspiring Success by Transforming One Life at a Time”

Ron DeSantis, Governor

Ricky D. Dixon, Secretary

Corrections Offender Network

Supervised Population Information Detail
(This information was current as of 9/25/2022)

DC Number: B61437

Name: ANDERSON, GARRETT THOM

Race: WHITE

Sex: MALE

Birth Date:

Supervision Begin Date: 09/15/2022

Current Location:
DAYTONA BEACH (http://pro
wpws001.fdc.myflorida.com/c

Current Status: ACTIVE

Supervision Type: COMMUNITY CONTROL - PR

Scheduled Termination Date: 09/14/2024

(https://www.vinelink.com/vinelink/servlet/SubjectSearch?
siteID=10000&agency=900&offenderID=B61437)

Current Verified PERMANENT Address:
1007 WANDERER DR 

DELTONA, FL 32738

Aliases:
GARRETT THOMAS ANDERSON
Note: The offense descriptions are truncated and do not necessarily reflect the crime for which the offender is on supervision. Please refer to the court
documents or the Florida Statutes for further information or definition.
 

Current Community Supervision History:

Offender Search (/OffenderSearch/InmateInfoMenu.aspx) Visit an Inmate (/ci/visit.html)

Correctional Institutions (/ci/index.html) Probation Services (/cc/index.html) Programs (/development/index.html)

FDC Jobs (http://www.fldcjobs.com) Newsroom (/comm/index.html) Statistics (/pub/index.html)

Partners (mailto:development@fdc.myflorida.com)
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Offense Date Offense Sentence Date County Case No. Community Supervision Length

02/25/2022 FLEE LEO/NO REGARD 09/15/2022 VOLUSIA 2210408 2Y 0M 0D

02/25/2022 FLEE/ELUDE LEO-FELONY 09/15/2022 VOLUSIA 2210408 2Y 0M 0D

 

First   Previous   Next   Last   Return to List New Search Record: 1 of 1

The Florida Department of Corrections updates this information regularly, to ensure that it is complete and accurate, however this information can
change quickly. Therefore, the information on this site may not reflect the true current location, status, scheduled termination date, or other

information regarding an offender.
This database contains public record information on felony offenders sentenced to the Department of Corrections. This information includes offenders

sentenced or released to state supervision or offenders received for supervision from another sate as the result of an Interstate Compact transfer.
Information contained herein includes current supervision offenses. Offense types include related crimes such as attempts, conspiracies and

solicitations to commit crimes. Information on offenders sentenced to county jail, county probation, or any other form of supervision is not contained.
The information is derived from court records provided to the Department of Corrections and is made available as a public service to interested citizens.

The Department of Corrections makes no guarantee as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained herein. Any person who believes
information provided is not accurate may contact the Department of Corrections.

For questions and comments, you may contact the Department of Corrections, Bureau of Probation and Parole Field Services, at DAYTONA BEACH
Circuit Office (http://prod.fdc-wpws001.fdc.myflorida.com/cc/07.html). This information is made available to the public and law enforcement in the

interest of public safety.
Search Criteria: (/OffenderSearch/search.aspx?TypeSearch=AO) Last Name: anderson First Name: garrett Search Aliases: YES Offense Category:
Supervision Type: ALL Supervision Status: ALL County of Supervision: ALL Current Location: ALL
 
Current Status Definitions: Active - offender is being actively supervised by the probation officer in the community. Active Suspense - offender is
temporarily unavailable for direct supervision during the supervision term, due to being in custody in jail or another facility, but is still being monitored
by a probation officer for release, arrest, etc. Absconder - offender absconds from supervision (his/her whereabouts are unknown and the offender is

not available for supervision) and warrant is issued for violation.

Return to Corrections Offender Information Network (../OffenderSearch/InmateInfoMenu.aspx)

Quick LinksAbout Us
(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/about.html)

As Florida's largest state
agency, and the third largest
prison system in the country,
FDC employs 24,000
members, incarcerates
approximately 80,000
inmates and supervises
nearly 146,000 offenders in
the community.

Contact an Inmate

(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/ci/ContactInmate.htm )

Public Records

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/comm/PRR.html)

Volunteer

(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/volunteer/index.html)

File a Complaint

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/apps/IGcomplaint asp)

Organization

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/org/orgchart.html

Regulatory Plan

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/pub/regulatory/2017

2018.pdf)

Victim Services

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/vict/index.html)

Inmate and Offender

Programming

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/development/index.html)

Corrections Foundation

(https://www.correctionsfoundation.org/)

Parole Information

(https://www.fcor.state.fl.us/index.shtml)

Inspector General

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/ig/index.html)

Prison Rape Elimination Act

(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/PREA/index.html)

Contact Us
(http://www.dc.state.fl.us/org

501 South Calhoun Street 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2500
 

Main: (850) 488-5021

Phone Directory

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/org/contact.html)

Citizen Services

(//www.dc.state.fl.us/citizen/index.html)
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7/19/23, 12:57 AM ARCI Online Comprehensive Ruling Report

https://www.arci-members.com/Rulings/AllRulingsReport.asp?ID=2139103 1/1

 
Comprehensive Ruling Report

Rulings Against: Garrett T. Anderson
 

 
Legal Name: Garrett T. Anderson
Birth Date: 
 

0 Total Ruling(s) Listed

"Multiple medication violation points and point totals are for advisory and informational purposes only to indicate the existence of
regulatory medication violation determinations made by racing regulatory entities in order to notify officials of possible

aggravating factor  that hould be reviewed by official  prior to taking regulatory action  Confirmation of violation  hould be
made directly with the racing regulatory entity responsible."

No Rulings
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7/19/23, 12:53 AM ARCI Online Comprehensive Licensee Report

https://www.arci-members.com/Licensees/ComprehensiveLicensee.asp?ID=2139103 1/2

 
Comprehensive Licensee Report

ARCI Licensee: Garrett T. Anderson
 

Identification Information
DOB:  
Country: USA 
Sex: Unknown 

Licensee's Names
Current Legal Name: Garrett T. Anderson

Licensee's Addresses
None

Licensee's Phone Numbers
None

Fingerprint History
None

License History
License
Number:

11565390 License Type Other/OTB/Casino 

Commission: Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel
Wagering 

State/Province: Florida 

Issue Date 7/14/2020 Expire Date 6/30/2023 
Division Dog Breed Unknown 
 
License
Number:

11565390 License Type Other/OTB/Casino 

Commission: Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel
Wagering 

State/Province: Florida 

Issue Date 7/6/2020 Expire Date 10/4/2020 
Division Dog Breed Unknown 
 
License
Number:

11565390 License Type Other/OTB/Casino 

Commission: Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel
Wagering 

State/Province: Florida 

Issue Date 12/14/2017 Expire Date 6/30/2020 
Division Dog Breed Unknown 
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https://www.arci-members.com/Licensees/ComprehensiveLicensee.asp?ID=2139103 2/2

 
License
Number:

11565390 License Type: Other/OTB/Casino 

Commission: Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel
Wagering 

State/Province: Florida 

Issue Date: 11/17/2017 Expire Date: 2/15/2018 
Division: Dog Breed: Unknown 
 
Ruling History
None
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Dear Gaming Commission,

I hope this letter finds you well. I am writing to provide a heartfelt character reference for my brother, 
Garrett Thomas Anderson, who is currently being considered for the renewal of his gaming license as a
poker dealer. I am his brother, Carl, and I want to express my unwavering support for Garrett during 
this challenging time.

Garrett is more than just a brother to me; he is a beacon of goodness and an invaluable member of our 
family. His outgoing nature, fun-loving spirit, and sarcastic sense of humor make him a joy to be 
around. Despite the circumstances that led to his current situation, I have never doubted his inherent 
goodness and his ability to learn from his mistakes.

One of Garrett's most admirable qualities is his willingness to lend a helping hand to anyone in need. I 
have witnessed him selflessly assist others countless times, always going the extra mile to ensure that 
those around him are taken care of. His genuine compassion and generosity are truly remarkable, and 
they exemplify the kind of person he is.

Garrett's passion for the game of poker is evident in every aspect of his life. As a poker dealer, he 
excels in his role due to his quick thinking, exceptional memory, and love for the game. His dedication
and enthusiasm create a vibrant and enjoyable atmosphere at the poker table, enhancing the experience
for all players. Garrett's professionalism and skill make him an invaluable asset in the gaming industry.

Beyond his professional endeavors, Garrett's impact on our family is immeasurable. He has always 
been a dependable and supportive presence in our lives. Not only does he contribute financially, 
ensuring that our family's needs are met, but he also provides emotional support and guidance when 
we need it most. Garrett's unwavering commitment to our family's well-being has made him an 
irreplaceable pillar of strength.

It is important to understand that the incident leading to Garrett's current situation was a regrettable 
mistake. It was an uncharacteristic act that does not reflect his true nature or his ability to be a 
responsible and law-abiding citizen. Prior to this incident, Garrett had a spotless record, demonstrating 
his commitment to leading a life of integrity.

In light of Garrett's exceptional character, dedication to his work, and the positive impact he has on our
family, I wholeheartedly urge you to consider renewing his gaming license. Losing his current job 
would not only jeopardize his financial stability but also have a profound impact on our family's well-
being. I firmly believe that Garrett has learned from this experience and will continue to be a valuable 
asset to the gaming industry.

Thank you for taking the time to review this character reference on behalf of my brother. Should you 
require any further information or clarification, please do not hesitate to reach out to me. I am 
confident that by considering Garrett's unique qualities and contributions, you will make the right 
decision in renewing his gaming license.

Warm regards,

Carl Anderson II
EXHIBIT #4
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Dear Gaming Commission, 

 This is Garrett's mother and father reaching out to share with you our thoughts,opinions and 

beliefs of Garrett. Firstly we would like to shed light on Garrett's selfless amazing character. Secondly, 

we would like to bring attention to Garrett's undying  passion for the game of poker and being a poker 

dealer. Lastly, the unconditional love and support for his family.  

 Garrett is extremely hard working. He goes to work all day and before coming home he goes 

grocery shopping, comes home  mows and weed eats the lawn before cooking dinner. He brings his 

girlfriend to work and still manages to show up to work on time. Garrett is also very responsible, he 

makes sure the mortgage and bills are paid. He provides food and other neccessities for the house. 

 Garrett has a passion for poker, he loves the game. He constantly watches you tube to learn all 

that he can about poker. As a family we have poker nights and play as if we were at the poker room. He 

taught his brother's girlfriend, Janae how play and deal poker and now she is a dealer at the Orange City 

Racing and Card Club. He taught his girlfriend Hayley how to play poker as well. He loves poker so much 

that he has cards tattooed on his arm. 

 Garrett has a very strong bond with his family. We were renting a home for 13 years when the 

landlord decided he needed his home back. With our belongings in storage, we were living in a motel in 

which Garrett paid the expenses, meanwhile he bought a brand new house. He calls or texts from work 

to make sure we are okay or if we need anything before he comes home. He picks up our prescriptions, 

took us on vacations, hockey games and occassionally out to dinner and buys groceries for the week. He 

is a blessing and we are grateful and proud he is our son! He deserves a second chance, please find it in 

your heart to help him and his family.  

 In conclusion, Garrett has a great personality, he is very hard working and a responsible young 

man. Garrett has a strong passion for poker. We play poker every night as a family. He trained Janae 

how to play and deal poker in which she is currantly at Orange City Racing and Card Club employed as a 

poker dealer. 

 Garrett has a strong family bond. He bought a home for his family, helps with food and travel. 

We feel he deserves a second chance, Please find it in your heart to help him and his family. It would be 

detramental if he looses his license. I appreciate and Thank you for the time you took to read this letter. 

 Sincerely,, 

          Lynda and Carl Anderson 
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Elina Valentine, Deputy General Counsel 
Re:   Andrea Bermeo; Case No. 2023-056812 
Date:   January 26, 2024 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering (the “Division”) seeks to deny Andrea 
Bermeo’s (“Applicant”) application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel 
Combination Occupational license (the “Application”). Applicant submitted a 
completed Application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational license on September 28, 2023. Upon review of the Application, it 
appears Applicant has been convicted of a misdemeanor offense for Petit Theft. 
Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize the issuance 
of a Letter of License Denial.  
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On September 19, 2023, the Applicant submitted an application to the Division for 
a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination Occupational license. On 
September 20, 2023, the Division issued to the Applicant a deficiency letter, 
requesting that the Applicant amend the Application to disclose information relating 
to an August 15, 2013, offense. On September 28, 2023, the Applicant submitted a 
completed Application. 
 
Upon review of the Application, it appears that on November 20, 2013, the Applicant 
was convicted of Petit Theft, a misdemeanor crime in the state of Florida. This 
misdemeanor conviction is a disqualifying offense pursuant to section 
849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes. 
 
On October 6, 2023, the Division received from the Applicant a request for waiver 
of the restrictions excluding offenders with disqualifying offenses. On October 18, 
2023, a Division investigator conducted a waiver interview of the Applicant. The 
Division investigator documented the waiver interview in a report submitted to the 
Executive Director of the Commission for consideration. On December 18, 2023, 
the Executive Director, having reviewed the waiver report and all relevant 
information and documents, declined to waive the restrictions excluding offenders. 
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Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.” 

 
Section 551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“. . .the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew any 
slot machine occupational license if the applicant for such license or the 
licensee has been convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the 
laws of the United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in 
any other state that would be a felony under the laws of this state 
involving arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, 
importing, conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or 
distribution of a controlled substance; racketeering; or a crime 
involving a lack of good moral character, or has had a gaming license 
revoked by this state or any other jurisdiction for any gaming-related 
offense.”  

 
Rule 75-14.009, Florida Administrative Code, provides that: 
 
 “[t]he [commission] shall deny the application for a slot machine 

occupational license if a review of the application or the investigation 
of the applicant demonstrates . . . [t]he applicant has been convicted of 
any disqualifying offense under Section 551.107(6), F.S.” 

  
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
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Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or 
declare the Applicant ineligible for a slot machine/cardroom/pari-mutuel 
combination occupational license upon a finding of a disqualifying offense pursuant 
to section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes.  Accordingly, the Division recommends 
that the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the issuance of a Letter of 
License Denial in this matter.   
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Elina Valentine, Deputy General Counsel 
Re:   Daneillia S. Forester.; Case No. 2023-057026 
Date:   January 26, 2024 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering (the “Division”) seeks to deny Daneillia S. 
Forester’s (the “Applicant”) application for a Pari-Mutuel Professional Individual 
Occupational license (the “Application”). The applicant submitted a completed 
Application on October 4, 2023. Upon review of the Application, it appears that the 
Applicant has been convicted of a felony, a disqualifying offense under section 
550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes. The Executive Director reviewed the file along with 
the waiver interview notes and declined to waive the felony conviction. Therefore, 
the Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize the issuance of a Letter 
of License Denial. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
The Applicant submitted the Application to the Division on July 12, 2023. On 
August 1, 2023, the Division issued to the Applicant a deficiency letter, requesting 
that the Applicant amend the Application to disclose information relating to an arrest 
that occurred on January 25, 2021.  On October 4, 2023, the Applicant submitted a 
completed Application.  
 
Upon review of the completed application, it appears that on December 6, 2021, the 
Applicant was convicted of Grand Theft, a felony offense in the state of Florida. 
This felony conviction is a disqualifying offense under section 550.105(5)(b), 
Florida Statutes.   
 
On October 4, 2023, the Applicant requested a waiver of the restrictions excluding 
offenders with disqualifying offenses under section 550.105(5), Florida Statutes. 
 
On November 9, 2023, a Commission investigator conducted a waiver interview of 
the Applicant.  The Commission investigator documented the waiver interview in a 
report submitted to the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control 

432



Commission for consideration. On December 18, 2023, the Executive Director 
declined to waive the restrictions excluding offenders.   

 
Relevant Law 
  
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

[t]he commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible any 
occupational license if the applicant for or holder thereof has violated 
the provisions of this chapter or the rules of the commission governing 
the conduct of persons connected with racetracks and frontons. In 
addition, the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare 
ineligible any occupational license if the applicant for such license has 
been convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the 
United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other 
state which would be a felony under the laws of this state involving 
arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering. 

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.  

 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or 
declare Applicant ineligible for any license upon a finding of a disqualifying offense 
pursuant to section 550.105(5), Florida Statutes. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize 
the issuance of a Letter of License Denial in this matter.   
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Elina Valentine, Deputy General Counsel 
Re:   Lori-Ayn Mennilli; Case No. 2023-060611 
Date:   January 26, 2024 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering (the “Division”) seeks to deny Lori-Ayn 
Mennilli’s (the “Applicant”) application for a Cardroom Employee Occupational 
license (the “Application”). The Applicant submitted a completed application for a 
Cardroom Employee Occupational License on October 13, 2023. Upon review of 
the application, it appears Applicant has been convicted of a misdemeanor offense 
for Petit Theft. The Executive Director of the Commission reviewed the file along 
with the waiver interview notes and declined to waive the misdemeanor conviction. 
Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize the issuance 
of a Letter of License Denial. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On October 12, 2023, the Division received from the Applicant an application for a 
Cardroom Employee Occupational License. On October 13, 2023, the Division 
issued to the Applicant a deficiency letter, requesting that the Applicant amend the 
Application to disclose information relating to May 20, 2021, offense.  On 
October 26, 2023, the Applicant submitted a completed Application.  
 
Upon review of the completed application, it appears that on or about June 16, 2021, 
the Applicant was convicted of Petit Theft, a misdemeanor offense in the state of 
Florida. This misdemeanor conviction is a disqualifying offense pursuant to section 
849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes. 
 
On October 26, 2023, the Applicant requested a waiver of the restrictions excluding 
offenders with disqualifying offenses. On October 30, 2023, a Division investigator 
conducted a waiver interview of the Applicant.  The Division investigator 
documented the waiver interview in a report submitted to the Executive Director of 
the Commission for consideration. On December 18, 2023, the Executive Director, 
having reviewed the waiver report and all relevant information and documents, 
declined to waive the restrictions excluding offenders. 
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Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides, in pertinent part that: 
 

. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering. 

 
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any cardroom 
occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has been found 
guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other state, or 
under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority. 

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

…the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license. 
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Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny the 
Application or declare the Applicant ineligible for a cardroom employee 
occupational license upon a finding of a disqualifying offense pursuant to section 
849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
recommends that the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the issuance of 
a Letter of License Denial in this matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Elina Valentine, Deputy General Counsel 
Re:   Christopher Van Hassel; Case No. 2023-064914 
Date:   January 26, 2024 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering (the “Division”) seeks to deny Christopher 
Van Hassel’s (the “Applicant”) application for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional 
Individual Occupational license (the “Application”). The Applicant submitted a 
completed Application on November 14, 2023. Upon review of the Application, it 
appears Applicant has been convicted of a felony, a disqualifying offense under 
section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes. The Executive Director reviewed the file 
along with the waiver interview notes and declined to waive the restrictions 
excluding offenders. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should 
authorize the issuance of a Letter of License Denial. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On November 3, 2023, the Applicant submitted an application to the Division for a 
Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional Individual Occupational License. On 
November 14, 2023, the Applicant submitted a completed Application. 
 
Upon review of the Application, it appears that on July 2, 2020, the Applicant was 
convicted of Criminal Trespass, a felony in the state of Pennsylvania. This felony 
conviction is a disqualifying offense under section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes.  
 
On November 8, 2023, the Division received from the Applicant a request for waiver 
from the restrictions excluding offenders with disqualifying offenses under section 
550.105(5), Florida Statutes.  
 
On December 4, 2023, a Division investigator conducted a waiver interview of the 
Applicant.  The Division investigator documented the waiver interview in a report 
submitted to the Executive Director of the Commission for consideration. On 
December 18, 2023, the Executive Director declined to waive the restrictions 
excluding offenders.  
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Relevant Law 
  
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

[t]he commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible any 
occupational license if the applicant for or holder thereof has violated 
the provisions of this chapter or the rules of the commission governing 
the conduct of persons connected with racetracks and frontons. In 
addition, the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare 
ineligible any occupational license if the applicant for such license has 
been convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the 
United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other 
state which would be a felony under the laws of this state involving 
arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering. 

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.  

 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or 
declare Applicant ineligible for any license upon a finding of a disqualifying offense 
pursuant to section 550.105(5), Florida Statutes. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize 
the issuance of a Letter of License Denial in this matter.   
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Elina Valentine, Deputy General Counsel 
Re:   Robert Joseph Russell; Case No. 2023-071869 
Date:   January 26, 2024 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering (the “Division”) seeks to deny Robert Joseph 
Russell’s (the “Applicant”) application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel 
Combination Occupational license (the “Application”). The Applicant submitted a 
completed Application on December 20, 2023. Upon review of the Application, it 
appears Applicant has been convicted of three felony offenses. Therefore, the 
Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize the issuance of a Letter of 
License Denial.  
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On November 17, 2023, the Applicant submitted an application for a Slot 
Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination Occupational license to the Division.  
On December 6, 2023, the Division issued to the Applicant a deficiency letter, 
requesting that the Applicant amend the Application to disclose information relating 
to a May 4, 2010, arrest in the state of Florida and a July 18, 2013, arrest in the state 
of New Jersey. On December 19, 2023, the Division issued to the Applicant a second 
deficiency letter, requesting that the Applicant amend the Application to provide 
information relating to a July 18, 2013, arrest in the state of New Jersey.  On 
December 20, 2023, the Applicant submitted a completed Application. 
 
Upon review of the Application, it appears that on August 2, 2004, the Applicant 
was convicted of the following felony offenses in the state of Florida: (i) Possession 
of Cocaine; (ii) Resist Officer with Violence; and (iii) Tamper with Physical 
Evidence. In addition, it appears that on March 13, 2019, the Applicant was 
convicted of Petit Theft, a misdemeanor offense, in the state of Florida. 
 
The Applicant did not apply for a waiver from the statutory restrictions excluding 
applicants with disqualifying offenses from slot machine licensure.  Furthermore, 
section 551.107(6), Florida Statutes, does not authorize the Executive Director to 
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waive the statutory restrictions excluding applicants with disqualifying offenses for 
slot machine licensure. 
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.” 

 
Section 551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“. . .the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew any 
slot machine occupational license if the applicant for such license or the 
licensee has been convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the 
laws of the United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in 
any other state that would be a felony under the laws of this state 
involving arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, 
importing, conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or 
distribution of a controlled substance; racketeering; or a crime 
involving a lack of good moral character, or has had a gaming license 
revoked by this state or any other jurisdiction for any gaming-related 
offense.”  

 
Rule 75-14.009, Florida Administrative Code, provides that: 
 
 “[t]he [commission] shall deny the application for a slot machine 

occupational license if a review of the application or the investigation 
of the applicant demonstrates . . . [t]he applicant has been convicted of 
any disqualifying offense under Section 551.107(6), F.S.” 
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Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

   
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny the 
Application or declare the Applicant ineligible for a slot machine/cardroom/pari-
mutuel combination occupational license upon a finding of a disqualifying offense 
pursuant to sections 550.105, 551.107, and 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes. 
Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering recommends that the Florida 
Gaming Control Commission authorize the issuance of a Letter of License Denial in 
this matter.   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Vehicle Pursuits POLICY NUMBER 

02.09.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

Section 16.711, Fla. Stat. 
Section 16.712, Fla. Stat. 

CFA 5.21 - 14.05M (K) or most recent version 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to prohibit vehicle pursuits. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy provides guidelines for vehicle pursuits in order to protect the safety of 
involved special agents, the public and fleeing suspects. 

 
III. DEFINITIONS 

 
Definitions related to this policy include: 
A. Vehicle pursuit - An event involving one or more law enforcement officers 

attempting to apprehend a suspect, who is attempting to avoid arrest while operating 
a vehicle by using high-speed driving or other evasive tactics, such as driving off a 
highway, turning suddenly or driving in a legal manner but willfully failing to yield to a 
special agent’s emergency signal to stop. 
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IV. INITIAL PURSUIT TRAINING 
 
All sworn personnel will receive initial training in this policy upon issuance. Upon hire, all 
new sworn personnel will be trained on this policy. All sworn personnel shall 
acknowledge this policy and any subsequent policy updates upon issuance.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This policy adopted by the Commission on: 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   

716



717



02.13.01 1 of 5 Lexipol #313 
 

  

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Report Preparation  POLICY NUMBER 

02.13.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.21 - 26.09M (A), (B), (C), (D), (E), (F) or 
most recent version 

Section 16.711, Fla. Stat. 
Section 16.712, Fla. Stat.  

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement that members shall act with 
promptness and efficiency in the preparation and processing of all reports. Reports shall 
document sufficient information to refresh the member’s memory and shall provide 
enough detail for follow-up investigation and successful prosecution. 

 
II. PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance to those members of the Division who 
complete investigations and reports as a part of their duties. 
 

III. EXPEDITIOUS REPORTING 
 
An incomplete report, unorganized reports or reports that are delayed without supervisory 
approval are not acceptable. Reports shall be processed according to established 
priorities or to a special priority made necessary under exceptional circumstances. 

 
IV. REPORT PREPERATION 
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Reports shall be sufficiently detailed for their purpose and free from errors prior to 
submission and approval. It is the responsibility of the member to complete and submit 
all reports taken during the shift before going off-duty unless permission to hold the 
report has been approved by a supervisor. Generally, reports requiring prompt follow-up 
action on active leads or arrest reports where the suspect remains in custody should not 
be held. 
 
All reports shall accurately reflect the identity of the persons involved; all pertinent 
information seen, heard or assimilated by any other sense; and any actions taken. 
Members shall not suppress, conceal or distort the facts of any reported incident, nor 
shall any member make a false report orally or in writing. Generally, the reporting 
member’s opinions should not be included in reports unless specifically identified as 
such.  
 

1. Handwritten or Typed Reports 
 
County, state and federal agency forms may be block printed unless the 
requirement for typing is apparent. Supervisors may require block printing or 
typing of reports of any nature for division consistency. 
 
Handwritten reports must be prepared legibly. If the report is not legible, the 
submitting member will be required by the reviewing supervisor to promptly make 
corrections and resubmit the report. 
 
In general, the narrative portion of reports where an arrest is made or when there 
is a long narrative should be typed or dictated. Members who dictate reports shall 
use appropriate grammar, as the content is not the responsibility of the typist. 
 
Members who generate reports on computers are subject to all requirements of 
this policy. 

 
2. Electronic Signatures 

 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement has established an electronic signature 
procedure for use by all members of the Division of Gaming Enforcement. The 
Chief of Law Enforcement shall be responsible for maintaining the electronic 
signature system, ensuring that each member creates a unique, confidential 
password for his/her electronic signature.  
  

A. Members may only use their electronic signatures for official reports or 
other official communications.  
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B. Each member shall be responsible for the security and use of his/her 
electronic signature and shall promptly notify a supervisor if the electronic 
signature has or may have been compromised or misused.  

  
 

V. REQUIRED REPORTING 
 
In all of the following situations, members shall complete reports using the appropriate 
Division-approved forms and reporting methods, unless otherwise approved by a 
supervisor. 
 
The reporting requirements are not intended to be all-inclusive. A member may complete 
a report in a situation not listed below if he/she deems it necessary or as directed by a 
supervisor.  
 

1. Criminal Activity 
 
When a member responds to a call for service or,as a result of self-initiated 
activity becomes aware of any activity where a crime has occurred, the member 
shall document the incident regardless of whether a victim desires prosecution.  
 
Activity to be documented in a written report includes: 
 

A. All arrests 
 

B. All felony crimes 
 

C. Non-felony criminal incidents as appropriate 
 

D. Situations covered by separate policy. These include: 
 

a. Use of Force Policy 
 

b. Domestic Violence Policy 
 

2. Non-Criminal Activity 
 
Non-criminal activity to be documented includes:  
 

A. Any found property or found evidence. 
 

B. Any time a person is reported missing, regardless of jurisdiction (see the 
Missing Persons Policy). 
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C. Suspicious incidents that may indicate a potential for crimes against 
children or that a child's safety is in jeopardy. 
 

D. Suspicious incidents that may place the public or others at risk. 
 

E. Any use of force by members of this division against any person (see the 
Use of Force Policy). 
 

F. Any firearm discharge (see the Firearms Policy). 
 

G. Any time a member points a firearm at any person. 
 

H. Whenever the member believes the circumstances should be 
documented or at the direction of a supervisor. 
 

VI. REVIEW AND CORRECTIONS 
 
Supervisors shall review reports for content and accuracy. If a correction is necessary, 
the reviewing supervisor should return the report to the reporting member for correction 
as soon as practicable. It shall be the responsibility of the originating member to ensure 
that any report returned for correction is processed in a timely manner.  
 

1. Changes and Alterations 
 
Reports that have been approved by a supervisor and submitted for filing and 
distribution shall not be modified or altered except by way of a supplemental 
report. 
 
Reviewed reports that have not yet been submitted to the Records Section may 
be corrected or modified by the authoring member only with the knowledge and 
authorization of the reviewing supervisor. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

This policy adopted by the Commission on: 
 
 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Subpoenas and Court 
Appearances  

POLICY NUMBER 

02.14.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

Section 16.711, Fla. Stat. 
Section 16.712, Fla. Stat. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
Division of Gaming Enforcement members will respond appropriately to all subpoenas 
and any other court-ordered appearances. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy establishes the guidelines for Division members who must appear in court. It 
allows the Division of Gaming Enforcement to cover any related work absences and 
keep the Division informed about relevant legal matters. 

 
III. SUBPOENAS 

 
Only Division members authorized to receive a subpoena on behalf of this Division or any 
of its members may do so. 
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1. Special Notification requirements 
 
Any member who is subpoenaed to testify, agrees to testify or provides 
information on behalf or at the request of any party other than the General 
Counsel or the prosecutor shall notify his/her immediate supervisor without delay 
regarding: 
 

A. Any civil case where the State of Florida or one of its members, as a 
result of his/her official capacity, is a party. 
 

B. Any civil case where any other city, county, state or federal unit of 
government or a member of any such unit of government, as a result of 
his/her official capacity, is a party. 
 

C. Any criminal proceeding where the member is called to testify or provide 
information on behalf of the defense. 
 

D. Any civil action stemming from the member’s on-duty activity or because 
of his/her association with the Division of Gaming Enforcement. 
 

E. Any personnel or disciplinary matter when called to testify or to provide 
information by a government entity other than the Division of Gaming 
Enforcement. 
 

The supervisor will then notify the Director of Gaming Enforcement and the 
appropriate prosecuting attorney as may be indicated by the case. The Director 
of Gaming Enforcement shall notify the General Counsel to determine if 
additional legal support is necessary. 
 
No member will be retaliated against for testifying in any matter. 
 

2. Civil Subpoena 
 
The Division will compensate members who appear in their official capacities on 
civil matters arising out of their official duties, as directed by the current collective 
bargaining agreement. 
 
The Division may seek reimbursement for the member’s compensation through 
the civil attorney of record who subpoenaed the member. 
 

3. Off-Duty related Subpoenas 
 
Members receiving valid subpoenas for off-duty actions not related to their 
employment or appointment will not be compensated for their appearance. 
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Arrangements for time off shall be coordinated through their immediate 
supervisors. 
 

IV. FAILURE TO APPEAR 
 
Any member who fails to comply with the terms of any properly served subpoena or court-
ordered appearance may be subject to discipline. This includes properly served orders to 
appear that were issued by a state administrative agency. 
 

V. STANDYBY 
 
To facilitate standby agreements, members are required to provide and maintain current 
information on their addresses and contact telephone numbers with the Division. 
 
If a member on standby changes his/her location during the day, the member shall notify 
the designated Division member of how he/she can be reached. Members are required 
to remain on standby until released by the court or the party that issued the subpoena. 
 

VI. COURTROOM PROTOCOL 
 
Members must be punctual when appearing in court and shall be prepared to proceed 
immediately with the case for which they are scheduled to appear. 
 
Members shall dress in business attire. 
 
Members shall observe all rules of the court in which they are appearing and shall 
remain alert to changes in the assigned courtroom where their matter is to be heard. 
 

1. Testimony 
 

Before the date of testifying, the subpoenaed member shall request a copy of relevant 
reports and become familiar with the content in order to be prepared for court. 
 

 
VII. OVERTIME APPEARANCES 

 
When a member appears in court on his/her off-duty time, he/she will be compensated in 
accordance with the current collective bargaining agreement. 
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This policy adopted by the Commission on: 
 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Informants  POLICY NUMBER 

02.16.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.21 - 15.03M (B), (F), (G), (H), (I), (J), 5.05M 
(A), (B), (E), (F), 15.03M (A), (B), (C), (D), (F), (K) 

or most recent version 
Section 16.711, F.S. 
Section 16.712, F.S. 
Section 914.28, F.S. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement recognizes the value of informants to law 
enforcement efforts and will strive to protect the integrity of the informant process. It is 
the policy of this division that all funds related to informant payments will be routinely 
audited and that payments to informants will be made according to the criteria outlined in 
this policy. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines for the use of informants and to 
prioritize the safety of the informant, law enforcement personnel, suspects, and the 
public Section 914.28, F.S. 

 
III. DEFINITIONS 

 
Definitions related to this policy include: 
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A. Informant - A person who covertly interacts with other individuals or suspects at 

the direction or request of, or by agreement with, the Division of Gaming 
Enforcement for law enforcement purposes. This also includes a person agreeing 
to supply information to the Division of Gaming Enforcement for a benefit (e.g., a 
quid pro quo in the form of a reduced criminal penalty, money). 
 

IV. USE OF INFORMANTS 
 

1. Initial Approval 
 
Before using an individual as an informant, a special agent must receive approval 
from his/ her supervisor and the Chief of Law Enforcement. The special agent 
shall compile sufficient information through a background investigation and 
experience with the informant in order to determine the suitability of the 
individual, including age, maturity, and risk of physical harm, as well as any 
indicators of his/her reliability and credibility. 
 
Members of this division should not guarantee absolute safety or confidentiality 
to an informant.  
 

2. Juvenile Informants 
 

The use of informants under the age of 18 is prohibited. 
 

3. Informant Agreements 
 

All informants are required to sign and abide by the provisions of the designated 
division informant agreement. The special agent using the informant shall 
discuss each of the provisions of the agreement with the informant. 
 
Details of the agreement are to be approved in writing by a supervisor and the 
Chief of Law Enforcement before being finalized with the informant. 
 
If requested, the person being considered for use as an informant shall be 
afforded an opportunity to consult with legal counsel at their own expense before 
they sign the agreement to be an informant Section 914.28, F.S. 

 
V. INFORMANT INTEGRITY 

 
To maintain the integrity of the informant process, the following must be adhered to : 
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A. The identity of an informant acting in a confidential capacity shall not be withheld 
from the Director of Gaming Enforcement, Chief of Law Enforcement, or their 
authorized designees. 
 
1. Identities of informants acting in a confidential capacity shall otherwise be 

kept confidential. 
 

B. Criminal activity by informants shall not be condoned. 
 

C. Informants shall be told they are not acting as police special agents, employees 
or agents of the Division of Gaming Enforcement, and that they shall not 
represent themselves as such. 
 

D. The relationship between division members and informants shall always be 
ethical and professional. 
 
1. Members shall not become intimately involved with an informant. 

 
2. Social contact shall be avoided unless it is necessary to conduct an official 

investigation, and only with prior approval of the Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 

3. Members shall neither solicit nor accept gratuities or engage in any private 
business transaction with an informant. 
 

E. Special Agents shall not meet with informants in a private place unless 
accompanied by at least one additional special agent or with prior approval of the 
Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 
1. Special Agents may meet informants alone in an occupied public place, such 

as a restaurant. 
 

F. When contacting informants for the purpose of making payments, special agents 
shall arrange for the presence of another special agent. 
 

G. In all instances when division funds are paid to informants, a voucher shall be 
completed in advance, itemizing the expenses.  
 

H. Since the decision rests with the appropriate prosecutor, special agents shall not 
promise the informant they will receive any form of leniency or immunity from 
criminal prosecution. 

 

 
 

730



02.16.01 4 of 9 Lexipol#602 
 

1. Unsuitable Informants 
 
The suitability of any informant should be considered before engaging him/her in 
any way in a covert or other investigative process. Factors to be considered 
include, but are not limited to Section 914.28, F.S., : 

 
A. The person's age and maturity. 

 
B. The risk the person poses to adversely affect a present or potential 

investigation or prosecution. 
 

C. The effect upon agency efforts that the disclosure of the person's 
cooperation in the community may have. 
 

D. Whether the person is a substance abuser or has a history of substance 
abuse or is in a court-supervised drug treatment program. 
 

E. The risk of physical harm to the person, his/her immediate family or close 
associates as a result of providing information or assistance or upon the 
disclosure of the person's assistance to the community. 
 

F. Whether the person has shown any indication of emotional instability, 
unreliability or furnishing false information. 
 

G. The person's criminal history or prior criminal record. 
 

H. Whether the use of the person is important to or vital to the success of an 
investigation. 
 

Any member of the Division of Law Enforcement who become aware that an 
informant, who has been previously approved in a covert or other investigative 
process, may be unsuitable will notify the supervisor and the Chief of Law 
Enforcement, who will initiate a review to determine suitability. Until a 
determination is made, the informant should not be used by any member. The 
Chief of Law Enforcement shall determine whether the informant should be used 
by the Division and, if so, what conditions will be placed on his/her participation 
or any information the informant provides. The supervisor shall document the 
decision and conditions in file notes and mark the file "unsuitable" when 
appropriate. 

 
Considerations for determining whether an informant is unsuitable include, but 
are not limited to, the following: 
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A. The informant has provided untruthful or unreliable information in the 
past. 
 

B. The informant behaves in a way that may endanger the safety of a 
special agent. 
 

C. The informant reveals to suspects the identity of a special agent or the 
existence of an investigation. 
 

D. The informant appears to be using his/her affiliation with this division to 
further criminal objectives. 
 

E. The informant creates officer-safety issues by providing information to 
multiple law enforcement agencies simultaneously, without prior 
notification and approval of each agency. 
 

F. The informant engages in any other behavior that could jeopardize the 
safety of special agents or the integrity of a criminal investigation. 
 

G. The informant commits criminal acts subsequent to entering into an 
informant agreement. 

 
VI. INFORMANT FILES 

 
Informant files shall be utilized as a source of background information about the 
informant, to enable review and evaluation of information provided by the informant, and 
to minimize incidents that could be used to question the integrity of division members or 
the reliability of the informant. 
 
Informant files shall be maintained in a secure area within the field office. The supervisor 
or the authorized designee shall be responsible for maintaining informant files. Access to 
the informant files shall be restricted to the Director of Gaming Enforcement, Chief of 
Law Enforcement or their authorized designees or those whose access is required by 
court process or order. A notation shall be made in the file each time the file is accessed 
showing the date and who accessed the file Section 914.28, F.S. 
 
The Chief of Law Enforcement should arrange for an audit using a representative 
sample or randomly selected informant files on a periodic basis, but no less than one 
time per year. If the supervisor is replaced, the files will be audited before the new 
supervisor takes over management of the files. The purpose of the audit is to ensure 
compliance with file content and updating provisions of this policy. The audit should be 
conducted by a supervisor who does not have normal access to the informant files. 
 
Informant files shall be retained according to the established retention schedule.  
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1. File System Procedure 
 
All informant files shall be part of a master informant file used by the Division. A 
separate file shall be maintained on each informant and shall be coded with an 
assigned informant control number. An informant history that includes the 
following information shall be prepared for each file : 
 

A. Name and aliases 
B. Date of birth 

 
C. Physical description: sex, race, height, weight, hair color, eye color, scars, 

tattoos, or other distinguishing features 
 

D. Photograph 
 

E. Current home address and telephone numbers 
 

F. Current employers, positions, addresses, and telephone numbers 
 

G. Vehicles owned and registration information 
 

H. Places frequented 
 

I. Briefs of information provided by the informant and the informant's 
subsequent reliability 
 

1. If an informant is determined to be unsuitable, the informant's file 
is to be marked "unsuitable" and notations included detailing the 
issues that caused this classification. 
 

J. Name of the special agent initiating use of the informant 
 

K. Signed informant agreement 
 

L. Update on active or inactive status of informant 
 

 
VII. INFORMANT PAYMENT 

 
No informant will be told in advance or given an exact amount or percentage for his/her 
service. The amount of funds to be paid to any informant will be evaluated against the 
following criteria : 

 
A. The extent of the informant's personal involvement in the case 
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B. The significance, value or effect on crime 

 
C. The value of assets seized 

 
D. The quantity of the drugs or other contraband seized 

 
E. The informant's previous criminal activity 

 
F. The level of risk taken by the informant 

 
The field office supervisor will discuss the above factors with the Chief of Law 
Enforcement and recommend the type and level of payment, subject to approval by the 
Director of Gaming Enforcement. 

 
1. Payment Process 
 

1. Payments of $500 and under may be paid in cash from the Investigative and 
Evidence fund.  
 

A. The field office supervisor shall sign the voucher for cash payouts 
from the buy/expense fund.  
 

2. Payments exceeding $500 shall be made by issuance of a check, payable to 
the special agent who will be delivering the payment. 
 

A. The check shall list the case numbers related to and supporting 
the payment. 
 

B. A written statement of the informant's involvement in the case 
shall be placed in the informant's file. 
 

C. The statement shall be signed by the informant verifying the 
statement as a true summary of his/her actions in the case. 
 

D. Authorization signatures from the Director of Gaming Enforcement 
and the Executive Director are required for disbursement of the 
funds. 
 

3. To complete the payment process for any amount, the special agent 
delivering the payment shall complete a cash transfer form. 
 

A. The cash transfer form shall include:  
1. Date. 
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2. Payment amount. 

 
3. Division of Gaming Enforcement case number. 

 
4. A statement that the informant is receiving funds in 

payment for information voluntarily rendered. 
5. Member's name. 

 
6. Informant's name or identifier. 

 
7. Purpose of payment. 

 
B. The cash transfer form shall be signed by the informant. 

 
C. The cash transfer form will be kept in the informant's file. 

 
2. Reporting of Payment 

 
Each informant receiving a cash payment shall be advised of his/her 
responsibility to report the cash to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) as income.  
 
The informant shall be provided a letter identifying the amount he/she must 
report on a tax return as “other income” and shall be required to provide a signed 
acknowledgement of receipt of the letter. The completed acknowledgement form 
and a copy of the letter shall be retained in the informant’s file.  
 

3. Audit of Payments 
 
The Chief of Law Enforcement or the authorized designee shall be responsible 
for compliance with any audit requirements associated with grant provisions, 
applicable state and federal law, and the accounting system for confidential 
funds. 
 
At least quarterly, the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized 
designee shall conduct an internal audit of all informant funds for the purpose of 
accountability and security of the funds. The audit shall include a report of 
expenditures and shall be forwarded to the Director of Gaming Enforcement 
upon completion. The funds and related documents (e.g., buy/expense fund 
records, cash transfer forms, invoices, receipts, logs) will assist with the audit 
process.  
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VIII. TRAINING 
 
The Division shall ensure that members who are involved in recruiting or handling of 
informants receive periodic training on this policy and any procedures associated with 
the policy. Documentation of the training will be stored in the member's training file.  
 

IX. ANNUAL REVIEW 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee shall conduct a 
documented annual internal review of the division practices to ensure conformity with 
policies, procedures, and state laws.  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This policy adopted by the Commission on: 
 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Warrant Services POLICY NUMBER 

02.23.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.21 - 15.08M (A), (B), (C), (D), (E) or most 
recent version 

Section 16.711, Fla. Stat. 
Section 16.712, Fla. Stat. 
Section 934.03, Fla. Stat. 

Chapter 933, Fla. Stat. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to balance the safety needs of the 
public, the safety of division members, privacy interests, and other relevant factors when 
making decisions related to the service of search and arrest warrants. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy establishes guidelines for the planning and serving of arrest and search 
warrants by members of this division. It is understood that this policy cannot address 
every variable or circumstance that can arise in the service of a search or arrest warrant, 
as these tasks can involve rapidly evolving and unique circumstances. 
 
This policy is intended to be used in conjunction with the Operations Planning and 
Deconfliction Policy, which has additional guidance on planning and serving high-risk 
warrants. 
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This policy is not intended to address the service of search warrants on locations or 
property already secured or routine field warrant arrests by patrol officers. 

 
III. CHIEF OF LAW ENFORCEMENT 

 
The Chief of Law Enforcement (see the Operations Planning and Deconfliction Policy) 
shall review all risk assessment forms with the involved supervisor to determine the risk 
level of the warrant service. 
 
The Chief of Law Enforcement will also have the responsibility to coordinate the service 
of those warrants that are categorized as high-risk. Deconfliction, risk assessment, 
operational planning, briefing, and debriefing should follow guidelines in the Operations 
Planning and Deconfliction Policy. 
 

IV. SEARCH WARRANTS 
 
A special agent should receive authorization from a supervisor before preparing a 
search warrant application. Once authorization is received, the special agent will prepare 
the affidavit and search warrant, consulting with the applicable prosecuting attorney as 
needed, prior to submission for judicial review. The special agent will also complete the 
risk assessment form and submit it, along with the warrant affidavit, to the appropriate 
supervisor and the Chief of Law Enforcement for review and classification of risk (see 
the Operations Planning and Deconfliction Policy).  
 

1. Execution 
 
When executing a search warrant, special agents should ensure: 
 

A. Reasonable efforts are made during the search to maintain or restore the 
condition of the location. 
 

B. Only the areas authorized by the warrant are subject to search. 
 

C. A list is made of all of the items that are seized, and a copy of this list is 
provided to the person in charge of the premises, if present, or otherwise 
left in a conspicuous place.  

 
D. A copy of the search warrant is left at the location. 

 
V. ARREST WARRANTS 

 
If a special agent reasonably believes that serving an arrest warrant may pose a higher 
risk than commonly faced on a daily basis, the special agent should complete the risk 
assessment form and submit it to the appropriate supervisor and the Chief of Law 
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Enforcement for review and classification of risk (see the Operations Planning and 
Deconfliction Policy). 
 
If the warrant is classified as high risk, service will be coordinated by the Chief of Law 
Enforcement. If the warrant is not classified as high risk, the supervisor should weigh the 
risk of entry into a location to make an arrest against other alternatives, such as 
arresting the person outside the location where circumstances may pose a lower risk. 
 

VI. WARRANT PREPARATION 
 
A special agent who prepares a warrant should ensure the documentation in support of 
the warrant contains as applicable: 
 

A. Probable cause to support the search or arrest, including relevant dates and 
times to demonstrate timeliness and facts to support any request for nighttime or 
no-knock warrant execution. 

 
B. A clear explanation of the affiant’s training, experience and relevant education. 

 
C. Adequately supported opinions, when relevant, that are not left to 

unsubstantiated conclusions. 
 

D. A nexus between the place to be searched and the persons or items central to 
the investigation. The facts supporting this nexus should be clear and current. 
For example, the affidavit shall explain why there is probable cause to believe 
that a particular person is currently residing at a particular location or that the 
items sought are present at a particular location. 

 
E. Full disclosure of known or suspected residents at the involved location and any 

indication of separate living spaces at the involved location. For example, it 
should be disclosed that several people may be renting bedrooms at a single 
location, even if the exact location of the rooms is not known. 

 
F. A specific description of the location to be searched, including photographs of the 

location, if reasonably available. 
 

G. A sufficient description of the items to be seized. 
 

H. Full disclosure of any known exculpatory information relevant to the warrant 
application (refer to the Brady Information Policy). 
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VII. HIGH-RISK WARRANT SERVICE 
 
The Chief of Law Enforcement or the authorized designee shall coordinate the service of 
warrants that are categorized as high risk and shall have sole authority in determining 
the manner in which the warrant will be served, including the number of special agents 
deployed. The member responsible for directing the service should ensure the following 
as applicable: 
 

A. When practicable and when doing so does not cause unreasonable risk, video or 
photographic documentation is made of the condition of the location prior to 
execution of a search warrant. The images should include the surrounding area 
and persons present. 

 
B. The warrant service is audio- and video-recorded when practicable and 

reasonable to do so (Section 934.03(2)(c), Fla. Stat.). 
 

C. Evidence is handled and collected only by those members who are designated to 
do so. All other members involved in the service of the warrant should alert one 
of the designated members to the presence of potential evidence and not to 
touch or disturb the items. 

 
a. Special Agents should search only in those areas authorized by the 

warrant. If questions arise, a determination should be made by the 
supervisor or Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 

D. Reasonable efforts are made during the search to maintain or restore the 
condition of the location. 

 
E. Persons who are detained as part of the warrant service are handled 

appropriately under the circumstances. 
 

F. Reasonable care provisions are made for children and dependent adults. 
 

G. A list is made of all items seized and a copy provided to the person in charge of 
the premises if present or otherwise left in a conspicuous place. 

 
H. A copy of the search warrant is left at the location. 

 
I. The condition of the property is documented with video recording or photographs 

after the search. 
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VIII. DETENTIONS DURING WARRANT SERVICE 
 
Special Agents must be sensitive to the safety risks of all persons involved with the 
service of a warrant. Depending on circumstances and facts present, it may be 
appropriate to control movements of any or all persons present at a warrant service, 
including those who may not be the subject of a warrant or suspected in the case. 
However, special agents must be mindful that only reasonable force may be used and 
weapons should be displayed no longer than the special agent reasonably believes is 
necessary (see the Use of Force Policy). 

 
As soon as it can be determined that an individual is not subject to the scope of a 
warrant and that no further reasonable suspicion or safety concerns exist to justify 
further detention, the person should be promptly released. 

 
Special Agents should, when and to the extent reasonable, accommodate the privacy 
and personal needs of people who have been detained. 

 
IX. ACTIONS AFTER WARRANT SERVICES 

 
The supervisor shall ensure that all affidavits, warrants, receipts and returns, regardless 
of any associated cases, are filed with the issuing judge or magistrate as soon as 
reasonably possible, but in any event no later than any date specified on the warrant.  
 

X. OUTSIDE AGENCIES AND CROSS-JURISDICTIONAL WARRANTS OUTSIDE 
 
The Chief of Law Enforcement will ensure that cooperative efforts with other agencies in 
the service of warrants conform to existing mutual aid agreements or other 
memorandums of understanding and will work cooperatively to mitigate risks including, 
but not limited to: 
 
• Identity of team members. 
• Roles and responsibilities. 
• Familiarity with equipment. 
• Rules of engagement. 
• Asset forfeiture procedures. 

 
Any outside agency requesting assistance in the service of a warrant within this 
jurisdiction should be referred to the Chief of Law Enforcement. The Chief of Law 
Enforcement should review and confirm the warrant, including the warrant location, and 
should discuss the service with the appropriate supervisor from the other agency. The 
Chief of Law Enforcement should ensure that members of the Division of Gaming 
Enforcement are utilized appropriately. Any concerns regarding the requested use of 
Division of Gaming Enforcement members should be brought to the attention of the 
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Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee. The actual service of the 
warrant will remain the responsibility of the agency requesting assistance. 
 
If the Chief of Law Enforcement is unavailable, the Special Agent Supervisor should 
assume this role. 
Special Agents will remain subject to the policies of the Division of Gaming Enforcement 
when assisting outside agencies or serving a warrant outside Division of Gaming 
Enforcement jurisdiction. 
 

XI. MEDIA ACCESS 
 
No advance information regarding warrant service operations shall be released without 
the approval of the Director of Gaming Enforcement. Any media inquiries or press release 
after the fact shall be handled in accordance with the Media Relations Policy. 
 
 

XII. TRAINING 
 
The Training Coordinator should ensure special agents receive periodic training on this 
policy and associated topics, such as legal issues, warrant preparation, warrant service 
and reporting requirements. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This policy adopted by the Commission on: 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Conflict of Interest POLICY NUMBER 

02.30.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.21 - 12.03 or most recent version 
Section 16.711, F.S. 
Section 16.712, F.S. 

Section 112.3135, F.S. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
Members of the Division of Gaming Enforcement are expected to conduct themselves 
with the utmost professional integrity and objectivity. Members will guard against actual 
or perceived conflicts of interest in order to ensure the fair and equitable treatment of 
division members and the public, thereby maintaining the trust of the public and division 
members. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to assist members in recognizing and avoiding potential 
conflicts of interest, thereby ensuring effective and ethical operating practices on the part 
of the Division of Gaming Enforcement. 
 

III. DEFINITIONS 
 
Definitions related to this policy include: 
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A. Conflict of interest- Any actual, perceived, or potential conflict in which it 
reasonably appears that a member’s action, inaction, or decisions are or may be 
influenced by a personal or business relationship. 
 

IV. PROHIBITIONS 
 
The Division prohibits the following types of personal or business relationships among 
members: 
 

A. Members are prohibited from directly supervising, occupying a position in the line 
of supervision, or being directly supervised by any other member who is a 
relative or with whom they are involved in a personal or business relationship. 
 

1. If circumstances require that such a supervisor/subordinate relationship 
exist temporarily, the supervisor shall make every reasonable effort to 
defer matters pertaining to the involved member to an uninvolved 
supervisor. 
 

2. When personnel and circumstances permit, the Division will attempt to 
make every reasonable effort to avoid placing members in such 
supervisor/ subordinate situations. The Division, however, reserves the 
right to transfer or reassign any member to another position within the 
same classification in order to avoid conflicts with any provision of this 
policy. 
 

B. Members are prohibited from participating in, contributing to or recommending 
promotions, assignments, performance evaluations, transfers or other personnel 
decisions affecting a member who is a relative or with whom they are involved in 
a personal or business relationship. 
 

C. Whenever possible, field training officers (FTOs) and other trainers will not be 
assigned to train relatives. Division FTOs and other trainers are prohibited from 
entering into or maintaining personal or business relationships with any member 
they are assigned to train until such time as the training has been successfully 
completed and the person is off probation. 

 
V. MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
Members shall avoid situations that create a conflict of interest. Members should take 
reasonable steps to address a perception of a conflict of interest when such a perception 
is reasonably foreseeable and avoidable (e.g., deferring a decision to an uninvolved 
member). 
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Whenever any member is placed in circumstances that would require him/her to take 
enforcement action or to provide official information or services to any relative or 
individual with whom the member is involved in a personal or business relationship, that 
member shall promptly notify his/ her uninvolved, immediate supervisor. 
 
In the event that no uninvolved supervisor is immediately available, the member shall 
promptly notify the dispatcher to have another uninvolved member either relieve the 
involved member or, minimally, remain present to witness the action. 
 

VI. SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Upon being notified of or otherwise becoming aware of any circumstance that could 
result in or constitute an actual or potential violation of this policy, a supervisor shall take 
all reasonable steps to promptly mitigate or avoid such violations whenever possible. 
Supervisors shall also promptly notify the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the 
authorized designee of such actual or potential violations through the chain of command. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This policy adopted by the Commission on: 
 

 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Rapid Response and Deployment POLICY NUMBER 

02.36.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.21 – 10.19M (A), (B) or most recent version 
Section 943.6873, F.S. 

6A-1.0018, F.A.C. 
Section 16.711, F.S. 
Section 16.712, F.S. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement will endeavor to plan for rapid response to crisis 
situations and to coordinate response planning with other emergency services as well as 
with those who are responsible for operating sites that may be the target of a critical 
incident (Section 943.6873 F.S.). 
 
Nothing in this policy shall preclude the use of reasonable force, deadly or otherwise, by 
members of the Division in protecting themselves or others from death or serious injury. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
Violence that is committed in schools, workplaces, and other locations by individuals or a 
group of individuals who are determined to target and kill persons and to create mass 
casualties presents a difficult situation for law enforcement. The purpose of this policy is 
to identify guidelines and factors that will assist special agents in situations that call for 
rapid response and deployment. 
This policy satisfies the requirement for an active assailant response policy as required 
by Florida law (Section 943.6873, F.S.). 
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III. CONSIDERATIONS 

 
When dealing with a crisis situation, members should: 

 
A. Assess the immediate situation and take reasonable steps to maintain operative 

control of the incident. 
 

B. Obtain, explore, and analyze sources of intelligence and known information 
regarding the circumstances, location, and suspect involved in the incident. 

 
C. Attempt to attain a tactical advantage over the suspect by reducing, preventing, 

or eliminating any known or perceived threat. 
 

D. Attempt, if feasible and based upon the suspect’s actions and danger to others, a 
negotiated surrender of the suspect and release of the hostages. 

 
IV. FIRST RESPONSE 

 
If there is a reasonable belief that acts or threats by a suspect are placing lives in imminent 
danger, first responding special agents should consider reasonable options to reduce, 
prevent, or eliminate the threat. Special Agents must decide, often under a multitude of 
difficult and rapidly evolving circumstances, whether to advance on the suspect, take other 
actions to deal with the threat or wait for additional resources. 
 
If a suspect is actively engaged in the infliction of serious bodily harm or other life-
threatening activity toward others, special agents should take immediate action, if 
reasonably practicable, while requesting additional assistance. 
 
Special Agents should remain aware of the possibility that an incident may be part of a 
coordinated multi-location attack that may require some capacity to respond to incidents 
at other locations. 
 
When deciding on a course of action, special agents should consider: 
 

A. Whether to advance on or engage a suspect who is still a possible or perceived 
threat to others. Any advancement or engagement should be based on 
information known or received at the time. 

 
B. Whether to wait for additional resources or personnel. This does not preclude an 

individual special agent from taking immediate action. 
 

C. Whether individuals who are under imminent threat can be moved or evacuated 
with reasonable safety. 
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D. Whether the suspect can be contained or denied access to victims. 
 
E. Whether the special agents have the ability to effectively communicate with other 

personnel or resources. 
 

F. Whether planned tactics can be effectively deployed. 
 

G. The availability of rifles, shotguns, shields, breaching tools, control devices, and 
any other appropriate tools, and whether the deployment of these tools will 
provide a tactical advantage. 
 

In the case of a barricaded or trapped suspect, with no hostages and no immediate 
threat to others, special agents should consider covering escape routes and evacuating 
persons as appropriate, while summoning and waiting for additional assistance (e.g., 
special tactics and/or hostage negotiation team response). 
 

V. PLANNING 
 

The Chief of Law Enforcement should coordinate critical incident planning. Planning 
efforts should consider: 
 

A. Identification of likely critical incident target sites, such as schools, shopping 
centers, entertainment venues, and sporting event venues. 
 

B. Availability of building plans and venue schematics of likely critical incident target 
sites.  

 
C. Communications interoperability with other law enforcement and emergency 

service agencies. 
 

D. Training opportunities in critical incident target sites, including joint training with 
site occupants. 

 
1. Training should include participation in school district active assailant 

emergency drills as required by 6A-1.0018, F.A.C. when available. 
 

2. Training should include response to active assailants in establishments 
regulated by the Commission. 

 
E. Evacuation routes in critical incident target sites. 

 
F. Patrol first-response training. 
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G. Response coordination and resources of emergency medical and fire services. 

 
H. Equipment needs. 

 
I. Mutual aid agreements with other agencies. 

 
J. Coordination with private security providers in critical incident target sites. 

 
VI. TRAINING 

 
The Training Coordinator should include rapid response to critical incidents in the 
training plan.  
 
This training should address: 

 
A. Orientation to likely critical incident target sites, such as schools, shopping 

centers, entertainment venues and sporting event venues. 
 
B. Communications interoperability with other law enforcement and emergency 

service agencies. 
 

C. Patrol first-response training, including patrol rifle, shotgun, breaching tool and 
control device training. 

 
D. First aid, including gunshot trauma. 

 
E. Reality-based scenario training (e.g., active shooter, disgruntled violent worker). 

 
1. Additional Requirements 

 
All special agents shall at minimum receive annual training on this policy and 
shall receive training on any policy updates within 180 days of revision (Section 
943.6872, F.S.).  

 
 

 
This policy adopted by the Commission on: 

 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Outside Agency Assistance POLICY NUMBER 

02.40.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

Section 16.711, Fla. Stat. 
Section 16.712, Fla. Stat. 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to promptly respond to requests for 
assistance by other law enforcement agencies, subject to available resources and 
consistent with the applicable laws and policies of this division. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance to members when requesting or 
responding to a request for mutual aid or when assisting another law enforcement agency. 
 

III. ASSISTING OUTSIDE AGENCIES 
 

Generally, requests for any type of assistance from another agency should be routed to 
the Director of Gaming Enforcement for approval. In some instances, a collective 
bargaining agreement or other established protocol may exist that eliminates the need 
for approval of individual requests. 
 
When another law enforcement agency requests assistance from the Division, the 
Special Agent Supervisor may authorize, following approval from the Director of Gaming 
Enforcement or Chief of Law Enforcement, an appropriate number of personnel to 
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assist. Members are reminded that their actions when rendering assistance must 
conform with applicable laws and be consistent with the policies of this division. 
 
Special Agents may respond to a request for emergency assistance; however, they shall 
notify a supervisor of their activity as soon as practicable. 
 

1. Initiated Activity 
Any on-duty special agent who engages in law enforcement activities of any type 
that are not part of a mutual aid request shall notify his/her Special Agent 
Supervisor and the Regional Communications Center as soon as practicable. The 
Special Agent Supervisor will then notify the Chief of Law Enforcement and the 
Director of Gaming Enforcement. This requirement does not apply to special 
enforcement details or multi-agency units that regularly work in multiple 
jurisdictions. 
 

IV. REQUESTING OUTSIDE ASSISTANCE 
 
If assistance is needed from another agency, the member requesting assistance should, 
if practicable, first notify a supervisor. The handling member or supervisor should direct 
assisting personnel to where they are needed and to whom they should report when they 
arrive. 
 
The requesting member shall arrange for appropriate radio communication capabilities, if 
necessary and available, so that communication can be coordinated between assisting 
personnel. 
 

V. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
 
Incidents of outside assistance or law enforcement activities that are not documented in a 
crime report shall be documented in a general case report or as directed by the Special 
Agent Supervisor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This policy adopted by the Commission on: 
 
 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Performance History Audits POLICY NUMBER 

02.44.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

Section 16.711, Fla. Stat. 
CFA 5.21 - 12.01, 12.03 or most recent version 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement collects data to assist supervisors in evaluating the 
performance of their employees. While it is understood that the statistical compilation of 
data may be helpful to supervisors, the Division recognizes that it cannot account for and 
must carefully balance such data with the many variables in law enforcement, such as: 

• Work ethic. 
 

• Physical abilities (ability to perform the job-related physical tasks). 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy provides guidance for the use of performance history audits. Performance 
history audits can help identify commendable performance as well as provide early 
recognition of training needs and other potential issues. This policy addresses the 
responsibilities, performance indicators, and components of the audit and handling of 
collected data. 
 

III. COMPONENTS OF PERFORMANCE HISTORY AUDIT 
 
Performance history audits should include the following components: 
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• Performance indicators 
 

• Data analysis 
 

• Employee review 
 

• Follow-up monitoring 
 

1. Performance Indicators 
 
Performance indicators represent the categories of employee performance 
activity that the Director of Gaming Enforcement has determined may be relevant 
data for the generation and analysis of performance history audits. These 
indicators may include, but are not limited to, the frequency and/or number of: 
 

A. Use of force incidents. 
 

B. Personnel complaints, including the findings. 
 

C. Commendations, compliments, and awards from the Division and the 
public.  

 
D. Claims and civil suits related to the employee's actions or alleged actions. 

 
E. Personnel investigations. 

 
F. State Attorney or Statewide Prosecutor case rejections and the reasons. 

 
G. Intentional or accidental firearm discharges (regardless of injury). 

 
H. Vehicle crashes. 

 
I. Missed court appearances. 

 
J. Documented counseling. 

 
2. Data Analysis 

 
The Chief of Law Enforcement will review each performance history audit report 
and determine whether it should be provided to the special agent's immediate 
supervisor for further consideration. 
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3. Employee Review 
 
Upon receipt of a performance history audit report, the supervisor will carefully 
review the report with the special agent to assess any potential trends or other 
issues that may warrant informal counseling, additional training or a 
recommendation for other action, including discipline. The special agent shall 
date and sign the report and should be provided with a copy of the report upon 
request. 
 

4. Follow-Up Monitoring 
 
If a supervisor determines that a special agent's performance warrants action 
beyond informal counseling, the supervisor shall advise the Chief of Law 
Enforcement of such recommendation. If the Chief of Law Enforcement concurs 
with the recommendation of the supervisor, he/she shall take steps to initiate the 
appropriate action. 
 
Depending upon the results of each performance history audit, a determination 
should be made by the Chief of Law Enforcement, after discussion with the special 
agent's immediate supervisor, about the need, type and duration of any follow-up. 
Performance indicators and data analysis will generally provide the basis upon 
which such decisions should be made. 
 
If discipline or other adverse action is initiated against a special agent as a result 
of a performance history audit, the special agent shall be entitled to all rights and 
processes set forth in the Personnel Complaints Policy. 
 

IV. CONFIDENTIALITY OF DATA 
 
Information, data and copies of material compiled to develop performance history audit 
reports shall be considered confidential as part of the employee’s personnel file and will 
not be subject to discovery or release except as provided by law. Access to performance 
history audit reports will be governed under the same process as access to a special 
agent’s personnel file, as outlined in the Personnel Records Policy. 
 
Access to the underlying data will be governed by the process for access to the original 
records (such as police reports). 
 

V. RETENTION 
 

Performance history audit reports and associated records shall be retained in accordance 
with the established records retention schedule. 
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This policy adopted by the Commission on: 
 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Eyewitness Identification POLICY NUMBER 

02.48.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.21 - 15.13M (A), (B), (C), (D), (E), (F), (G), 
(H), (I), 15.14M (A), (B), (C), (D) (E), (F) or most 

recent version 
Section 16.711, Fla. Stat. 
Section 16.712, Fla. Stat. 
Section 92.70, Fla. Stat. 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement will strive to use eyewitness identification 
techniques, when appropriate, to enhance the investigative process and will emphasize 
identifying persons responsible for crime and exonerating the innocent. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy sets forth guidelines to be used when members of this division employ 
eyewitness identification techniques. 
 

III. DEFINITIONS 
 
Definitions related to this policy include: 
 

A. Eyewitness identification process - Any field identification, live lineup or 
photographic identification. 
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B. Field identification - A live presentation of a single individual to a witness 
following the commission of a criminal offense for the purpose of identifying or 
eliminating the person as the suspect. 
 

C. Live lineup - A live presentation of individuals to a witness for the purpose of 
identifying or eliminating an individual as the suspect. 

 
D. Photographic lineup - Presentation of photographs to a witness for the purpose 

of identifying or eliminating an individual as the suspect. 
 

IV. INTERPRETIVE SERVICES 
 
Members should make a reasonable effort to arrange for an interpreter before 
proceeding with eyewitness identification if communication with a witness is impeded 
due to language or hearing barriers. 
 
Before the interpreter is permitted to discuss any matter with the witness, the 
investigating member should explain the identification process to the interpreter. Once it 
is determined that the interpreter comprehends the process and can explain it to the 
witness, the eyewitness identification may proceed as provided for within this policy. 
 

V. EYEWITNESS IDENTIFICATION PROCESS AND FORM 
The Chief of Law Enforcement or designee shall be responsible for the development and 
maintenance of an eyewitness identification process for use by members when they are 
conducting eyewitness identifications.  
The process shall include appropriate forms or reports that provide (Section 92.70, Fla. 
Stat.): 
 

A. The date, time, and location of the eyewitness identification procedure. 
 

B. The name and identifying information of the witness. 
 

C. The name of the person administering the identification procedure. 
 

D. If applicable, the names of all individuals present during the identification 
procedure. 

 
E. An instruction to the witness that it is as important to exclude innocent persons 

as it is to identify a perpetrator. 
 

F. An instruction to the witness that the perpetrator may or may not be among those 
presented and that the witness is not obligated to make an identification. 
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G. If the identification process is a photographic or live lineup, an instruction to the 
witness that the perpetrator may not appear exactly as they did on the date of the 
incident. 

 
H. An instruction to the witness that the investigation will continue regardless of 

whether an identification is made by the witness. 
 

I. A signature line where the witness acknowledges that they understand the 
identification procedures and instructions. 

 
1. If an eyewitness refuses to sign the form, the administrator should 

document the refusal and the administrator should sign indicating a 
refusal. 

 
J. A statement from the witness in the witness's own words describing how certain 

they are of the identification or non-identification. This statement should be taken 
at the time of the identification procedure. 

 
K. An instruction to the witness that the administrator does not know the suspect's 

identity, if applicable. 
 

L. Any additional requirements provided for in Section 92.70, Fla. Stat. 
 

The process and related forms should be reviewed at least annually and modified when 
necessary. 
 

VI. EYEWITNESS IDENTIFICATION 
 
Members are required not to influence a witness in any way as to whether any subject or 
photo presented in a lineup is in any way connected to the case. Members should avoid 
mentioning that: 
 

• The individual was apprehended near the crime scene. 
 

• The evidence points to the individual as the suspect. 
 

• Other witnesses have identified or failed to identify the individual as the suspect. 
 

In order to avoid undue influence, witnesses should view suspects or a lineup 
individually and outside the presence of other witnesses. Witnesses should be instructed 
to avoid discussing details of the incident or of the identification process with other 
witnesses. 
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Apart from the rare instance in which video recording is impossible, the eyewitness 
identification procedure should be audio and/or video recorded and the recording should 
be retained according to current evidence procedures.  
 

VII. PHOTOGRAPHIC LINEUP AND LIVE LINEUP CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The member presenting the lineup shall not be involved in the investigation of the case 
or know the identity of the suspect. 
 
In no case should the member presenting a lineup (i.e., independent administrator) to a 
witness know which photograph or person in the lineup is being viewed by the witness 
(Section 92.70, Fla. Stat.). Techniques to achieve this include randomly numbering 
photographs, shuffling folders, or using a computer program to order the persons in the 
lineup. 
Individuals in the lineup should reasonably match the description of the perpetrator 
provided by the witness and should bear similar characteristics to avoid causing any 
person to stand out unreasonably. In cases involving multiple suspects, a separate 
lineup should be conducted for each suspect. The suspects should not be placed in a 
different order within each lineup. 
 
The member presenting the lineup should do so sequentially (i.e., show the witness one 
person at a time) and not simultaneously. The witness should view all persons in the 
lineup. 
 
A live lineup should only be used before criminal proceedings have been initiated 
against the suspect. If there is any question as to whether any criminal proceedings 
have begun, the investigating member should contact the appropriate prosecuting 
attorney before proceeding.  
 

VIII. FIELD IDENTIFICATION CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Field identifications, also known as field elimination show-ups or one-on-one 
identifications, should be avoided whenever possible. A field elimination show-up or one-
on-one identification should not be used when independent probable cause exists to 
arrest a suspect. In such cases, a live or photo lineup is the preferred course of action if 
eyewitness identification is contemplated.  
 
When initiating a field identification, the member shall observe the following guidelines: 
 

A. Obtain a complete description of the suspect from the witness. 
 

B. Assess whether a witness should be included in a field identification process by 
considering: 
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1. The length of time the witness observed the suspect. 

 
2. The distance between the witness and the suspect. 

 
3. Whether the witness could view the suspect's face. 

 
4. The quality of the lighting when the suspect was observed by the witness. 

 
5. Whether there were distracting noises or activity during the observation. 

 
6. Any other circumstances affecting the witness's opportunity to observe the 

suspect. 
 

7. The length of time that has elapsed since the witness observed the suspect 
 

C. If safe and practicable, the person who is the subject of the show-up should not 
be handcuffed or in a patrol vehicle. 
 

D. When feasible, members should bring the witness to the location of the subject of 
the show-up, rather than bring the subject of the show-up to the witness. 

 
E. The person who is the subject of the show-up should not be shown to the same 

witness more than once. 
 

F. In cases involving multiple suspects, witnesses should only be permitted to view 
the subjects of the show-up one at a time. 

 
G. The person who is the subject of the show-up should not be required to put on 

clothing worn by the suspect, to speak words uttered by the suspect, or to 
perform other actions mimicking those of the suspect. 

 
H. If a witness positively identifies a subject of a show-up as the suspect, members 

should not conduct any further field identifications with other witnesses for that 
suspect. In such instances members should document the contact information for 
any additional witnesses for follow-up, if necessary. 

 
IX. DOCUMENTATION 

 
A thorough description of the eyewitness process and the result of any eyewitness 
identification shall be documented in the case report. 
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If a photographic lineup is utilized, a copy of the photographic lineup presented to the 
witness shall be included in the case report. In addition, the order in which the 
photographs were presented to the witness shall be documented in the case report. 
 

X. TRAINING 
 
Special Agents authorized to conduct lineups shall receive initial training on this policy 
and related topics during field training, and then periodically through in-service training. 
The Training Coordinator shall retain documentation of this training. 
 

XI. FILING OF POLICY 
 

The Chief of Law Enforcement should ensure that a current copy of this policy is filed 
with the Statewide Prosecutor's Office. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This policy adopted by the Commission on: 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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